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Foreword 

 

The not-for-profit sector plays a vital role in Australia and the effects of the pandemic have shown the 

importance of the services not-for-profit entities continue to deliver. Yet, the pandemic has also placed 

a significant strain on not-for-profit entities' existing and future resources that are crucial for their 

continued operations. Financial statements play an important role in helping not-for-profit entities 

manage their limited resources, especially during these challenging times, in addition to being a 

communication and accountability discharge tool to satisfy users’ needs. 

However, many stakeholders consider the Australian reporting requirements overly complex to apply 

by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities and have called for a change to the not-for-profit 

financial reporting framework.  

Considering the stakeholder feedback, its research findings and changes to the reporting environment, 

the Board decided it would be appropriate to review the differential reporting framework. This 

Discussion Paper is the first step in revising the not-for-profit financial reporting framework. It allows 

not-for-profit private sector entities and their stakeholders to contribute to developing a further 

differential reporting tier for use by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities.  

The Discussion Paper consists of two parts:  

• Part A: Extending the differential reporting framework consists of Sections 1 to 3 discussing the 

scope and project objectives, the main concerns with the existing reporting requirements and the 

Board's rationale for developing a third reporting tier for not-for-profit private sector entities, and 

• Part B: Proposed Tier 3 reporting requirements consists of Sections 4 to 6 discussing the features 

of the Tier 3 Standard and which topics might and might not be covered by the Tier 3 Standard 

and what the Tier 3 reporting requirements will look like.  

The Board is seeking stakeholder views on whether it has struck the right balance between simplifying 

the accounting requirements for smaller not-for-profit private sector entities and ensuring their financial 

statements remain useful. The Discussion Paper also proposes to remove the ability of not-for-profit 

entities to prepare special purpose financial statements as part of its revision of the not-for-profit 

financial reporting framework.  

Feedback from this Discussion Paper will help shape the financial reporting of smaller not-for-profit 

private sector entities. We encourage all not-for-profit stakeholders to get involved. You can do this by 

providing direct feedback to the AASB, by making a written submission, completing the online survey 

or participate in the AASB's Outreach on the Not-for-Profit Financial Reporting Framework.  
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Summary and invitation to comment 

Why is the Board publishing this Discussion Paper?  

The Board is seeking feedback on its preliminary views about an additional (third) reporting tier for use 

by not-for-profit private sector entities and the key features of that further reporting tier. General 

purpose financial statements that comply with Tier 3: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified 

Accounting (Not-for-profit Private Sector Entities) will be based on reporting requirements that are 

simpler to understand and apply compared to existing accounting requirements.  

The Board is developing Tier 3 reporting requirements because it intends to remove the capacity for 

not-for-profit entities to prepare special purpose financial statements under Australian Accounting 

Standards. Many, but not all, entities currently preparing special purpose financial statements may 

determine that it is appropriate to prepare Tier-3-compliant general purpose financial statements to 

satisfy their reporting obligations in the future. More information is provided in Appendix E. 

Who will be affected if the preliminary views in this Discussion Paper are 
implemented?  

The proposals, if developed consistent with the preliminary views, are expected to impact not-for-profit 

private sector entities that currently: 

(a) prepare special purpose financial statements to satisfy a direction to prepare financial 

statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards;  

(b) comply with a regulatory direction, gather financial information or prepare various financial 

statements in accordance with the recognition and measurement criteria specified by 

Australian Accounting Standards; or 

(c) prepare Tier 1 or Tier 2 general purpose financial statements but would qualify for simpler 

accounting.  

More information is provided in Appendix E. 

How did the Board reach its preliminary views?  

The flowchart below outlines the framework through which the Board reached its preliminary views on 

the form and key accounting aspects of a further tier of general purpose financial reporting for not-for-

profit private sector entities. In forming its preliminary views, the Board considered how it could contain 

or reduce preparer compliance costs while making financial statements more useful for users. To do 

so, the Board considered how it might depart from existing Australian Accounting Standards through 

different expression (language), recognition and measurement requirements, and approaches to 

presentation and disclosure.  
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Illustration of how the Discussion Paper was developed 

 

More information on how the Board developed its proposals is provided in Appendix E.  

What does this Discussion Paper include?  

This Discussion Paper discusses:  

(a) the Board’s preliminary views for the form and accounting requirements of a proposed revised 

differential reporting framework for not-for-profit private sector entities; and  

(b) the Board’s proposal to extend the application of Australian accounting standards to not-for-

profit private sector entities that are currently not a ‘reporting entity’ as defined by SAC 1 

Definition of the Reporting Entity.  

What are the next steps?  

The views expressed in this Discussion Paper are preliminary and may change. The Board will 

consider the comments received in response to this Discussion Paper before deciding whether to 

develop an Exposure Draft containing proposals to implement any or all of its preliminary views.  

We need your feedback  

Comments are invited on any of the preliminary views in this Discussion Paper by 31 March 2023. 

Feedback plays an important role in the decisions that the AASB will make in regard to a project. The 

AASB would prefer that respondents express a clear overall opinion on whether the preliminary views, 

as a whole, are supported and that this opinion be supplemented by detailed comments on the major 

issues. The AASB regards supportive and non-supportive comments as essential to a balanced 

review of the issues and will consider all feedback, whether it addresses some or all questions, 

additional issues or only one issue (whether an issue is specifically identified below or another issue). 

The Board would welcome feedback, including by:  

(a) making a formal submission; 

(b) completing a survey: https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/AASBTIER3NFP; or 

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/AASBTIER3NFP
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(c) contacting the AASB to discuss the preliminary views.  

Questions for respondents  

The AASB seeks to obtain the views of as many stakeholders as possible to gain a thorough 

appreciation of any concerns with the preliminary views presented in this Discussion Paper before 

developing an Exposure Draft.  

Questions for respondents are contained at the end of each section. In responding to a question, 

please indicate the extent to which you agree or otherwise with the preliminary view. The AASB 

encourages the response to be supplemented by comments that explain why its preliminary views are 

supported or otherwise.   
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Key terms  

The following terms are used in this Discussion Paper: 

Term Explanation  

General purpose 

financial statements 

[GPFS]  

General purpose financial statements are those intended to meet the 

needs of users who are not in a position to require an entity to prepare 

reports tailored to their particular information needs. GPFS comply with 

the recognition, measurement, classification, presentation and disclosure 

requirements of all of the Australian Accounting Standards applying to the 

entity. 

GPFS are financial statements prepared under: 

(a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards 

(b) Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures 

or 

(c) Tier 3: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Accounting 

(Not-for-profit Private Sector Entities) – if the Board’s proposals 

are finalised.  

Special purpose 

financial statements 

[SPFS]  

Special purpose financial statements are those other than general 

purpose financial statements.  

Tier 1 Australian 

Accounting Standards 

Tier 1 incorporates International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 

Standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and include requirements that are specific to Australian entities. 

These include recognition, measurement or disclosure modifications 

specific to not-for-profit entities. 

Tier 2 Australian 

Accounting Standards 

– Simplified 

Disclosures  

Tier 2 comprises: 

(a) the recognition and measurement requirements of Tier 1 

(including consolidation and the equity method of accounting)  

(b) substantially reduced disclosure requirements (set out in AASB 

1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified 

Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities).  

Except for the presentation of a third statement of financial position under 

Tier 1 and the option of not presenting a statement of changes in equity, 

the presentation requirements under Tier 1 and Tier 2 are the same.  

Tier 3 accounting 

requirements 

Refers to the proposed suite of accounting requirements, tentatively to be 

known as Tier 3: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Accounting 

(Not-for-profit Private Sector Entities)  

Tier 3 entity  Refers to an entity preparing financial statements that comply with the 

proposed Tier 3: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Accounting 

(Not-for-profit Private Sector Entities) 

Tier 3 general purpose 

financial statements/ 

Tier 3 financial 

statements 

Refers to financial statements that comply with the proposed Tier 3: 

Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Accounting (Not-for-profit 

Private Sector Entities)  
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PART A: EXTENDING THE DIFFERENTIAL REPORTING 
FRAMEWORK 

Section 1: Introduction  

 

Background 

1.1 Figure 1.1 sets out the timeline of the Board’s work to date on the Australian reporting 

framework.  

 

Figure 1.1: Project origins 

 
More information on the Board's work to date on the Australian reporting framework is provided in 

Appendix E. 
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Objective and scope of the project  

1.2 Figure 1.2 describes the original project objective and the scope of this project:  

 Figure 1.2: Original project objective and the scope of this project  

More information regarding the original project objective and scope of this project is provided in 
Appendix E. 

Establishing reporting thresholds  

1.3 From its preliminary outreach, the Board appreciates stakeholder feedback supporting a single 

set of objective reporting thresholds. However, the Board observed that:  

(a) it only has the authority to develop thresholds to constrain or require the use of a ‘tier’ 

of general purpose financial statements by certain entities by limiting the application of 

specified Australian Accounting Standards. While it could contribute or lead a project, 

the Board’s authority does not extend to establishing thresholds that dictate whether 

an entity must prepare financial statements that comply with Australian Accounting 

Standards. Consequently, any effort by the Board alone (to standardise the use of 

various accounting requirements) would not achieve the desired outcome; and 

(b) while its preliminary outreach suggested some support for entity size represented by 

revenue/income as a reporting threshold determinant, there was no clear indication 

that such a quantitative threshold would be workable when considering entities across 

Australia. There are also various other challenges in identifying appropriate qualitative 

or quantitative thresholds, including the appropriateness of using an existing reporting 

threshold. For example, the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission 

(ACNC) specified size criteria may not be an appropriate threshold determinant given 

the population of not-for-profit private sector entities that are not ACNC-registered 

charities. 

1.4 Ultimately, the Board views the establishment of appropriate reporting thresholds and any 

dictate of a specific form of general purpose financial statements to be more appropriately 

within the remit of the relevant legislation or regulatory authority. This is, consistent with the 

regulatory authority having charge of whether the lodged financial statements must be 

prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and whether they are subject to 

review or audit. Consequently, the Board decided to scope such effort out of this project. 

1.5 Nevertheless, the Board notes that consistency in reporting by ‘similar’ entities is desirable. 

The Board is also conscious that some users may challenge a ‘true and fair view’ assertion 

made by an entity of its results and financial position, where the entity prepares financial 

statements that comply with a reporting tier that the stakeholder regards as insufficient. 

Therefore, the Board has not ruled out developing guidance to assist entities in identifying the 

suitability of preparing financial statements in compliance with the proposed Tier 3 reporting 

requirements. The Board welcomes suggestions stakeholders may have to help it develop 
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indicators or “soft” boundaries that could be applied to determine when Tier 3 general purpose 

financial statements would, or would not, meet the needs of the users of those financial 

statements. More information is provided in Appendix E. 

1.6 If the Board’s views are implemented, a not-for-profit private sector entity would have regard to 

relevant legislation under which it operates, its constituting document or another document 

that might help direct its reporting obligations. Where no such direction exists, the entity can 

prepare its choice of general purpose financial statements. For example, under its proposals, 

an economically significant not-for-profit private sector entity would not be prevented by the 

Australian Accounting Standards from preparing and lodging Tier 3 general purpose financial 

statements. 

1.7 The Board is aware that its planned scope puts the onus on the relevant regulatory body to 

specify the type of general purpose financial statements to be prepared, where the regulatory 

body considers such specification necessary. Any change to legislation or regulations to effect 

such specification – if considered necessary – would take time. The Board intends to work 

collaboratively with key legislative authorities and regulatory bodies to enable the orderly 

application of the proposals, where invited to do so, and to the extent it is able. In addition, the 

Board is aware that some legislation requires compliance with the accounting standards’ 

recognition and measurement requirements. Consequently, introducing a further tier of 

requirements may provide flexibility for some entities that would need to be addressed by the 

applicable legislation and affected regulatory bodies. 

1.8 Before finalising this Discussion Paper, the Board consulted with various regulatory bodies as 

to whether, according to their expectations, the relevant legislation would be likely to be 

amended to articulate the type of general purpose financial statements required in response to 

the Board’s intention not to do so. The Board expects that relevant legislative authorities and 

regulatory bodies will need to consider the AASB’s proposals more fully before determining 

whether future action is necessary. More information is provided in Appendix E. 

Service performance information  

1.9 As part of determining the scope of its current project, the Board observed the significance of 

information specifying progress of a not-for-profit entity in working towards its broader aims 

and objectives to understand how efficiently and effectively management has discharged its 

responsibilities to use the entity’s economic resources (‘service performance reporting’). The 

Board noted that such information provides context for the entity's financial performance and 

helps users assess management’s stewardship of its economic resources.  

1.10 The Board does not intend to develop proposals for reporting service performance information 

as part of this project (see also paragraph 1.12). The Board considers such information highly 

relevant to users of a not-for-profit entity’s financial statements but is conscious that 

developing proposals will likely delay the finalisation of any Tier 3 reporting requirements. The 

Board also observed that reporting service performance information is not a matter specific 

only to Tier 3 entities. A separate project on service performance reporting is not expected to 

commence until the second half of 2023. 

1.11 In forming its view, the Board considered matters including:  

(a) the complexity of developing proposals on service performance information, noting 

data collection, interpretation, assurance and other concerns raised by stakeholders in 

its preliminary consultations on this project; 

(b) the urgency for developing proposals, noting that entities may already be required to 

provide information about their service performance; 

(c) whether the sufficiency of Tier 3 general purpose financial statements is intrinsically 

dependent on whether there is accompanying service performance information; and 
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(d) its agenda priorities, including this project’s focus on smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities and the relevance of service performance information to a broader set 

of entities. 

More information is provided in Appendix E. 

Other information integral to financial reporting in the not-for-profit sector1 

1.12 Consistent with its thinking on service performance information, the Board has reached a view 

that it will not develop proposals on other non-IFRS information that might provide useful 

information to users of not-for-profit general purpose financial statements as part of a 

differential reporting framework project. These include reporting information in the following 

areas: remuneration, fundraising, and volunteer services. The Board also does not intend to 

consider extending disclosures about an entity’s related parties as part of this project, except 

in the context of its proposed disclosure approach to Tier 3 general purpose financial 

statements.  

1.13 Based on feedback received on its recent agenda consultation, the Board does not plan to 

undertake separate projects on the above matters during 2022 – 2026.  

Conceptual Framework: Not-for-Profit Amendments2 

1.14 The Board is currently conducting a two-stage project relating to its Conceptual Framework 

applicable to not-for-profit entities: 

(a) Stage 1: The primary purpose of this stage is to extend the application of the 

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting to all not-for-profit entities. This stage 

is expected to incorporate the not-for-profit modifications detailed in the Framework for 

the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements into the Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting, essentially unchanged. Following this Stage, for a 

not-for-profit private sector entity, “reporting entity” will no longer be defined by SAC 1 

Definition of the Reporting Entity but will simply reference  the entity preparing the 

financial statements; and 

(b) Stage 2: The primary purpose of this stage is to address more significant and complex 

conceptual issues affecting not-for-profit entities. As part of this stage, the Board 

intends to review the objective of general purpose financial reports of not-for-profit 

entities and the users of those financial statements. Specifically, the Board intends to 

consider: 

i) the emphasis given to management stewardship (or accountability) as part of 

the objective of general purpose financial reporting of not-for-profit entities; 

and 

ii) whether the ‘users’ of a not-for-profit private sector entity’s general purpose 

financial statements should be more broadly regarded (for example, whether 

users always include regulators and advisors of members of parliament). 

1.15 Stage 1 of the Board’s Conceptual Framework: Not-for-Profit Amendments project is 

progressing concurrently with the Board’s work on this stage of its review of the Australian 

Financial Reporting Framework (this project). Stage 2 of the Board’s Conceptual Framework: 

Not-for-Profit Amendments project will not be expected to commence until after this project is 

 
1  For more information on the interaction with other AASB and international projects, see Appendix D. 
2  In June 2019, the Board proposed making amendments to the definition of a not-for-profit entity. Those 

amendments, if finalised, would have impacted the identification of the entities affected by this project. In 
April 2021, considering feedback received on its Exposure Draft, the Board decided to discontinue its project 
revisiting the definition of a not-for-profit entity. In June 2022, the Board decided not to revisit this topic as part of 
its 2022 – 2026 work program. 
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complete. However, the Board welcomes feedback as part of this Discussion Paper on the 

matters that the Board’s Conceptual Framework project will address. Such feedback may help 

inform the Board’s future deliberations on this project as it provides input to the ‘benefit’ 

component of the Board’s cost-benefit considerations.  

1.16 Considering paragraph 1.14, the Board notes that when forming its preliminary views on Tier 3 

reporting requirements, it considered:  

(a) the primary users of the financial statements of a not-for-profit entity currently 

described in the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 

Statements; and  

(b) the entity is assumed to be a going concern and will continue operation for the 

foreseeable future.  

Timing of any final proposals  

1.17 The Board is conscious of the interaction between this project, other AASB projects and the 

government's work to streamline and improve reporting by not-for-profit entities. 3 It is 

important that any resultant changes will be easy to understand and apply. Consequently, the 

Board intends to consider the timing of the effectiveness of any resultant proposals on this 

project together with decisions on the effective date of its final proposals on its Conceptual 

Framework for Not-for-Profit Entities project and other projects, to provide clarity for entities 

and so as not unduly to burden entities. This does not necessarily mean that the effective 

dates of all the Board’s final proposals will be aligned; merely that the Board will consider the 

practical impacts for entities in setting effective dates on any final proposals.  

1.18 Notwithstanding the above, the Board has tentatively formed a view that the effective dates of 

any possible:  

(a) Tier 3 reporting requirements; 

(b) amendments to extend the application of Australian Accounting Standards to a 

broader set of not-for-profit entities; and 

(c) amendments to the Australian Conceptual Framework resulting from Stage 1 of the 

Board’s Conceptual Framework for Not-for-Profit Entities project;  

will be aligned such that Tier 3 reporting requirements will be available immediately for those 

entities preparing general purpose financial statements for the first time. Further, this ensures 

only a single consistent description of ‘reporting entity’ will apply when this ‘suite’ of proposals 

become operative. 

1.19 The Board plans to facilitate a smooth transition for entities in the sector. In setting the 

effective date of any final proposals, the Board will allow for sufficient implementation time and 

the development of education materials, where necessary. 

 
3  For example, actions to effect the Government response to Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 

Legislation Review 2018 including fundraising requirements harmonisation. 

https://treasury.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-03/p2020-61958-govt-response.pdf
https://treasury.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-03/p2020-61958-govt-response.pdf
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Questions for respondents 

Question 1 

Paragraphs 1.3 to 1.8 discuss the Board’s view that it should not develop ‘reporting thresholds’ to 

specify which reporting Tier that a not-for-profit private sector entity must, at a minimum, comply with 

in preparing financial statements. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, how do you propose the Board 

stratify entities amongst the available reporting tiers?  

 

Question 2 

Paragraphs 1.9 to 1.11 discuss the Board’s view that it does not intend to develop proposals for 

reporting service performance information as part of this project.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, what requirements do you think 

entities should be required to apply? Would these requirements apply to all not-for-profit private sector 

entities or only be reporting requirements of a specified reporting tier?  

 

Question 3 

The ‘objective’ and ‘primary users’ incorporated in the Framework for the Preparation and 

Presentation of Financial Statements include modifications for not-for-profit entities.  

Paragraphs 1.14 to 1.16 discuss the Board’s Conceptual Framework: Not-for-Profit Amendments 

project and how it interacts with this project. Do you agree that the Framework for the Preparation and 

Presentation of Financial Statements (including the modifications for not-for-profit entities) 

appropriately:  

(a) depicts the objective of general purpose financial reporting for not-for-profit private sector 

entities; and  

(b) identifies the set of primary users of the financial statements of a not-for-profit entity. 

Why or why not? If you disagree, what is your reasoning?  

The Board plans to extend the application of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting to all 

not-for-profit entities once the modifications for not-for-profit entities are included and on the release of 

a Tier 3 Standard. Do you have any other concerns about applying the Conceptual Framework for 

Financial Reporting to smaller not-for-profit private sector entities that have not already been noted in 

paragraph 1.14? If so, please describe them. 

 

Question 4  

As noted in paragraph 1.18, the Board intends to align the timing of any new Tier 3 reporting 

requirements with the timing of any extension of the Australian Accounting Standards to a broader set 

of not-for-profit private sector entities.  

Do you agree? Why or why not?  
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Section 2: Extending the differential reporting framework for not-
for-profit private sector entities  

 

Main concerns with existing reporting requirements 

2.1 When developing its Reduced Disclosure Requirements regime4 in 2010, the Board was 

conscious that stakeholders were concerned that the Australian reporting requirements were 

overly complex for application by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities. At that time, the 

Board sought to mitigate the concern by not requiring these entities to apply Tier 1: Australian 

Accounting Standards.  

2.2 Since 2010, the following changes have occurred to the reporting environment in Australia for 

not-for-profit entities:  

(a) the introduction of new accounting standards that changed previously applicable 

recognition and measurement criteria. Some of these Standards are regarded by 

some practitioners as being complex to understand and apply, especially for smaller 

entities;  

(b) the Board’s proposal in ITC 39 Applying the IASB’s Revised Conceptual Framework 

and Solving the Reporting Entity and Special Purpose Financial Statement Problems 

(May 2018) to no longer limit the application of Australian Accounting Standards to 

reporting entities as defined by SAC 1 Definition of the Reporting Entity (in addition to 

those entities who elect to present general purpose financial statements); and  

(c) government initiatives to ease the reporting burden for less economically significant 

entities. For example, the quantitative thresholds used to determine an entity’s 

reporting obligations have been revised upwards.  

2.3 In March 2020, the Board replaced Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements with Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified 

Disclosures. As part of its stakeholder consultations leading to those revised requirements, the 

Board acknowledged that stakeholders continue to be concerned that Australian reporting 

requirements are not commensurate with the abilities and resources available to smaller not-

for-profit private sector entities or user interests (that is, they are not ‘fit for purpose’). As a 

consequence, such requirements might impose disproportionate costs for certain not-for-profit 

private sector entities when regarded against the benefits of that information.  

2.4 Based on a range of factors, the Board decided it should review its past decisions on the 

extent of the differential reporting framework applying to not-for-profit private sector entities. 

Those factors include feedback received from stakeholders, research findings, and reflecting 

on its reasons for initially deciding against developing further differential reporting 

 
4 AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards introduced the two ‘Tiers’ of general purpose 

financial statements into the Australian Accounting Standards.  
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requirements for not-for-profit private sector entities in light of recent changes in the reporting 

environment.5 More information is provided in Appendix E. 

Main considerations in identifying the number of reporting tiers 

Proposal to extend the population of entities required to prepare general purpose 

financial statements – superseding the reporting entity concept 

2.5 As part of Stage 1 of its Conceptual Framework: Not-for-Profit Amendments project, the Board 

intends to use the term ‘reporting entity’ to identify the boundary of the entity for which 

financial statements are prepared, consistent with its use internationally. To avoid inadvertent 

complexity for entities through the inconsistent use of the term, the Board proposes to, at the 

same time, supersede the use of ‘reporting entity’ in SAC 1 Definition of the Reporting Entity 

as a means of identifying not-for-profit private sector entities that must prepare general 

purpose financial statements.  

2.6 These Board actions are consistent with its past actions in AASB 2020-2 Amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Special Purpose Financial Statements for 

Certain For-Profit Private Sector Entities to effect such amendment for for-profit private sector 

entities. The Basis for Conclusions to AASB 2020-2 explains the Board’s reasoning, which 

applies equally to the not-for-profit private sector.  

2.7 The effect of the Board proposal is that Australian Accounting Standards will subsequently 

apply to a broader set of not-for-profit private sector entities. The “and is a reporting entity” 

application provision that forms part of most Standards will cease to have any substance. 

Entities will be required to prepare general purpose financial statements when the entity is 

compelled to prepare financial statements that comply with Australian Accounting Standards. 

Figure 2.1 illustrates this by reference to ACNC financial reporting obligations.  

Figure 2.1: Illustrative example of how the proposal to change use of the term ‘reporting entity’ will affect  

not-for-profit private sector entities 

 

Stakeholder feedback on cost-benefits of Tier 2 reporting requirements 

2.8 In its preliminary discussions with stakeholders informing the development of this Discussion 

Paper, many stakeholders expressed some support for developing at least one further 

reporting tier for not-for-profit private sector entities, especially if the SAC 1 reporting entity 

 
5  Compared to the not-for-profit private sector entities, the Board did not consider it necessary to develop a further 

differential reporting tier for for-profit sector entities with research indicating the standards apply only to 1.3% of 
actively trading for-profit entities. Respondent to ITC 39 also indicated a preference for the for-profit entity 
reporting tiers to require compliance with the full recognition and measurement requirements in Australian 
Accounting Standards. For more information, refer the Basis for Conclusions paragraphs BC99 – BC109 
accompanying AASB 2020-2. 
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concept is removed. These stakeholders are of the view that existing cost-benefit tensions 

necessitate the introduction of a further tier of reporting requirements that is simple and easy 

to understand.  

2.9 Stakeholders’ concerns are exacerbated when the population is increased (through the 

proposal to remove the SAC 1 reporting entity concept), as a wider population of not-for-profit 

entities will consequently be required to prepare financial statements that comply with the 

requirements specified by Australian Accounting Standards. The population is expected to be 

larger because the relevant legislation often sets a lower threshold for such reporting 

obligations than the legislation governing common legal structures employed by a for-profit 

entity. For example, the revised ACNC reporting thresholds are still lower than those applying 

to for-profit entities lodging reports with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission 

(ASIC). 

Proposal to introduce a third tier of reporting requirements 

2.10 The Board noted that introducing one or more further tiers of reporting requirements might not 

be appropriate for a range of reasons, including:  

(a) making it harder for some entities to determine their reporting obligations, especially if 

revenue or assets are calculated differently between the reporting tiers;  

(b) possibly making it more difficult for practitioners to move between, or provide services 

to, entities of different sizes;  

(c) using limited resources to maintain a further tier of reporting requirements;  

(d) departing from its policy of sector neutrality; and 

(e) whether the resultant financial statements can be held out to be general purpose 

financial statements. 

2.11 However, the Board is conscious of the additional costs that might be borne by a not-for-profit 

private sector entity as a result of the difference in the extent of reporting obligations made on 

similar-sized entities in the for-profit and not-for-profit sector. The Board also had regard to its 

objective of improving the quality of financial reporting by entities in the sector. Consequently, 

the Board has formed a preliminary view that there is a need to develop at least one further 

reporting tier at the same time as it supersedes the SAC 1 reporting entity concept for not-for-

profit private sector entities.  

2.12 This further reporting tier will serve as a proportionate response for smaller-sized entities with 

less complex transactions and events that are required to prepare financial statements that 

comply with Australian Accounting Standards. In its discussions about the form and 

accounting requirements of its proposed third reporting tier, the Board considered the revised 

ACNC revenue thresholds. The ACNC ‘medium’ size band (entities with revenue of $500,000 

or more and less than $3 million) provided the Board with a reference point for identifying 

transactions and balances that might commonly be undertaken by entities that may, in the 

future, be able to prepare general purpose financial statements that comply with its Tier 3 

reporting proposals. The further reporting tier is intended to be easier to understand and apply 

than those specified by Tier 1 and Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards. In forming its 

preliminary view, the Board considered that:  

(a) there is a need to provide a proportionate response for smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities that may no longer be able to present special purpose financial 

statements;  

(b) a further tier of reporting accords the Board an opportunity to review reporting 

requirements such as consolidation that are, anecdotally, reasons why some entities 

are currently not preparing general purpose financial statements; 
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(c) some of the more recent Australian Accounting Standards specify accounting that 

might be regarded as overly complex for the operations and abilities of smaller not-for-

profit private sector entities; and 

(d) research findings suggesting that the benefits of the reporting requirements specified 

by Tier 1 and Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards may be more limited for smaller 

not-for-profit private sector entities than they are for other entities.6  

Development of a fourth differential reporting tier 

2.13 The Board observed that, without change to relevant legislation of the size thresholds, some 

very small not-for-profit entities will continue to be, or may in the future be, required to prepare 

general purpose financial statements. The Board considered whether there was a need to 

develop a fourth reporting tier aimed at the smallest not-for-profit reporters. 

Example – legislation requiring very small not-for-profit entities to prepare financial 

statement in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 

Certain small Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander corporations that report revenue greater 

than $100,000 and public companies limited by guarantee will be required to prepare financial 

statements in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards. Consequently, these 

entities may, in the future, be required to prepare general purpose financial statements.  

2.14 The Board received mixed feedback from its preliminary outreach on whether it should 

develop a suite of “basic” accounting requirements for economically insignificant entities. 

Some stakeholders were supportive of developing further ‘proportionate’ cash-basis 

requirements that economically insignificant entities could apply.  

2.15 Stakeholders that were supportive considered that the Board should be responsible for 

specifying the requirements for all entities required by legislation to prepare financial 

statements and that there should be requirements set at a level appropriate to the abilities of 

the entity and needs of users of its financial statements. These stakeholders contend Tier 4 

would reduce reporting complexity through providing clarity for preparers and users alike, and 

facilitate consistency and comparability in the reporting of financial statements.  

2.16 Non-supportive stakeholders questioned the existence and needs of users (if any) of the 

financial statements of such entities, and whether there was a case for the Board dedicating 

resources to such an effort amid concerns that the resulting financial statements might not be 

‘fit for purpose’.  

2.17 The population of micro entities that are required to prepare financial statements that are in 

accordance with Australian Accounting Standards is likely to be small. Noting this, and for the 

reasons noted in paragraph 2.10, the Board has decided not to develop a fourth tier of 

reporting requirements. In particular, the Board considered: 

(a) it is likely that a fourth tier, if developed, would have to reflect a cash basis of 

accounting. The Board considers that general purpose financial statements must be 

based on accrual principles to present fairly an entity's results and financial position. 

Consequently, the investment required is not justifiable when considered against the 

additional benefits to stakeholders. The Board observes that there are few, if any, 

further accrual-based recognition and measurement criteria simplification actions that 

could be taken by the Board beyond those that the Board is proposing to develop as 

part of its Tier 3 reporting requirements; and 

 
6 As summarised in AASB Research Report 16 Financial reporting by non-corporate or small entities, academic 

research shows donors are more interested in non-financial information; integrating these into their donation 
decision making. There is also academic research positing that users of the financial statements of smaller entities 
may find simpler financial statements more useful. 
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(b) a fourth tier would introduce additional complexity for entities when determining their 

regulatory reporting obligations, where the threshold for such is based on quantitative 

accounting numbers (e.g. revenue or assets). Without changes to legislation, it may 

not be clear on which recognition and measurement base such thresholds should be 

calculated. 

Transition between the reporting tiers 

2.18 The Board has not yet considered: 

(a) whether and if so, how an entity might transition to or from Tier 3: Australian 

Accounting Standards – Simplified Accounting (Not-for-profit Private Sector Entities) to 

Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards or Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – 

Simplified Disclosures.  

(b) transitional provisions that might apply on the first-time preparation of general purpose 

financial statements that comply with Tier 3: Australian Accounting Standards – 

Simplified Accounting (Not-for-profit Private Sector Entities); or 

(c) whether an entity may change an existing accounting policy to a Tier 3-compliant 

accounting policy when it first prepares Tier 3-compliant financial statements.  

2.19 Any decision about transitioning between reporting tiers will likely be informed by stakeholder 

support or otherwise for its proposed preliminary views in this Discussion Paper. 

Example – potential transitional provision to be considered 

The Board has heard anecdotally that some entities would revert from measuring property on 

a revaluation basis to a cost basis if allowed to do so. The Board has not yet discussed 

whether to allow this treatment when Tier 3 general purpose financial statements are prepared 

for the first time as the Board is at this time seeking feedback on its preliminary view that both 

the revaluation basis and cost basis should be available accounting policies for the 

measurement of property, plant and equipment in Tier 3 financial statements.  

Transitional provisions would be necessary if the Board subsequently develops proposals 

requiring property to always be measured on a cost basis or if the Board decides to develop 

proposals consistent with its preliminary view and there is a case for such relief to be 

introduced.  
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Questions for respondents  

Question 5 

Paragraphs 2.5 to 2.7 propose to extend the set of not-for-profit private sector entities to which 

Australian Accounting Standards apply by superseding (in part) SAC 1. The effect is that more entities 

will be required to prepare general purpose financial statements when required to prepare financial 

statements that comply with Australian Accounting Standards. 

Do you agree with extending the set of not-for-profit private sector entities to which Australian 

Accounting Standards apply? Why or why not? If not, what alternative approach do you suggest? 

 

Question 6 

Paragraphs 2.10 to 2.12 propose the introduction of a simpler further reporting tier (Tier 3) for not-for-

profit private sector entities that are required to prepare financial statements complying with Australian 

Accounting Standards, which serves as a proportionate response for smaller sized entities with less 

complex transactions and events . 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If not, what alternative approach do you suggest? 

 

Question 7 

Paragraphs 2.13 to 2.17 discuss the Board’s view to not develop a fourth tier of accounting for not-for-

profit private sector entities.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If not, what alternative approach do you suggest? 
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Section 3: Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting requirements 

 

Main considerations in deciding whether to change Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting 
requirements  

3.1 The Board noted that considering the differential reporting framework for not-for-profit private 

sector entities provides the opportunity to review the Board’s previous decisions as to the 

reporting requirements that apply to not-for-profit entities. When making AASB 1060 General 

Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 

Entities, the Board observed that the revised Tier 2 disclosure framework may still be relevant 

to not-for-profit entities as one of the tiers of reporting for the sector even after a revised not-

for-profit financial reporting framework is developed. Scoping not-for-profit private sector 

entities into AASB 1060 was done to give these entities immediate access to similar reporting 

requirements as would apply to for-profit private sector entities, and which were considered a 

‘reduction’ of those disclosures applying under the Reduced Disclosure Regime. 

3.2 Having formed a view to propose a three-tier differential reporting framework for not-for-profit 

private sector entities, the Board considered whether to revise its Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting 

requirements as currently applicable to Australian not-for-profit private sector entities. The 

Board noted that it had, as part of its pre-2020 evidence-gathering activities, received 

feedback whether the existing Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting requirements should continue to be 

available to not-for-profit private sector entities. The Board’s decisions in this regard informs its 

preliminary views on reporting requirements under its proposed third reporting tier.  

3.3 The Board observed that Tier 1 reporting requirements in their current form are well 

understood by Australian stakeholders as being the equivalent of ‘full IFRS’, modified as 

necessary for application by not-for-profit entities. Retaining these Tier 1 reporting 

requirements also:  

(a) facilitates comparability with for-profit private sector entities operating in the same 

industry; 

(b) does not require any additional maintenance costs beyond those that would already 

currently be required under the current status; and 

(c) acknowledges recent research and a view held by some stakeholders that some not-

for-profit private sector entities (e.g. those of ‘public interest’) should prepare Tier 1 

general purpose financial statements. 

3.4 Therefore, the Board is not proposing to develop different Tier 1 reporting requirements for 

application by not-for-profit private sector entities.  

3.5 The Board observed that its deliberations resulting in AASB 1060 were in the main focused on 

the needs of users of for-profit private sector entity financial statements, consistent with the 

focus of its project culminating in the issue of AASB 1060. However, the Board is aware that a 

not-for-profit entity may have only recently revised their financial statements to comply with 

AASB 1060 before a revised differential reporting framework for not-for-profit private sector 

entities is finalised. Hence, the Board considered it would be preferable and more practical if 

there remained a single set of Tier 2 reporting requirements, as this helps with the general 

comprehension of the quality and comparability of such financial statements. Therefore, the 
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Board has formed a preliminary view to also not develop further revised Tier 2 reporting 

requirements for application by not-for-profit private sector entities.  

Questions for respondents  

Question 8 

Paragraphs 3.1 to 3.5 discuss the Board’s view to not make changes to the existing requirements 

specified by Tier 1 and Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards, as presently modified for not-for-profit 

private sector entities.  

Do you agree? Why or why not?  
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PART B: PROPOSED TIER 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS  

Section 4: Setting of Tier 3 and its interaction with other reporting 
tiers  

 

Main considerations in developing the reporting tier 

4.1 The demand for simpler accounting requirements for smaller entities stems from stakeholder 

application challenges with existing Australian Accounting Standards, including: 

(a) the language used in, and length of, Australian Accounting Standards; 

(b) the accounting technical expertise of less-resourced not-for-profit private sector 

preparers, and their ability to explain the results to their users; 

(c) the understandability and relevance of the resultant financial statements for primary 

users who are not “accounting experts” and whose investing (for example, donation) 

decisions may be less dependent on entity performance and stewardship as reflected 

by the financial statements; and 

(d) the comparability of the results and financial position of similar entities.  

4.2 Paragraph 2.12 described the Board’s intent for a third reporting tier to serve as a 

proportionate response for smaller-sized entities with less complex transactions and events 

that are required to prepare financial statements that comply with Australian Accounting 

Standards. Consequently, the Board observed that its Tier 3 reporting requirements would 

have to address these stakeholder application challenges in order to be regarded as meeting 

the needs of the entities and users for which it is being developed (i.e. whether the reporting 

tier is ‘fit for purpose’).  

A stand-alone accounting standard 

4.3 The presentation of any resultant reporting requirements is a key consideration for the 

proposed third reporting tier. The Board has formed a preliminary view to present Tier 3 

reporting requirements in a single stand-alone accounting standard. A stand-alone accounting 

standard has its shortcomings for example, the Tier 3 Standard is not intended to cover the 

breath of transactions, balances and events covered by Tier 1 or Tier 2 reporting requirement. 

As such, the Board prioritised the approach it considered would be the most user-friendly for 

the intended audience.  

4.4 Presenting the Tier 3 reporting requirements in a stand-alone accounting standard is 

consistent with the Board’s recent decision to develop AASB 1060 as a separate Tier 2 

Standard in response to stakeholder feedback; a revision of its previous approach of placing 

the reduced disclosures as an Appendix within the body of each Australian Accounting 

Standard. The feedback from the Board’s preliminary outreach suggested that stakeholders 

would also support this approach for Tier 3 reporting requirements.  

4.5 The stand-alone accounting standard is intended to:  
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(a) specify accounting requirements relevant to transactions, other events and 

circumstances that are common to a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity;  

(b) in the main, not require an entity to refer to requirements set out in other Australian 

Accounting Standards; and  

(c) express accounting requirements in a manner that is easy to understand by preparers 

and users who do not consider themselves to be “accounting experts”. 

Example – Tier 3 Standard not requiring an entity to refer to requirements in other 

Australian Accounting Standards 

A Tier 3 standard might not include accounting requirements that specifically address sales of 

trade receivable balances to a debt collector because transfers of financial assets are not 

expected to be widespread amongst smaller not-for-profit private sector entities.  

This does not mean an entity that sells a trade receivable balance to a debt collector will need 

to refer to the criteria and guidance specified in AASB 9 to assess whether the sale qualifies 

for derecognition. Rather, unless the transaction is explicitly outside the scope of the Tier 3 

Standard, the entity assesses the sale of the trade receivable balance for derecognition 

against the Tier 3 specified criteria and any accompanying Tier 3 guidance.  

 

Example – Tier 3 Standard specifying accounting requirements relevant to smaller not-

for-profit entities 

A Tier 3 Standard might direct an entity to recognise a “provision for doubtful debts” and “bad 

debts” in respect of its receivables, rather than an “allowance for expected credit losses”. 

 

Example – Tier 3 Standard expressing accounting requirements that is easier to 

understand 

Paragraph 13 of AASB 119 Employee Benefits reads as follows:  

An entity shall recognise the expected cost of short‑term employee benefits in the form of paid 

absences under paragraph 11 as follows: 

(a)  in the case of accumulating paid absences, when the employees render service that 

increases their entitlement to future paid absences 

(b) in the case of non‑accumulating paid absences, when the absences occur. 

A Tier 3 Standard might express the requirement in the following manner:  

“An expense is recognised for accumulating (roll over) annual leave (and similar employee 

benefits) as the employee becomes entitled to that leave. An expense is recognised for non-

accumulating paid leave such as parental leave (and similar ‘use it or lose it’ employee 

benefits) when the employee uses the entitlement.”  

4.6 Generally, not requiring an entity to refer to other Australian Accounting Standards 

requirements means the resultant accounting standard could be lengthier. However, the Board 

considered that this effect would be outweighed by expected reduced compliance costs, 

through:  

(a) an expected reduction in the extent to which a not-for-profit entity preparing Tier 3 

general purpose financial statements has to consider other Australian Accounting 

Standards; 

(b) expected savings in the time taken to understand and apply the specified 

requirements, facilitated by the use of language and terminology familiar to the sector, 

and targeted guidance and examples.  
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Accompanying guidance, including template financial statements  

4.7 The Board intends to develop guidance to facilitate consistency in applying its proposed 

requirements. This could take the form of guidance to help explain specific requirements and 

illustrative examples.  

4.8 The Board has formed a preliminary view to develop template financial statements, including 

accompanying notes (‘model’ financial statements). Providing preparers with an illustrative 

depiction of how general purpose financial statements complying with Tier 3 Australian 

Accounting Standards: Simplified Accounting could be presented is a way in which the Board 

can make the pronouncement easier to implement. The Board observed that developing 

template financial statements would facilitate comparability between entities and would help 

guide the exercise of judgement by the preparer. However, some relevant financial information 

may be lost.  

Conceptual framework  

4.9 The Board’s preliminary view is that the Tier 3 reporting requirements will operate within a 

single conceptual framework applying to all not-for-profit entities. That is, the Board does not 

intend the proposed stand-alone pronouncement to be so self-contained that it needs its own 

abbreviated conceptual framework. The Board expects to be further informed on this matter by 

work on its Conceptual Framework project. 

Ability to opt up to an accounting policy permitted or required by Tier 1 or 
Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards 

4.10 An entity may already comply with several or all the accounting policies prescribed by the 

Australian Accounting Standards. Some of these accounting policies may be simplified in Tier 

3 Australian Accounting Standards. For example, an entity that is a lessee might presently 

recognise a right-of-use asset and lease liability for a lease of property. A lessee would not 

recognise such assets and liabilities under the Board’s preliminary views on lease accounting 

under Tier 3. However, some entities may want to continue their existing accounting.  

4.11 Consequently, the Board considered whether it should develop requirements that would permit 

an entity preparing Tier 3 general purpose financial statements to apply instead an accounting 

policy permitted by Tier 1 or Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards for certain transactions 

and other events addressed by the Board as part of a possible Tier 3 Standard. Noting that a 

smaller not-for-profit private sector entity that wishes to prepare Tier 1 or Tier 2 compliant 

financial statements is not restricted from doing so, the Board considered whether it should 

develop Tier 3 requirements to:  

(a) allow an entity to always ‘opt up’ to a recognition or measurement policy permitted or 

required by the Tier 1 or Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standard applying to the 

transaction or other event (a ‘free choice’ approach);  

(b) allow an entity to ‘opt up’ to a recognition or measurement policy permitted or required 

by the Tier 1 or Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standard applying to the transaction or 

other event only when specifically permitted by the Board as part of the Tier 3 

Standard (in effect, a ‘cross reference’ approach); or 

(c) restrict an entity preparing Tier 3 financial statements to only those accounting policies 

specified by the Tier 3 Standard for transactions and other events within the scope of 

the Tier 3 Standard (i.e. ‘opt up’ is not permitted on a policy-by-policy basis). 

4.12 Conceptually, an accounting policy permitted or required by a higher reporting tier also 

provides relevant and faithfully representative information, and comparability does not mean 

that entities must all apply the same accounting policy. However, the Board is conscious that 
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Tier 3 reporting requirements should prioritise comparability between entities by restricting an 

entity’s accounting policy choices rather than provide for flexibility. This could also make Tier 3 

reporting requirements easier for preparers to understand and apply, reducing the costs of 

compliance with accounting standards.  

4.13 The Board has not formed a preliminary view as to whether it should restrict the range of 

accounting policies available to an entity preparing Tier 3-compliant financial statements, or 

develop requirements that would allow opt-up in some, or any, circumstances. The Board 

thinks it should be informed by stakeholder feedback as to the usefulness of the resultant 

financial statements if ‘opting up’ on a policy-by-policy basis were permitted, considering the 

range of its preliminary views on Tier 3 reporting requirements (refer Section 5). For example, 

the timing of impairment losses is likely to be later for a Tier 3 entity compared to a Tier 1 or 

Tier 2 entity. It is unclear whether users would be well-served by divergent practice between 

Tier 3 entities. 

4.14 The significance of the Board’s future decisions will depend on the feedback received on the 

preliminary views set out in Section 5.  

Transactions and other events omitted from Tier 3 reporting requirements 

4.15 A stand-alone accounting standard containing Tier 3 reporting requirements cannot be 

expected to address the whole breadth of transactions, other events and conditions 

contemplated in Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards. To do so might ‘clutter’ the Tier 3 

Standard with requirements that are not relevant to many smaller entities – this would not be 

consistent with the Board’s proportionate and simple objectives in undertaking this project.  

4.16 Figure 4.1 summarises the Board’s preliminary views regarding the accounting for a 

transaction or other event or condition occurring during the period.  

Figure 4.1: Tier 3 transactions and other events and conditions 

 

4.17 As long as they are ‘scoped in’, transactions and other events need not be specifically 

‘mentioned’ in the Tier 3 Standard to be considered an included topic. For example, 

cryptocurrency holdings and employee termination benefits need not be highlighted for these 

items to be treated consistently to other intangible assets and other employee benefits. 

Additionally, the Board might not develop requirements to address a particular scenario, for 
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example, a reversal of previously recognised impairment losses. To the extent the item 

remains ‘scoped in’, the entity does not consider AASB 136 Impairment of Assets to identify 

how to account for the reversal. Rather, the entity considers how to account for the transaction 

in the context of applying the related Tier 3 requirements. 

4.18 Similarly, transactions and other events may be explicitly or implicitly omitted from Tier 3 

reporting requirements. For example, the Board might determine to explicitly scope out 

financial guarantee contracts from the scope of its Tier 3 requirements. Conversely, the Board 

might decide not to develop Tier 3 requirements for biological assets, which are neither 

property, plant and equipment, nor financial assets. This does not mean that financial 

guarantee contracts and biological assets are not recognised in Tier 3 financial statements, 

but rather that the entity will have to develop an appropriate accounting policy to account for 

the item.  

4.19 The Board has not formed a preliminary view on the Tier 1/Tier 2 recognition and 

measurement requirements that it will amend in/omit from, Tier 3 reporting requirements. The 

Board may, on consideration of feedback received, decide to scope into its Tier 3 Standard:  

(a) a transaction, but direct that the item is accounted for in accordance with a specified 

Australian Accounting Standard. (That is, adopt a cross-reference rather than omitted 

topic approach – the resultant accounting is similar);  

(b) a transaction, and develop specific Tier 3 accounting requirements for that item; or  

(c) a transaction, and require the transaction to be accounted for similarly to other 

common transactions.  

4.20 The Board’s future decision making will partly depend on the Discussion Paper feedback and 

the Board’s further efforts to understand the types of transactions and other events and 

conditions common to smaller not-for-profit private sector entities. However, the types of items 

that the Board might scope out of a Tier 3 Standard include:  

(a) biological assets, and agricultural produce at the point of harvest; 

(b) insurance contracts issued, reinsurance contracts held, and investment contracts with 

discretionary participation features; 

(c) expenditures incurred in connection with the exploration for and evaluation of mineral 

resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a 

mineral resource is demonstrable; 

(d) business combinations; 

(e) obligations arising under a defined benefit superannuation plan;  

(f) share-based payment arrangements;  

(g) the accounting by an operator in a service concession arrangement; and 

(h) financial assets and financial liabilities that are identified as 'more complex' financial 

instruments in Section 5 of this Discussion Paper. 

Accounting policy hierarchy 

4.21 The Board considered it necessary to provide entities with direction to develop an appropriate 

accounting policy for those transactions and other events falling outside the scope of the 

Tier 3 reporting requirements. The Board has formed a preliminary view that entities preparing 

Tier 3 general purpose financial statements should, in respect of a transaction, other event or 

condition scoped out of a Tier 3 stand-alone Standard:  
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(a) first, apply the classification, recognition and measurement and disclosure 

requirements specified by Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified 

Disclosures; and  

(b) otherwise, apply judgement in developing its accounting policy by reference to the 

following sources in descending order: 

i) the principles and requirements in Tier 3 reporting requirements dealing with 

similar and related issues; and 

ii) the definitions, recognition criteria and measurement concepts for assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses in the Australian Conceptual Framework, to 

the extent they do not conflict with Tier 3 reporting requirements. 

In forming an appropriate accounting policy, an entity may also consider the principles 

and requirements in Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting requirements dealing with similar and 

related issues, the most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that 

use a similar conceptual framework, other accounting literature and accepted industry 

practices, to the extent these do not conflict with Australian Accounting Standards.7  

Example – operation of the proposed Tier 3 hierarchy approach 

Under the proposed ‘accounting policies hierarchy’ and assuming the Board decides not to 

develop any Tier 3 requirements for such transactions, an entity preparing general purpose 

financial statements complying with Tier 3: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified 

Accounting (Not-for-profit Private Sector Entities) would:  

(a) apply the recognition and measurement requirements set out in AASB 141 Agriculture 

for any biological assets held, AASB 2 Share-based Payment to account for any 

share-based payments granted, and make the corresponding disclosures in 

AASB 1060; and 

(b) develop an accounting policy for business combinations under common control by 

reference first to the principles and requirements in Tier 3 reporting requirements 

dealing with similar and related transactions or events.  

4.22 In forming its preliminary view, the Board contemplated requiring an entity first to consider the 

accounting specified by Tier 3 requirements dealing with similar and related issues. Doing so 

would be more consistent with a notion of Tier 3 as an independent, separate reporting tier. 

However, the Board decided that requiring an entity first to apply the accounting specified by 

an existing topic-based Australian Accounting Standard better facilitates comparability 

between entities as it provides more direction and requires less judgement of preparers. 

Consequently, the Board formed a view that the proposed hierarchy in paragraph 4.21 

provides the best framework for developing accounting policies for matters not addressed as 

part of its proposed Tier 3 accounting standard. 

4.23 The costs of developing an accounting policy under the Board’s preliminary view may be 

comparatively higher as it requires consideration of other Accounting Standards and adopting 

accounting policies that may be comparatively more challenging to apply. However, the Board 

observed that these costs should be limited, as the Board would not expect entities preparing 

Tier 3 general purpose financial statements to ordinarily need to consider the accounting 

policy hierarchy. 

 
7  The Australian Accounting Standards to consider would consist of those set out the reporting requirements for 

Tier 1 general purpose financial statements, Tier 2 general purpose financial statements and the (proposed) Tier 3 
general purpose financial statements 
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Maintenance and update of Tier 3 reporting requirements  

4.24 The Board considers that, to be consistent with its objective of developing reporting 

requirements that are easy to understand and apply, those requirements need to be a stable 

reporting platform. Following any revisions from a post-implementation review of the Tier 3 

reporting requirements,8 the Board has formed a preliminary view to limit revisiting aspects of 

its Tier 3 reporting requirements to no more than once every AASB agenda consultation cycle 

(5 years), and only when there is a substantive case, in accordance with the AASB Due 

Process Framework for Setting Standards, for doing so.  

Example – maintenance of Tier 3 reporting requirements 

The Board may identify a substantive case for changing a particular specified requirement if it 

becomes aware of an issue that is widespread and there is diversity in accounting practice. 

The Board is unlikely to revisit a specific requirement if it determines the issue is not 

widespread, even if clarification could improve the application of the requirements.  

4.25 Under the Board’s preliminary view, new or amended requirements resulting from an IFRS or 

domestic standard-setting project – for example, on reporting service performance information 

– may be added to Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting requirements before they are included (if 

considered appropriate) as part of the Tier 3 reporting requirements. Similarly, revisions to the 

disclosures informing the specified Tier 3 disclosures (refer Section 6) may not necessarily 

result in a corresponding Board project to amend Tier 3 disclosures.  

4.26 In establishing whether there is a case for reconsidering aspects of the Tier 3 reporting 

requirements, the Board expects to consider developments since the time the pronouncement 

was last amended and also be informed by feedback from its periodic agenda consultations. 

The Board observed that limiting its maintenance and update commitments has the additional 

benefit of freeing up Board resources to enable it to progress on other standard-setting and 

research projects.  

4.27 The Board does not intend to conduct periodic comprehensive reviews of the Tier 3 Standard. 

This approach is consistent with Board’s existing approach to other issued Australian 

Accounting Standards. 

Questions for respondents  

Question 9 

Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6 discuss the Board’s view to specify Tier 3 reporting requirements in a single 

stand-alone accounting standard. The stand-alone pronouncement is expected to:  

(a) specify only accounting requirements for transactions, events and conditions that are common 

to a smaller not-for-profit entity;  

(b) in the main, not require an entity to refer to requirements set out in other Australian Accounting 

Standards; and  

(c) express accounting requirements in a manner that is easy to understand by preparers and 

users who do not consider themselves to be “accounting experts”. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, which aspect(s) of the stand-

alone accounting standard as listed in (a) – (c) concerns you the most? Please explain. 

 

 
8  The purpose of a post-implementation review is to evaluate the overall effectiveness and efficiency of a 

pronouncement in meeting its original objectives. In accordance with the AASB Due Process Framework for 
Setting Standards, a post-implementation review normally begins two years after application of an accounting 
pronouncement.    
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Question 10 

As discussed in paragraphs 4.10 to 4.14, Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities can opt-up to 

Tier 1 or Tier 2 reporting requirement in its entirety. However, the Board has not yet formed a view on 

whether it should restrict the range of accounting policies available to an entity preparing Tier-3-

compliant financial statements.  

In your opinion, should an entity preparing Tier-3-compliant financial statements have the ability to opt 

up to an accounting policy permitted or required by Tier 1 or Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards 

for: 

(a) transactions, events and circumstances covered in the Tier 3 reporting requirements that are 

specifically permitted by the Board only; or 

(b) all transactions, events and circumstances, regardless of whether they are covered in the Tier 

3 reporting requirements. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? Please explain your answer.  

 

Question 11 

Paragraphs 4.15 to 4.20 discuss the Board’s preliminary view on the transactions and other events 

and conditions that may not be covered in a Tier 3 Standard. The types of items the Board intends to 

scope out from the Tier 3 Standard include: 

(a) biological assets, and agricultural produce at the point of harvest; 

(b) insurance contracts issued, reinsurance contracts held, and investment contracts with 

discretionary participation features; 

(c) expenditures incurred in connection with the exploration for and evaluation of mineral 

resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral 

resource is demonstrable; 

(d) business combinations; 

(e) obligations arising under a defined benefit superannuation plan; 

(f) share-based payment arrangements; 

(g) the accounting by an operator in a service concession arrangement; and 

(h) financial assets and financial liabilities other than those identified in Section 5 of this 

Discussion Paper. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree, which of the balances, transactions and events do 

you think should be included in the Tier 3 Standard?  

 

Question 12 

Paragraphs 4.21 to 4.23 discuss the Board’s preliminary view on the hierarchy for entities to apply in 

developing accounting policies when preparing Tier 3 general purpose financial statements for 

transactions and other events outside the scope of the Tier 3 requirements. That is, an entity should: 

(a) first apply Tier 2 reporting requirements; and 

(b) otherwise apply judgment to develop an accounting policy by reference to: 

 (i) princples and requirements in Tier 3 reporting requirements dealing with similar or 

related issues; and 

 (ii) the definitions, recognition criteria and measurement concepts in the Australian 

Conceptual Framework that don't conflict with Tier 3 reporting requirements. 
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When developing an accounting policy, an entity may also consider principles and requirements in 

Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting requirements, or pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies with a 

similar conceptual framework, other accounting literature and accepted industry practices  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer an alternative 

accounting policy hierarchy for these transactions and events?  

 

Question 13 

Paragraphs 4.24 to 4.27 discuss the Board’s view to limit revisiting its Tier 3 reporting requirements to 

no more than once every AASB agenda consultation cycle (5 years) and only when if there is a 

substantive case, in accordance with the AASB Due Process Framework for Setting Standards, for 

doing so.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, how often do you prefer the 

Board should revisit its Tier 3 reporting requirements? Please explain. 
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Section 5: Accounting requirements 

 

Topics covered and how the Board formed its preliminary views 

5.1 Figure 5.1 illustrates the Board’s process of developing the Discussion Paper.  

Figure 5.1: Illustration of how the Discussion Paper was developed 

 

5.2 In identifying the relevant matters for inclusion in a Discussion Paper, the Board was informed 

by AASB and academic research and feedback from initial outreach conducted during this and 

related AASB projects. The matters forming part of this Discussion Paper are those which: 

(a) were identified as topics of significant interest or concern to stakeholders; for example, 

the accounting requirements for subsidiaries and recognition of income; 

(b) could have an overarching impact on the development of the Tier 3 reporting 

requirements; for example, the accounting requirements for changes in accounting 

policies or correction of errors; and/or 

(c) have otherwise been identified as a common transaction, other event or condition of a 

Tier 3 entity for which the accounting requirements could be simplified; for example, 

the requirements for property, plant and equipment and employee benefits. 

5.3 The Board considered accounting requirements could be potentially simplified from those 

specified by Tier 1 and Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards via one or more of the 

following approaches: 
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(a) explanation – requirements are presented in a manner that is easier to understand by 

stakeholders who do not consider themselves to be “accounting experts” or financial 

accountants; 

(b) recognition – requirements that could be less subject to judgement or require simpler 

conditions to be met; 

(c) measurement – requirements that could be less subject to judgement or less complex 

to apply; 

(d) presentation and disclosures – disclosure requirements that appropriately complement 

the simplified recognition and measurement requirements; 

(e) interpretation – requirements that are easier to interpret by reducing managerial 

discretion and with lower risk of significant interpretation diversity; and 

(f) understandability – requirements result in financial reporting outcomes that are easier 

to understand or easier for management to explain to users of the financial statements 

who do not consider themselves to be “sophisticated users”.  

5.4 When discussing potential simplifications on a topic, the Board considered the accounting 

requirements applying to smaller not-for-profit private sector entities in several other 

jurisdictions (refer to Appendix E for more information).  The Board also considered current 

practices, including whether there is any known diversity in practice amongst smaller not-for-

profit private sector entities. 

5.5 In forming its preliminary views, the Board evaluated the possible approaches on a topic by 

reference to an agreed set of principles. These principles acted as a boundary for possible 

approaches that could be considered and provided the Board with a consistent basis for 

forming its preliminary views. The agreed principles for developing Tier 3 reporting 

requirements are outlined in Appendix B to this Discussion Paper.  

Costs versus benefits 

5.6 In developing an accounting requirement, the benefits of the information must exceed its 

costs. This consideration forms part of the Board’s agreed principles for developing Tier 3 

reporting requirements. Certain costs of applying Tier 1 and Tier 2 Australian Accounting 

Standards reporting requirements are mostly fixed (for example, costs of engaging an external 

valuer) and, therefore, relatively more considerable for a smaller not-for-profit private sector 

entity. It may also take smaller not-for-profit private sector preparers longer to understand and 

apply certain accounting requirements, for example, because they have been written for a 

different target audience.  

5.7 The Board observed that its cost-benefit assessment might differ when considering smaller 

private sector entities, in particular, when compared to the not-for-profit sector as a whole. 

Consequently, it may form a different view about the applicable accounting for Tier 3 reporting 

requirements as these are developed with smaller not-for-profit private sector entities in mind. 

In some instances, a different measurement basis is proposed. In other instances, the Board 

has formed a preliminary view that disclosure is an appropriate substitute for recognition 

and/or measurement. 

General purpose financial statements  

5.8 The Board is developing reporting requirements that will form the basis of a set of general 

purpose financial statements; or Tier 3 general purpose financial statements. General purpose 

financial statements comprise a complete set of financial statements, being:  

(a) all the specified primary financial statements; 
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(b) accompanying notes to the financial statements; and  

(c) comparative information for the preceding reporting period. 

Financial statements that do not contain all these elements are not general purpose financial 

statements.    

5.9 The role of general purpose financial statements is to provide both information about an 

entity's past performance as well as information that allows users to assess the entity's 

stewardship of available resources. The Board is aware that some simplifications may result in 

the non-recognition of certain assets and liabilities that meet the asset and liability definitions 

within the Conceptual Framework. In those cases, disclosures may be required in order to 

provide information about management's stewardship of the entity. However, the principles in 

developing the Tier 3 reporting requirements acknowledge that the Conceptual Framework 

links useful information about management's stewardship of the entity to its ability to help 

users in making decisions relating to providing resources to the entity. As such, the Board 

considered that some information that may be necessary to demonstrate the discharge of 

management's stewardship of an entity may be excluded from Tier 3 general purpose financial 

statements where such information is not used by users for making resource allocation 

decisions. Ultimately, the Board considered that its preliminary views will, overall, result in Tier 

3 general purpose financial statements that are useful to users of smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities.  

Primary financial statements  

 

5.10 A financial report or ‘complete set of financial statements’ is generally understood as 

comprising specified primary financial statements and accompanying notes. When considering 

the possible future Tier 3 reporting requirements, the Board thought it would be desirable to 

maximise consistency with Tier 2 accounting principles where possible with the view that 

Tier 2 requirements act as ‘the cap’. Accordingly, the Board decided to consider whether the 

presentation of financial statements as set out in AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial 

Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Entities could be further 

simplified. Currently, Tier 2 general purpose financial statements comprise of:  

(a) a statement of financial position; 
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(b) a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income presented as either one 

or two statements; 

(c) a statement of changes in equity with the option of presenting a statement of income 

and retained earnings if the entity’s equity movements relate only to profit or loss for 

the period, payments of dividends, correction of prior period errors or changes in 

accounting policies;  

(d) a statement of cash flows; and 

(e) notes to the financial statements. 

5.11 The Board considered that it is generally accepted that some form of statement about the 

entity’s financial result for the period and financial position, including notes, must be presented 

because they provide crucial financial information to the users about the entity. However, the 

Board observed that for smaller entities, there is less consensus about the usefulness of 

presenting information ‘upfront’ about other comprehensive income, movements in the entity’s 

equity/accumulated funds, and cash flow. Accordingly, the Board decided to consider possible 

simplification approaches for the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes 

in equity and the statement of cash flows, and the presentation requirements for those 

statements.  

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (Statement of 

comprehensive income) 

5.12 The Board discussed whether simply requiring a statement of profit or loss would be a 

proportionate response for a lower-level differential reporting tier, as many entities preparing 

Tier 3 financial statements may not have items of other comprehensive income to report. 

Doing so would provide clarity to preparers who do not adopt accounting policies that result in 

the items presented in other comprehensive income. The Board also observed that 

information about other comprehensive income for the period could be presented as part of 

another financial statement or disclosed within the notes to the financial statements.  

5.13 The Board has formed a preliminary view that a statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income – either a one-statement or two-statement approach – should be 

proposed for Tier 3 general purpose financial statement requirements.  

5.14 In forming its preliminary views, the Board reflected that presenting a statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income remains useful to users without imposing significant 

costs to preparers, noting that: 

(a) by not requiring the presentation of other comprehensive income, it could inadvertently 

be imposing additional costs on subsidiaries of a parent entity that prepares Tier 1 or 

Tier 2 compliant financial statements as a result of a mismatch in presentation 

requirements; and 

(b) while many smaller not-for-profit private sector entities are unlikely to incur other 

comprehensive income, some smaller not-for-profit private sector entities revalue 

items of property, plant and equipment, and certain financial assets. Therefore 

preparers are familiar with reporting other comprehensive income information and the 

practice may have developed on the basis that it is useful to users and helps align the 

reporting practice of smaller not-for-profit private sector with those of larger not-for-

profit entities. 

5.15 As part of its deliberations, the Board observed that research and initial stakeholder feedback 

suggests that users of the financial statements may not fully understand that other 

comprehensive income items are, in general, unrealised gains and losses. As such, users 

might not know that these “profits” do not necessarily correspond to amounts available for use 
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by the entity. This could potentially impact their resource allocation or donation decision 

making. The Board noted that there is merit in keeping users focused on more decision-useful 

performance measures such as the profit or loss of the entity. However, the Board reflected 

that users may be educated to understand what other comprehensive income represents, and 

benefit from the provision of more complete and transparent information about an entity’s 

performance.  

5.16 The Board also recognised that, while it may not be uniformly required, there exists governing 

legislation or other regulation that currently requires the provision of other comprehensive 

income information. As such, not requiring the presentation of the statement of profit and loss 

and other comprehensive income may be seen as a backward step in transparency. It may 

also confuse preparers if there is a misalignment between the Tier 3 financial statements and 

the information required for regulatory purposes. 

Statement of changes in equity 

5.17 The Board has received feedback from stakeholders that the statement of changes in equity 

may assist users in assessing the integrity of the financial statements, including by providing 

information on the effects of adjustments to equity resulting from changes in accounting 

policies and correction of errors. Initial stakeholder feedback also indicated that preparers are 

not concerned with the cost of presenting a statement of changes in equity. Some 

stakeholders considered the statement important to provide prominence to information about 

movements in the entity’s equity accounts.  

5.18 However, the Board noted that for many smaller not-for-profit private sector entities, the profit 

or loss might be the only change in equity for the reporting period. Also, stakeholders have 

indicated that the information presented in the statement of changes in equity could otherwise 

be disclosed as part of the notes to the financial statements, which would be sufficient to meet 

users’ needs.  As such, the Board observed that not requiring a statement of changes in equity 

may be a proportionate response to the Tier 3 reporting requirements. 

5.19 Noting the differing perspectives above, the Board has not yet formed a view on whether a 

statement of changes in equity should be required as part of the specified set of Tier 3 primary 

financial statements. Accordingly, the Board is interested in obtaining further stakeholder 

feedback on the usefulness of the statement of changes in equity to users.  

Information to be presented on the face of the statement of financial position and 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

5.20 The Board heard feedback from some stakeholders about a need for better consistency and 

comparability of items presented on the face of the primary financial statements. For example, 

some stakeholders supported the development of presentation requirements with more 

specificity of the line items to those specified by AASB 1060 or AASB 101 Presentation of 

Financial Statements. Consequently, the Board considered whether it should – and if so, how 

– make the presentation of the financial statements simpler for preparers without sacrificing 

usefulness to users.  

5.21 The Board discussed three approaches it could take in a Tier 3 accounting standard:  

(a) a “checklist” approach – prescribe the set of line items and totals that must be 

presented, without alteration;  

(b) a “tailoring” approach – amend and prescribe the minimum line items specified by 

AASB 1060 to recognise that the Tier 3 reporting tier is intended for use by entities 

with less complex transactions, and use terminology that may be more commonly 

employed by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities; or 
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(c) a “supplementary material” approach – develop requirements for presentation on the 

face of the financial statements consistent with AASB 1060.9 These requirements 

would be supplemented by explanatory guidance and education materials that explain 

the flexibility in the presentation of financial information, including further aggregation 

or disaggregation or use of different titles and labels when appropriate.  

5.22 The Board has formed a preliminary view to develop requirements consistent with a 

“supplementary material” approach. This approach:  

(a) maintains the consistency of presentation requirements across all reporting tiers;10 

(b) better invites the entity to use the financial statements to ‘tell their story’;  

(c) allows management to determine the level of aggregation or disaggregation of line 

items presented on the face of the financial statement based on the needs of their 

users; and 

(d) may be able to educate preparers and accommodate a growing entity with 

increasingly sophisticated users, rather than catering to existing accounting literacy. 

5.23 The Board does not expect its proposals to change many entities’ existing presentation. An 

exception will be cases where an entity’s existing detail on the face of its financial statements 

does not currently provide users with a relevant understanding of the entity’s financial 

performance and financial position (for example, because it is too condensed or too detailed). 

However, the Board considers that the explanatory material will limit the costs incurred by a 

preparer from needing to change its existing practice.  

5.24 In forming its view, the Board recognised that the 'supplementary' approach accords entities 

more subjectivity (and potentially requires more judgement compared to the “tailoring” or 

“checklist” approaches). However, the Board rejected both the “tailoring” or “checklist” 

approach based on the following: 

(a) both these approaches could impose more requirements and possibly require more 

mandatory information to be presented about the entity compared to an entity 

complying with AASB 1060 (for example, because there is more specified 

disaggregation of information on the face of the financial statements); 

(b) adopting a “checklist” approach may better accord with smaller entities that regard the 

financial statements as primarily a regulatory compliance exercise by forcing an entity 

to present its assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses using only the prescribed 

line items. However, limiting the role of financial statements as simply a regulatory 

compliance exercise ignores its importance and value as a tool for communication and 

discharging accountability to satisfy users’ needs; and 

(a) presentation of prescribed categories of income and expenses could be difficult to 

apply in practice. It may not easily address the needs of all users, as not-for-profit 

entities operate across a broad range of fields.  

Information to be presented on the face of the statement of cash flows 

5.25 The Board observed that many preparers regard the statement of cash flows as one of the 

more challenging financial statements to prepare. However, stakeholders have indicated that 

the statement of cash flows is a necessary component of Tier 3 financial statements as it 

provides users with useful information on the entity’s cash flows, including understanding the 

 
9  AASB 1060 requirements would be adapted to reflect other preliminary views of the Board set out in this 

Discussion Paper. For example, the Board might not develop a requirement for separate presentation of assets 
held for sale or deferred tax balances on the face of the statement of financial position as the Board is not 
intending to develop related recognition requirements. 

10  The Board observed that in developing AASB 101, the Board has determined that no amendment was necessary 
to apply the Standard by not-for-profit entities.  
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entity’s solvency. Consequently, in recognition of developing Tier 3 as a proportionate 

response, the Board intends to propose minor amendments to the form of the statement of 

cash flows specified by AASB 1060 to alleviate some costs incurred by preparers in 

presenting the statement.  

5.26 The Board has formed a preliminary view to require the statement of cash flows to present:  

(a) cash flows from operating activities separately from other cash flows. There will be no 

need to separately distinguish cash flows from investing activities from cash flows 

relating to financing activities; and 

(b) cash flows from operating activities using the direct method. Under the direct method, 

major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments are disclosed. There 

will be no requirement to disclose a reconciliation of the net cash flows from operating 

activities to the profit or loss (the indirect method) in the notes to the financial 

statements.  

5.27 The Board decided the benefits of retaining the investing/financing distinction appear limited 

given the Board's expectation that these cash flows will likely be limited in nature and as each 

major class of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments remain separately disclosed. 

Eliminating this distinction:  

(a) reduces an element of judgement from preparation of the financial statement which 

may, in turn, reduce potential confusion of the preparers and users;  

(b) recognises that users of the financial statements are likely to be more interested in 

whether the entity has deployed cash in a manner consistent with the entity’s not-for-

profit objectives and in its ability to continue to operate; and 

(c) recognises that management of smaller not-for-profit private sector entities are 

unlikely to monitor cash flows to such detail. 

5.28 The Board observed that comparability of the financial statements to those of a higher 

reporting tier is not impaired as only separate subtotals for investing and financing cash flows 

are not presented, and the core information is still available to users. Consequently, there is 

no real loss of benefit to users of the proposed amendment while providing a cost saving to 

preparers.  

5.29 Specifying only a single manner of reporting cash flows from operating activities provides clear 

direction to preparers. Based on a limited sample, the direct method: 

(a) currently appears to be predominately applied by management; 

(b) improves comparability between entities; and 

(c) gives users and management more visibility of where cash has been spent compared 

to the indirect method.  

Overall, the Board considered that the benefits of requiring the report of cash flows from 

operating activities using only the direct method would exceed any costs of limiting the existing 

optionality. 

5.30 The Board is also interested in seeking feedback on whether other possible simplifications can 

be considered for the statement of cash flows. For example, some stakeholders have 

indicated that the requirement in Interpretation 1031 Accounting for the Goods and Services 

Tax (GST) to present cash flows arising from operating activities in the statement of cash 

flows on a gross basis, including those relating to the GST component recoverable from, or 

payable to, the taxation authority, can be challenging for smaller entities. As such, the Board 

seeks feedback on other possible simplifications, including whether presenting cash flows net 

of GST should be considered.  



Development of Simplified Accounting Requirements  
 (Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Private Sector Entities) 

DISCUSSION PAPER Page 40 of 122 

Cash flows forming part of the statement of cash flows 

5.31 The Board observed that cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits, overdrafts and 

short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value (e.g. short-term term deposits). There 

may be diversity in practice as to whether such investments are included in the statements of 

cash flows as some entities may not associate these investments as part of cash available for 

use by the entity. 

5.32 To provide clarity and eliminate any diversity in practice, the Board considered whether it 

would be a proportionate response for its Tier 3 reporting requirements to limit the statement 

of cash flows to the reporting of solely cash and overdrafts. That is, for example, to exclude all 

term deposits regardless of whether the deposit was originally of a 1-month maturity term or 

12-month term.  

5.33 Ultimately, the Board decided not to propose such a requirement but to retain consistency with 

the statement of cash flows specified by AASB 1060. The Board considered that the costs of 

departing from other reporting tiers would exceed the benefits of a more straightforward 

exercise for preparers for the following reasons:  

(a) cash equivalents are largely similar to cash and reflecting them in the statement of 

cash flows is important to demonstrate stewardship of an entity’s resources. The 

exclusion of cash equivalents from the statement of cash flows potentially 

misrepresents the solvency of the entity to users;  

(b) the Board would need to clarify how cash management activities (conversion of cash 

into cash equivalents, or vice versa) are reported in the statement of cash flows;  

(c) transactions involving cash equivalents are likely to occur less regularly than cash and 

should not be difficult to identify. Hence, any costs of manual adjustments to recognise 

accounting software limitations could be expected to be limited; and  

(d) while management may not necessarily consider the entity’s holdings of cash 

equivalents when monitoring cash flows or reviewing available cash, having 

inconsistent requirements to the Tier 1 and Tier 2 statement of cash flows introduces 

unnecessary complexity for users in an area that preparers have not identified as 

being of concern. 

Consolidated financial statements 

 
5.34 Consolidation is one of the areas of challenge for many entities. The Board is aware that there 

are smaller not-for-profit private sector entities that are parent entities. The Board is also 

conscious that avoiding consolidation may be a reason some entities presently elect to 

prepare special purpose financial statements. Consequently, the Board considered it 

necessary to address whether Tier 3 reporting requirements should require the consolidation 

of subsidiaries.  

5.35 From its initial outreach, the Board observed that complexities with presenting consolidated 

financial statements appear to be less about the mechanics of consolidation accounting and 

more about identifying subsidiaries. The complexities shared with the Board included:  
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(a) challenges and costs in identifying a complete set of subsidiaries; for example, 

because information is not readily available to the not-for-profit entity; and  

(b) a stakeholder view that consolidated financial statements do not provide useful 

information compared to entity-level financial statements for each entity in the group. 

This is either because users are interested only in a particular activity at an entity level 

or because the preparer disagrees with identifying an entity as a subsidiary subject to 

consolidation.    

Example – scenario where consolidated financial statement may not provide useful 

information  

Some users of the financial statements of a church that owns and operates a school may be 

interested only in financial information about the church’s religious activities or only in the 

school’s financial performance and position.  

Some stakeholders hold the view that the church should not consolidate the school because 

the school operates independently of the church.  

5.36 In developing Tier 2 reporting requirements, the Board decided to continue to require the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements. This decision was made considering the 

findings from AASB Research Report 13 Parent, Subsidiary and Group Financial Reporting . 

The Research Report suggested that users of the financial statements find consolidated 

financial statements useful for their decision making. The Board noted, in its Basis for 

Conclusions to AASB 2020-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of 

Special Purpose Financial Statements for Certain For-Profit Private Sector Entities, that “The 

feedback … provided further support to the Board’s view that consolidated financial 

statements are essential to provide users with transparent and complete information about the 

financial position and financial performance of the group and the entities in the group.” 

5.37 The Board has not changed its view about the usefulness of consolidated financial statements 

in reporting the resources under an entity’s control. In particular, the Board considers that 

consolidated financial statements avoid the potential for similar entities to present very 

different pictures of their financial position and performance based on having different 

organisational structures and arrangements. Also, the Board observed that the matters noted 

in paragraph 5.35 are not unique to smaller not-for-profit private sector entities. Therefore, the 

Board considered consolidating subsidiaries an appropriate accounting requirement even for 

smaller not-for-profit private sector entities.  

5.38 However, the Board has formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement that allows a 

parent entity the choice of presenting: 

(a) consolidated financial statements; or  

(b) separate financial statements as its only set of financial statements (for the Board’s 

preliminary view on the mitigating disclosures see also paragraph 5.54). Separate 

financial statements are entity-level financial statements in which subsidiaries are not 

consolidated. 

5.39 In forming its view, the Board considered its objectives in developing an additional differential 

reporting tier. The Board decided to allow a parent entity an accounting policy choice on 

consideration of factors including:  

(a) the costs incurred by a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity to prepare 

consolidated financial statements are likely to be relatively larger. The Board also 

observed that management might not use consolidated information;  

(b) in some instances, unconsolidated financial statements are presently accepted to 

satisfy legislative requirements. This suggests that the legislative requirements regard 
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management’s accountability for the entity as being sufficiently discharged through the 

provision of such financial statements; and 

(c) in many instances, a not-for-profit private sector entity that is a subsidiary must lodge 

financial statements even if it forms part of the consolidated financial statements of its 

parent entity. 

5.40 The Board noted that an entity might still need to calculate its consolidated assets, 

consolidated revenue or another threshold amount to determine its legislative reporting 

obligations (including whether it has to prepare financial statements that comply with 

Australian Accounting Standards). Also, some entities may elect to present consolidated 

financial statements to access relief from lodging financial statements for each subsidiary 

entity.    

5.41 The Board did not discuss other exemptions and exceptions to presenting consolidated 

financial statements (for example, the investment entity exception) as it is only consulting on 

its general approach to accounting for interests in subsidiaries at this stage of its project. 

However, in keeping with its objectives for developing Tier 3 reporting requirements, the Board 

is unlikely to require a parent preparing Tier 3-compliant financial statements to consolidate a 

subsidiary where such accounting is not required by an investor preparing financial statements 

that comply with Tier 1 or Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards.  

Control 

5.42 The Board observed the feedback from its initial outreach does not suggest that consolidation 

should be based on a notion other than control. The Board considers that ‘control’ should have 

the same meaning in a Tier 3 Standard as in Tier 1 and Tier 2 Australian Accounting 

Standards. Whether an entity controls another entity should be evaluated consistently 

irrespective of the reporting tier.  

5.43 However, the Board discussed whether to develop a list of objective criteria that must be 

present for control to exist. Such a list would eliminate some subjectivity and complexity from 

the evaluation process and provide more certainty to preparers of Tier 3 financial statements. 

The Board rejected doing so for the following reasons:  

(a) it is a departure from principles-based standard-setting; 

(b) it could create potential differences from the conclusion drawn at a different reporting 

tier; and 

(c) it might be difficult to develop suitable criteria where control is not via an ownership 

interest. 

5.44 From its initial outreach, the Board understands that some stakeholders have implementation 

concerns about the guidance on control in AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

These concerns impact not-for-profit private sector entities of all sizes. Consequently, the 

Board will consider these concerns as part of the Board’s post-implementation review of the 

application guidance for not-for-profit entities in AASB 10, rather than as part of this project. 

Consolidation of some, but not all, subsidiaries 

5.45 The Board considered whether it should develop a requirement to permit an entity to 

consolidate some, but not all, its subsidiaries. The partially consolidated financial statements 

would be supplemented by summary financial information.  

5.46 The Board rejected this approach for a range of reasons, including: 

(a) it does not improve comparability between entities, as different entities may make 

different consolidation choices in respect of subsidiaries of a similar nature. This adds 



Development of Simplified Accounting Requirements  
 (Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Private Sector Entities) 

DISCUSSION PAPER Page 43 of 122 

to user costs of understanding the financial statements. In addition, there is reduced 

comparability with entities complying with Tier 1 or Tier 2 reporting requirements; and 

(b) the potential for abuse of the requirement through selective consolidation choices, 

which could be relevant for solvency and future grant funding assessments or for 

determining the entity’s legislative reporting obligations. 

Interaction with the Board’s proposals for setting reporting thresholds 

5.47 The Board is not proposing to specify reporting thresholds (refer paragraph 1.4). 

Consequently, it is possible that some larger not-for-profit private sector entities or entities 

conducting activities of public interest present unconsolidated financial statements that comply 

with Tier 3 reporting requirements. In the Board’s view, a larger not-for-profit private sector 

entity will not usually be the type of entity preparing financial statements that comply with 

Tier 3 reporting requirements. The reporting tier is not being developed with these entities in 

mind.  

Separate financial statements of the parent  

5.48 The Board has formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement for a parent that presents 

separate financial statements to measure its interests in subsidiaries either:  

(a) at cost;  

(b) at fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

(c) using the equity method of accounting.  

5.49 The Board expects that smaller not-for-profit private sector entities presenting separate 

financial statements will, in the main, measure any interests in subsidiaries at cost. 

Measurement at cost may be an appropriate proportionate accounting policy as the entity’s 

interest in a subsidiary will, in many instances, be an avenue for furthering the entity’s not-for-

profit objectives rather than as a financial investment vehicle.  

5.50 As an alternative to measurement at cost, the Board decided to permit a parent entity to 

measure its interest in its subsidiaries at fair value through other comprehensive income in the 

entity’s separate financial statements. This allows a parent entity to treat its interests in its 

subsidiaries in the same manner as required under the Board’s preliminary proposals for 

financial instruments which are held to generate both an income and capital return for the 

entity. This measurement basis could provide relevant information to users of a parent entity’s 

financial statements where the entity determines the substance of its interest in its subsidiaries 

is a financial investment. 

5.51 The Board also decided to permit a parent entity to measure its interest in its subsidiaries 

using the equity method of accounting as an alternative to measurement at cost. This allows a 

parent entity to treat its interests in its subsidiaries in the same manner as required under the 

Board’s preliminary proposals for an entity’s investments in associates. This measurement 

basis could provide relevant information to users of a parent entity’s financial statements 

where the parent determines that the substance of its interest in its subsidiaries is more akin to 

that of an associate interest, even though legally or contractually the parent has power over 

those other entities and the ability to use its power to affect its returns.  

5.52 However, the Board observed that, especially in the not-for-profit sector, control might be by 

contract or other relationship rather than by a shareholding giving the entity voting power in 

the subsidiary entity. Consequently, the cost or equity accounted interest in a subsidiary may 

be nil or a nominal amount.  

5.53 The Board considered that measurement at cost or equity-accounted amount without 

accompanying consolidated financial information about the subsidiary does not provide 
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financial statement users with sufficient information about the parent entity’s structures and 

arrangements. Without mitigating disclosures, it might be difficult to view the separate financial 

statements as general purpose. As a result, the Board has formed a preliminary view to 

develop disclosure requirements that would provide users of the financial statements with 

information about a parent entity’s significant relationships. These disclosures would form part 

of a parent entity’s separate financial statements, where these are the only set of financial 

statements presented.  

5.54 The Board is seeking feedback about its preliminary view to allow a parent to elect not to 

present consolidated financial statements but to present only separate financial statements 

accompanied by disclosures about the entity’s significant relationships. Consequently, the 

Board has not discussed the form or extent of these disclosures, nor the subsidiaries for which 

information would be required. However, these disclosures could include general information, 

and possibly summary financial information, about the subsidiaries.  

Changes in accounting policies and accounting errors  

 

5.55 AASB 108 Changes in Accounting Policies, Accounting Estimates and Errors requires the 

effect of voluntary changes in accounting policies and correction of prior period accounting 

errors to be reflected retrospectively in the presented financial statements, unless it is 

impracticable to do so. In these instances, the entity is required to reflect the new accounting 

policy or correct the prior period error:  

(a) at the beginning of the earliest period for which retrospective application is practicable, 

and make a corresponding adjustment to the opening balance of each affected 

component of equity that period (a ‘modified retrospective’ basis); or  

(b) if it is not practicable to determine such cumulative effect, to apply the new policy or 

correct the error prospectively from the earliest date practicable. 

Changes in accounting policies 

5.56 The Board considered that an entity preparing Tier 3 general purpose financial statements 

should be able to voluntarily change its accounting policy to another available accounting 

policy (e.g. from the cost basis to the revaluation basis), provided the change results in the 

financial statements providing reliable and more relevant information about the effects of 

transactions, other events or conditions on the entity’s financial position, performance or cash 

flows. Consequently, the Board discussed whether it is necessary to require the accounting 

treatment specified by AASB 108 for changes in accounting policies and correction of errors in 

Tier 3 general purpose financial statements.  

5.57 The AASB often permits a modified retrospective approach in setting transitional provisions for 

new Standards, usually for cost-benefit reasons. While the Board’s initial outreach has not 

suggested that entities find the accounting specified by AASB 108 to be difficult to apply, the 

Board has formed a preliminary view to applying a similar general approach to changes in 

accounting policies in its Tier 3 reporting requirements. It considers this approach strikes an 

appropriate cost-benefit balance for smaller entities as it: 
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(a) is more straightforward to apply; while 

(b) continues to distinguish the cumulative effects of transactions and events about a prior 

period from the impact of transactions and events occurring in the current period. 

5.58 Some comparability is sacrificed under the proposed approach as the comparative financial 

statements will not be restated. However, the benefits of having restated comparative 

information are not expected to exceed the costs of restating the prior period’s financial 

statements. This is due to the once-off nature of the adjustment and the expectation that users 

of Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entity financial statements would not regard such 

restatement as crucial. 

Example – reconciliations for the accounting for a change in accounting policy 

During the 20X3 financial year, XYZ Inc (‘XYZ’) decides to change its accounting policy for 

land from the cost basis to the revaluation basis. The change in accounting policy is effective 1 

July 20X2.  

The cost of the land is $3 million. The fair value of land at 30 June 20X3, 1 July 20X2 and 1 

July 20X1 is $5 million, $4.2 million and $4.1 million respectively. 

The reconciliations below illustrate the accounting for a change in accounting policy under the 

Board’s proposals, and on a fully retrospective or prospective basis. 

 
 

5.59 The Board did not discuss the treatment of changes in accounting policies should it add to, or 

amend, its proposed stand-alone accounting standard in the future (a ‘mandatory’ change in 

accounting policy). The Board expects transitional provisions, including those referred in 

paragraph 2.18 regarding first-time application, to be developed at those times, if necessary. 

Accounting errors 

5.60 For the reasons set out in paragraphs 5.56 – 5.58, the Board similarly proposes to develop a 

requirement for a modified retrospective approach to applying to corrections of accounting 

errors.  

Changes in accounting estimates  

5.61 The Board proposes to develop a requirement for changes in accounting estimates to be 

accounted for prospectively, consistent with AASB 108. It has not identified any reason to 

develop a different requirement for Tier 3 general purpose financial statements.   

 and   mil 

 ully retrospective 

 AA B     

 odified retrospective 

  ier   proposal 

 rospective 

        
 restated 

                

Opening balance  .2 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Change in accounting policy  1.1 1.2    

Restated opening balance   .1  .2    

Change in accounting policy      1.2  

Revaluation increase during period (OCI) 0. 0.1 0.  0.  

Closing balance 5.0  .2 5.0 3.0 5.0 3.0
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Financial instruments  

 

5.62 The Accounting Standards specifying the recognition and measurement of financial 

instruments in Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards are:   

(a) AASB 9 Financial Instruments;  

(b) AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation; and  

(c) AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

5.63 Many stakeholders regard AASB 9 to be a complex accounting standard. This view is 

consistent with the breadth of its scope being to provide useful information to users of the 

financial statements of financial instruments held by financial institutions and non-financial 

institutions, financial instruments held by start-ups and other simple businesses and those 

held by entities employing more complex financial management strategies. Hence, the Board 

considered that it is necessary to develop simpler reporting requirements for financial 

instruments compared to those specified by the Tier 1 reporting requirements. 

5.64 The Board’s proposed accounting for financial instruments in a Tier 3 Standard is summarised 

in Table 5.1: 

Table 5.1: Proposed accounting for financial instruments   

Topic Summary of the proposed accounting for financial instruments   

Scope  Simpler reporting requirements will be developed for identified basic or simple 

financial instruments that the Board considers to be most commonly held by 

Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities as identified in paragraph 5.69.  

The Board intends to require other financial instruments that are more 'complex', 

as noted in paragraph 5.74(a), to be accounted for in accordance with AASB 9, 

AASB 132 or AASB 139, as appropriate, without specific not-for-profit private 

sector entity guidance. However, hedge accounting will not be permitted. More 

'complex' financial instruments are those that the Board would not expect to be 

held by a Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector.  

Other financial instruments that are not specifically addressed as noted in 

paragraph 5.74(b) are to be accounted for consistent with the Tier 3 financial 

instrument requirements. 

Initial recognition of 

basic financial 

assets and basic 

financial liabilities 

Consistent with AASB 9, a basic financial asset and financial liability is 

recognised when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 

financial instrument. 
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Topic Summary of the proposed accounting for financial instruments   

Initial measurement 

of basic financial 

assets and basic 

financial liabilities 

A basic financial asset (including donated assets) and financial liability is initially 

measured at its fair value. Transaction costs and fees incurred by the entity are 

expensed immediately. 

Classification of 

basic financial assets 

and basic financial 

liabilities  

An entity will not be required to classify basic financial assets and financial 

liabilities in the manner specified by AASB 9. 

Accounting policy 

choices 

An entity will not be able to choose how a basic financial asset or financial liability 

is subsequently measured. The accounting policy for financial assets and 

financial liabilities will be dictated by their nature. 

Subsequent 

measurement of 

basic financial assets 

Basic financial assets are subsequently measured as follows:  

• financial assets that are held to generate both income and capital return for 
the entity – at fair value through other comprehensive income; and  

• all other basic financial assets – at cost, less any accumulated impairment. 
Any initial premium or discount on acquisition of the asset is amortised over 
the expected life of the financial asset. 

• Interest on a basic financial asset is recognised as income when the entity is 

entitled to the interest. Interest is measured by reference to the instrument’s 

contractual interest rate.  

Subsequent 

measurement of 

basic financial 

liabilities 

Basic financial liabilities are subsequently measured at cost. Any initial premium 

or discount is amortised over the expected life of the financial liability.  

Interest on the financial liability is recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Interest is measured by reference to the instrument’s contractual interest rate.  

Impairment  A basic financial asset is impaired when it is probable that the full carrying 

amount will not be collectible. (That is, impairment is assessed by reference to an 

‘incurred loss’ model.)  

Derecognition of a 

basic financial asset  

A basic financial asset is derecognised when either:  

• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are 
settled; or  

• the entity otherwise loses control of the financial asset. 

Derecognition of a 

basic financial 

liability 

A basic financial liability is derecognised when the obligation is discharged, 

cancelled or expires.  

An entity treats a modification of the terms of a financial liability or an exchange of 

a debt instrument for a different debt instrument as an extinguishment of the 

original financial liability. 

5.65 The Board’s preliminary views on financial instruments are discussed further in the remainder 

of this section of the Discussion Paper.  

Scope 

5.66 The Board observed the limited variety and basic nature of the financial instruments within the 

scope of AASB 9 that are expected to be commonly held by smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities. In response, the Board considered that to be consistent with its objectives for 



Development of Simplified Accounting Requirements  
 (Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Private Sector Entities) 

DISCUSSION PAPER Page 48 of 122 

the stand-alone Tier 3 Standard (see paragraph 4.5) it should develop simpler requirements 

only for such financial instruments.  

5.67 Figure 5.2 summarises the Board’s proposed approach for financial instruments. Paragraphs 

5.68 to 5.76 provide further explanation, including the Board’s rationale for its preliminary 

views.  

Figure 5.2: Proposed approach to accounting for financial instruments 

 

5.68 The Board has formed a preliminary view that a Tier 3 Standard will identify the basic financial 

instruments for which simpler requirements will apply.  

5.69 From its work to date on this project, the Board has identified the following basic financial 

assets and financial liabilities for which it intends to develop specified simpler reporting 

requirements as part of its Tier 3 reporting requirements:  

(a) cash and cash equivalents;  

(b) trade and other receivables;  

(c) security bonds and similar debt instruments;  

(d) term deposits and government bonds;   

(e) units held in managed investment schemes, unit trusts and similar other investment 

vehicles;  

(f) ordinary shares held in listed and non-listed entities;  

(g) trade and other payables; and  

(h) loans. 

5.70 Loans might be interest-bearing at a fixed or variable amount, interest-free, or include terms 

that create leverage. They may be provided to the entity from unrelated third parties or from a 

related party. 

5.71 As indicated in paragraphs 5.66 and 5.67, the list in paragraph 5.69 is intended to identify the 

typical basic financial assets and financial liabilities held by smaller not-for-profit private sector 

entities. Feedback received on this Discussion Paper and further AASB research efforts during 

the public consultation period may inform the Board of other financial instruments that should 

be added to this list, or complexities that might sometimes arise in respect of those 

instruments listed and might need to be considered by the Board. 
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Other financial assets and financial liabilities 

5.72 In the Board’s view, an entity that holds ‘more complex’ financial instruments (i.e. financial 

instruments other than those identified in paragraph 5.69) will not usually be the type of entity 

preparing financial statements that comply with Tier 3 reporting requirements. The Board 

expects that an entity engaging in transactions or other events giving rise to holdings of 

complex financial instruments should be able to apply the more complex accounting specified 

by existing Australian Accounting Standards to those instruments.  

5.73 However, the Board wants to avoid a situation whereby significant numbers of Tier 3 preparers 

would need to consider a Tier 3 Standard and also AASB 9, AASB 132 and AASB 139 in 

accounting for financial instruments. Requiring not-for-profit entities to invest their limited 

resources in identifying potential financial instruments or considering AASB 9 requirements is 

not consistent with the Board’s objectives in developing a third reporting tier.  

5.74 Consequently, the Board has formed the following preliminary views:  

(a) to develop a requirement for certain ‘more complex’ financial instruments to be 

accounted for consistent with AASB 9 (or other Australian Accounting Standard, as 

appropriate) if not otherwise addressed by a topic-based Tier 3 requirement (e.g. 

employee benefit obligations); and  

(b) for Tier 3 reporting requirements not to specifically highlight or address particular 

financial instruments or transactions considered in AASB 9, AASB 132 and AASB 139, 

because these items and transactions are not common to not-for-profit private sector 

entities. 

Examples of 'more complex' financial instruments  

The Board has not formed a preliminary view on the extent of items or transactions that would 

fall into the 'more complex' financial instruments category. However, examples of financial 

instruments for which the accounting would be consistent with AASB 9 include:  

(a) purchased debt instruments such as listed corporate bonds and convertible notes; 

(b) acquired equity instruments such as preference shares;  

(c) financial guarantee contracts;  

(d) interest rate swaps and forward exchange contracts; and 

(e) commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate.  

 

Examples of financial instruments that are not specifically addressed in Tier 3 Standard 

The Board has not formed a preliminary view on the extent of financial instruments or 

transactions that would not be specifically addressed in Tier 3 Standard. However, examples 

of unaddressed items and transactions could include issued compound financial instruments, 

puttable financial instruments, treasury shares, loan commitments and contracts to buy or sell 

a non-financial item that can be settled net in cash, and transfers of financial assets.  

If such items are present, an entity would need to consider how to account for the item 

consistent with Tier 3 financial instrument requirements. For example, this may mean that an 

issued compound financial instrument is classified wholly as equity rather than separated into 

its component parts, and that contracts to buy or sell a non-financial item that can be settled 

net in cash are not treated as financial instruments.  

5.75 Regarding paragraph 5.74(a), the Board has not yet discussed how such requirements would 

be operationalised in its Tier 3 reporting requirements. For example, the Tier 3 Standard could 
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specify that an entity applies the accounting prescribed by AASB 9 to the financial instrument 

(i.e. incorporation by cross-reference, for example, for financial guarantee contracts), or 

specify requirements within the Tier 3 Standard that correspond to the requirements of 

AASB 9 (for example, for derivatives). The Board is at this stage only seeking feedback on its 

preliminary view to require accounting consistent with AASB 9 for financial instruments that 

are not basic financial instruments.  

5.76 The Board does not intend to develop requirements that would apply to all financial 

instruments with similar characteristics or fall into the same category. For example, the Board 

does not intend to develop simpler requirements for all financial assets that involve cash flows 

that are “solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding”. While 

recognising that this could result in financial instruments of a similar nature to the entity being 

treated differently, the Board considered it more important that a Tier 3 Standard provides 

clear direction to preparers regarding the requirements applicable to specific financial 

instruments.  

Example – Categories of financial instruments and examples of the financial products 

 

 

Embedded derivatives  

5.77 The Board observed that an entity might hold derivative financial instruments that are not 

readily identifiable and measurable as they are not ‘stand-alone’ acquired derivatives. For 

example, various loan commitments may meet the definition of a derivative. Also, some 

contracts include terms that embed a derivative within the contract (e.g. an entity may enter 

into a lease arrangement where the lease payments are linked to a consumer price index or 

assume a debt instrument that is subject to an interest rate floor).  

5.78 The Board is conscious that the benefits from recognition of derivative financial instruments 

other than interest rate swaps, forward exchange contracts and similar instruments may be 

more limited for a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity compared to other private sector 

entities. Also, as noted in paragraph 5.73, the Board does not want entities to unnecessarily 

incur costs searching for potential financial instruments. Additionally, the Board observed that:  

(a) analysing the terms of an embedded derivative, once identified, to determine the 

appropriate accounting under AASB 9 can be challenging even for a larger preparer; 

and  

(b) the embedded derivative need not be separately recognised for the ‘cash’ impacts of 

the embedded derivative to be reflected in the entity’s financial statements.  

5.79 Consequently, the Board formed a preliminary view that a proportionate response for Tier 3 

reporting requirements would be to not require an entity to separately recognise certain 

derivative financial instruments when they are not readily identifiable and measurable, 

including any embedded derivatives.  

Category  Characteristics  xample financial products

Debt instrument with a fixed or variable rate of 

return over the life of the instrument. The 

instrument does not contain any contractual 

provision for early repayment which could result in 

the holder losing the principal amount or any 

accrued interest.

 Term deposit ( basic  financial instruments)

  overnment bonds that pays a variable market interest rate, up to 

an interest rate cap ( basic financial instruments)

 Convertible bond ( complex  financial instruments)

Derivative financial instrument 

 Interest rate swap ( complex financial instruments)

 Forward exchange contract ( complex  financial instruments)

  oan commitments that can be settled net in cash (apply 

accounting consistent with Tier 3 financial instruments 

requirements)
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5.80 Notwithstanding the Board’s preliminary view in paragraph 5.74(b), the Board noted that 

preparers and other users of the Tier 3 Standard would benefit from a clear direction not to 

search for these derivative financial instruments. However, the Board does not want to 

develop such direction if unnecessary, as this adds complexity to a Tier 3 Standard. 

Therefore, the Board is seeking feedback to help inform it of the extent to which a smaller not-

for-profit private sector entity is likely to have derivatives embedded within its contracts or 

enter into arrangements or contracts that result in a derivative financial instrument.  

Hedge accounting 

5.81 The Board observed that it is possible some smaller not-for-profit private sector entities could 

acquire a derivative financial instrument to hedge an exposure as part of the entity’s financial 

management strategy. For the following reasons, the Board has formed a preliminary view not 

to allow hedge accounting as an accounting policy choice as part of its Tier 3 reporting 

requirements:  

(a) retaining the hedge accounting requirements in AASB 9 and AASB 139 would not be 

consistent with its objectives in developing Tier 3 reporting requirements as an 

proportionate response for smaller not-for-profit private sector entities; and 

(b) hedge accounting is unlikely to be a practice adopted by many smaller not-for-profit 

private sector entities. Consequently, the Board thinks it is unnecessary to direct its 

resources to developing simpler conditions for hedge accounting, as it is unlikely to 

have widespread use.  

5.82 Based on the Board’s preliminary views, derivative financial instruments would be measured 

at fair value. Gains and losses on the instrument would be recognised as they arise in profit or 

loss over the life of the instrument.  

Initial measurement of basic financial assets and financial liabilities 

5.83 The Board does not have any evidence suggesting that the fair value on initial recognition of a 

basic financial asset and financial liability by a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity would 

typically be an amount different from the transaction price. Therefore, the Board was not 

convinced that it is necessary to differentiate Tier 3 reporting requirements from AASB 9. 

Hence, the Board formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement for basic financial 

assets and financial liabilities to be recognised at fair value.  

5.84 The Board expects to be informed by stakeholder feedback as to whether such a 

measurement basis is likely to result in disproportionate costs for smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities, for example, because of an increasing use of buy-now-pay-later or instalment 

payment arrangements by these entities.  

5.85 However, the Board has formed a preliminary view to require the entity’s directly attributable 

transaction costs and fees to acquire a financial asset or assume a financial liability to be 

immediately expensed. The Board made this decision considering that the relative amount of 

transaction costs would generally be insignificant to the financial statements. Requiring these 

costs to be immediately expensed eliminates costs of identifying, monitoring and amortising 

the costs while unlikely to result in any material misrepresentation of the financial instrument.  

Subsequent measurement of basic financial assets and financial liabilities 

5.86 Under AASB 9, the following measurement bases would, in the main, apply to the basic 

financial instruments identified in paragraph 5.69: 
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(a) current value (fair value) – cash and cash equivalents, units held in managed 

investment schemes, unit trusts and other similar investment vehicles, and ordinary 

shares held in listed and non-listed entities; and 

(b) historical cost – trade and other receivables, security bonds and similar debt 

instruments, term deposits and government bonds, trade and other payables, and 

loans. 

5.87 The feedback from the Board’s preliminary outreach activity and on ITC 47 Request for 

Comment on IASB Request for Information on Post-implementation Review of IFRS 9 

Financial Instruments – Classification and Measurement has not highlighted stakeholder 

concern with the appropriateness of the split between cost and fair value measurement bases. 

Hence, the Board considered that these measurement bases provide a suitable basis for 

developing its simpler requirements for basic financial assets and liabilities.  

5.88 The Board was not inclined to develop requirements that would provide an entity with the 

flexibility to elect to measure any financial asset at fair value. The Board considered it 

unnecessary to do so as it expects that smaller not-for-profit private sector entities are, in the 

main, unlikely to want to adopt such policy for financial assets and financial liabilities 

conventionally held at amortised cost. Specifying only a single accounting method for a 

particular form of a financial asset or financial liability clarifies the accounting for the preparer 

and improves comparability between entities. 

Basic financial assets that are held to generate both income and capital investment return 

5.89 Under AASB 9, debt instruments such as government bonds (but not units in a unit trust) may 

be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, rather than at amortised cost, 

provided certain conditions are met. Similarly, equity instruments such as shares may qualify 

to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and entities would generally 

make this election. Stakeholders have also indicated that presenting the fair value movements 

on financial instruments as part of operating activities in the profit or loss is not regarded as 

providing useful information to users of its financial statements.  

5.90 Based on ITC 47 and its preliminary outreach feedback on this project, the Board understands 

that some stakeholders think that fair value gains and losses on units held in a unit trust or 

managed investment scheme should similarly be recognised outside profit or loss. 

Stakeholder reasons for such accounting include:  

(a) their view that an entity’s indirect investment in a managed pool of shares should be 

treated consistently as if the entity had directly acquired those share investments; and 

(b) that recognition of the gain or loss in other comprehensive income provides users of 

the financial statements with insight into the stewardship of the entity’s longer-term 

investments. It also avoids introducing volatility (in the form of unrealised fair value 

gains and losses) to the profit or loss. 

5.91 The Board observed that aligning the accounting for units held in a managed investment 

scheme with that of ordinary shares makes the application of accounting requirements more 

straightforward. Little information is “lost” to users of the financial statements because fair 

value movements on the financial asset continue to be recognised. Therefore, the Board 

considered that a proportionate response for its Tier 3 reporting requirements would require 

basic financial assets that are held to generate both income and a capital return (those assets 

for which the principal is subject to loss) to be measured consistently.  

5.92 The Board discussed whether to develop a requirement to measure such financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss, or at fair value through comprehensive income. Ultimately, the 

Board formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement for basic financial assets that are 
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held to generate both income and a capital return to be measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. The Board made this decision for the following reasons:  

(a) it acknowledges that the entity’s primary interest in holding these financial assets is to 

obtain a periodic return to fund the entity’s not-for-profit activities rather than to 

generate capital gains; and 

(b) keeping the fair value gains and losses on financial assets outside the profit or loss 

separates the entity’s ‘non-operating’ activity gains and losses from its operating 

activities. This distinction may provide less sophisticated users with more 

understandable information.    

5.93 Other than dividends and interest return, all gains and losses on the financial asset are 

recognised outside the profit or loss. This includes crystalised gains and losses on the sale or 

disposal of the financial asset.  

Cost as an appropriate measurement basis for shares, units and other investments 

5.94 In its deliberations before forming its preliminary view in paragraph 5.92, the Board discussed 

whether it should develop a requirement for all basic financial assets (including listed shares) 

and financial liabilities to be optionally or mandatorily measured at cost, less any related 

impairment. Such a requirement would recognise that estimating fair value may be more costly 

or challenging for smaller not-for-profit private sector entities. In the main, such a requirement 

would only affect the measurement of financial assets that are held to generate both income 

and a capital return for the entity.  

5.95 The Board observed that smaller not-for-profit private sector entities are less likely to hold 

financial assets for trading purposes. Rather, these assets are more likely to be primarily held 

to create a stable passive income stream to help fund the ongoing activities of the entity. 

Measuring all of these financial assets, including listed and non-listed shares held, at cost 

could be more representative of how the entity manages the asset and recovers their value; 

similar to the entity measuring investment property or property, plant and equipment at cost. 

Hence, measurement at cost could equally provide users of the financial statements of a 

smaller not-for-profit private sector entity with relevant information while being less costly to 

apply than fair value measurement.  

5.96 However, holding shares and units in managed investment schemes primarily to develop a 

passive income stream is not unique to smaller not-for-profit private sector entities. An entity 

also invests in these assets for their potential capital return. As such, measuring these assets 

at fair value is more transparent and provides users of the financial statements with more 

relevant information. Consequently, the Board rejected cost as an appropriate potential 

measurement basis.  

5.97 The Board observed that, in some cases, the cost of shares held in an unlisted company may 

be an appropriate estimate of its fair value. For example, when the investment has been made 

at or close to the reporting date (see also paragraphs 5.120 and 5.121).  

Other basic financial assets and financial liabilities measured at cost  

5.98 AASB 9 requires various financial assets and financial liabilities to be measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 

asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised 

cost of a financial liability. An effective interest rate may differ from the contractual interest rate 

as an effective interest rate takes into consideration any fees that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate (e.g. origination fees), points paid or received, transaction costs and 

other premiums or discounts on acquisition of the financial instrument.  
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5.99 The Board discussed whether to develop a similar requirement for basic financial assets and 

financial liabilities as it observed that:  

(a) amortised cost may not be as immediately understandable to preparers who are not 

accounting experts; and  

(b) the effective interest method can be complex to apply.  

5.100 The Board’s preliminary outreach has not indicated stakeholders have application concerns 

with such measurement. However, this may be reflective of the characteristics of the financial 

instruments held by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities rather than the ease of 

application of the effective interest method. Basic financial assets and financial liabilities other 

than loans will often be non-interest bearing. 

5.101 The Board has formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement for:  

(a) basic financial assets and liabilities other than investments in managed investment 

schemes, ordinary shares, and similar financial instruments are to be measured at 

cost. So that an asset is not recognised at an amount greater than the future 

economic benefits it is expected to return to the entity, the cost of a financial asset is 

written down if the asset is impaired; 

(b) interest income and interest expense to be recognised as amounts accrue or are 

incurred, calculated by reference to the contractual interest rate; and  

(c) any initial premium or discount on the acquisition of a basic financial asset or financial 

liability to be amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the instrument, unless 

another systematic basis or shorter period is more reflective of the period to which the 

premiums or discounts relate. 

5.102 The Board considered that requiring interest income and interest expense to be measured by 

reference to the contractual interest rate is more straightforward to apply. Therefore, even 

though, in many cases, the accounting result under amortised cost using the effective interest 

method and measurement in accordance with the Board’s preliminary views in 

paragraph 5.101 could be expected to be the same, the Board determined to develop this 

simpler reporting requirement.  

5.103 For those cases where the accounting result is not the same, for a smaller entity, the Board 

considered that the benefits of more faithfully representative interest representation do not 

appear to justify the costs involved in identifying transaction costs and fees that are an integral 

part of the effective interest rate, calculating an effective interest rate, and monitoring changes 

in the effective interest rate over the life of the financial instrument. The impact of any 

difference between the measurement models on the financial statements is likely to be 

insignificant.  

5.104 Following the Board’s preliminary views on the treatment of initial transaction costs and fees 

and measurement of interest, the Board observed that referencing amortised cost is likely 

unnecessary. Therefore, the Board decided that it would simply require the basic financial 

assets and financial liabilities to be measured at cost.  

Impairment of basic financial assets measured at cost 

5.105 The Board observed that impairment loss provisions in AASB 9 are unduly complex when 

regarding the basic financial assets held by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities for 

which it is proposing to develop simpler financial instrument reporting requirements. 

5.106 Consequently, the Board decided to develop simpler impairment requirements for basic 

financial assets measured at cost. Consistent with its preliminary view on impairment of non-
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financial assets,11 the Board formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement for 

impairment to be recognised only when it is probable that some or all of the amount owed will 

not be collectible. The impairment loss is to be measured at the anticipated uncollectible 

amount. 

5.107 The impairment model proposed by the Board is an incurred loss model and, as such, 

expected to be more straightforward to apply. The impairment loss is arguably more relatable 

to users of the financial statements as the impairment loss can directly correspond to an 

individual debtor’s credit status. In addition, there is flexibility for the impairment amount to be 

determined by reference to either a probability-weighted estimate or a ‘most likely outcome’ 

scenario, as most appropriate to the circumstances.  

5.108 In forming its preliminary view, the Board discussed whether to require impairment losses to 

be instead recognised and measured using the simplified expected credit loss model in 

AASB 9 applying to trade receivables. This would provide users with more timely credit loss 

information as it is more forward-looking than an incurred loss model. The Board rejected 

developing such requirement as it considered that this would not represent a sufficient 

proportionate response for smaller not-for-profit private sector entities that are unlikely to have 

sophisticated credit risk management policies. 

Example – incurred loss model versus expected credit loss model 

• Incurred loss model – write down the asset when the entity has objective evidence that the 

debt is not recoverable in full   

• Expected credit loss model – write down the asset because the entity has historical and 

other evidence suggesting that 5% of all overdue debts will become bad 

Derecognition of basic financial assets  

5.109 The feedback received on ITC 47 suggests that stakeholders have found that applying the 

derecognition criteria of AASB 9 can be difficult, especially with regards to assessing pass-

through transactions and whether the entity retains a continuing involvement in a financial 

asset. The Board noted that it expects smaller not-for-profit private sector entities would, in the 

main, derecognise an asset because the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

assets have expired, rather than enter into transactions that involve the transfer of the entity’s 

contractual rights to the cash flows of the financial asset. Therefore, the Board considered that 

it would be an appropriate proportionate response for its Tier 3 derecognition criteria to focus 

on the expiry of cash flows predominantly.  

5.110 The Board formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement that a financial asset is 

derecognised only when either the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 

expire or are settled, or the entity otherwise loses control of the asset. The effect of the 

Board’s preliminary view is that:  

(a) the derecognition of the original financial asset is treated as a separate transaction to 

the recognition of any ‘new’ assets and liabilities in a related transaction; and  

(b) an asset may only qualify for derecognition at a later point in time compared to under 

AASB 9.   

5.111 In developing its preliminary view, the Board considered and rejected:  

(a) developing a requirement to allow an entity to derecognise a financial asset if the 

derecognition criteria specified by AASB 9 were met; and  

 
11  The Board's preliminary view for impairment of non-financial assets is that a non-financial asset is written down to 

its impaired amount only when the entity has objective evidence of impairment, and the event giving rise to the 
impairment loss is unlikely to be temporary (refer paragraph 5.160(b))  
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(b) developing derecognition criteria that specifically acknowledges transfers of financial 

assets but which is simpler to apply compared to AASB 9.  

5.112 The Board considered that these approaches would introduce unnecessary complexity to a 

Tier 3 Standard as it does not expect this sort of transaction to occur frequently.  

Derecognition of basic financial liabilities  

5.113 The Board discussed whether the benefits of requiring an entity to acknowledge an exchange 

of financial liabilities or modification to the terms of a financial liability (e.g. extending a loan 

term from 2 years to 3 years) as an adjustment of the original financial liability would continue 

to exceed its costs for a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity. It observed that, given its 

preliminary views on the treatment of initial transaction costs, subsequent measurement and 

the calculation of interest expense, the accounting impact is unlikely to differ significantly 

whether or not the transaction or other event is treated as the derecognition of the original 

financial instrument and recognition of a new financial instrument, or as an adjustment of the 

original financial liability.  

5.114 Consequently, the Board formed a preliminary view not to address instances of debt 

instrument exchanges or modification of the terms of a financial liability as part of its Tier 3 

Standard. An entity treats a modification of the terms of a financial liability or an exchange of a 

debt instrument for a different debt instrument as an extinguishment of the original financial 

liability. As such, there will generally be no gain or loss arising at the time of the exchange of 

financial liabilities or modification of the financial liability. The gain or loss is, in effect, deferred 

and recognised over the life of the replacement financial instrument. 

Fair value measurement 

 

5.115 As the Board intends to develop requirements that will allow or require the fair value 

measurement of certain financial instruments and non-financial assets, as part of its 

deliberations in developing this Discussion Paper it considered the extent to which fair value 

should be determined consistently with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. AASB 13 sets out 

a framework and guidance for measuring the fair value of both financial and non-financial 

assets, and liabilities and equity.  

5.116 The Board has formed a preliminary view that fair value should have the same meaning as in 

AASB 13. That is, as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date”. This 

retains consistency in specification and understanding of the measurement basis as an exit 

value between Tier 3 reporting requirements and Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting requirements. As 

such, potential costs of misinterpretation and re-training can be avoided. 

5.117 In keeping with using the same definition, the Board considers it important for fair value 

measurement in Tier 3 financial statements to be determined in a manner consistent with the 

framework set out in AASB 13, including estimating by reference to a specified hierarchy and 

to a non-financial asset’s highest and best use. However, the Board is aware from other AASB 

projects that measuring fair value following the framework set out in AASB 13 may pose 

application complexity for not-for-profit entities compared to for-profit entities. Further, 

estimating fair value is likely to be a relatively more significant cost to a smaller not-for-profit 
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private sector entity that has fewer resources compared to a larger entity when observable 

(e.g. listed) prices are not available.  

5.118 Consequently, and noting that smaller not-for-profit private sector entities are likely to have a 

more limited range of items that are measured at fair value, the Board has formed a 

preliminary view to express the AASB 13 framework in a Tier 3 Standard in a manner that is 

easier for preparers who are not accounting experts to follow.  

5.119 As part of the IASB’s current project reviewing the IFRS for SMEs, the IASB is expected to 

propose amendments to align that Standard more closely with IFRS 13 Fair Value 

Measurement. As AASB 13 incorporates IFRS 13, the Board expects that these amendments 

may provide a suitable base for informing the Board of the basis and extent of fair value 

requirements and guidance to develop in an Exposure Draft, should the AASB’s project 

proceed to that next stage.  

Cost as an appropriate estimate of the fair value of financial assets 

5.120 Consistent with the Board’s preliminary view set out in paragraph 5.83, an entity’s unlisted 

share investments would be measured at fair value. AASB 9 notes that, in many cases, the 

cost of the shares is unlikely to be representative of their fair value because of internal or 

external changes impacting the entity since the time the shares were acquired. However, in 

limited circumstances, cost may be an appropriate estimate of fair value (at initial or 

subsequent measurement) when there is a wide range of possible fair value measurements 

and cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range. Cost may also be an 

appropriate estimate of the fair value of equity instruments if there are no indicators present to 

suggest otherwise (e.g. a change in the economic environment in which the entity operates), 

and there is insufficient more recent information available to measure fair value. 

5.121 The Board does not intend to extend the instances for which the cost of a financial instrument 

provides an appropriate estimate of its fair value as doing so may misrepresent the item to 

users of the financial statements. An entity should assess for indicators (e.g. a significant 

change in economic circumstances or evidence of external transactions in the investee's 

equity) which may indicate that cost might not be representative of fair value. The Board is 

consulting on its preliminary view to initially measure basic financial instruments at fair value 

(refer paragraph 5.83).  

Other valuation bases as a proxy for the fair value of non-financial assets  

5.122 As part of its deliberations on this Discussion Paper, the Board considered whether to permit 

other current value measurement bases as an appropriate estimate of fair value (a valuation 

‘shortcut’). For example, the Board considered whether it should allow an entity to use, on a 

stand-alone basis, a rateable or other government valuation, or the recent market selling price 

of similar asset as an appropriate estimate of the fair value of property.  

5.123 While this type of information might help inform the determination of fair value under AASB 13, 

as stand-alone valuation measures, they all have their own shortcomings and may not 

necessarily faithfully represent, for financial reporting, the asset held. For example, different 

real estate platforms may price the same similar property differently, and rateable value may 

be calculated differently between states and territories. How such measurements interact with 

the fair value hierarchy specified by AASB 13 would also need to be considered. 

5.124 Ultimately, the Board observed that an entity is not forced to apply a revaluation model to its 

non-financial assets. Consequently, the Board determined not to allow other current value 

measurement bases as an appropriate estimate of fair value. The costs of electing a fair value 

measurement-based accounting policy should be considered by management as part of 

management’s selection of an appropriate accounting policy for the item.  
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Inventory  

 

5.125 Most operating entities, regardless of their size, will hold some inventory. Therefore, the Board 

determined that it must develop requirements to account for inventory. From its preliminary 

outreach, the Board has not identified there to be, in the main, any significant cost or an area 

of concern by preparers for the accounting of inventory. Consequently, for inventories other 

than donated inventory, the Board has formed a preliminary view to develop Tier 3 recognition 

and measurement requirements that are consistent with the requirements in AASB 102 

Inventories. That is, for: 

(a) inventories held for distribution – to be measured at cost, adjusted where applicable 

for any loss of service potential; and 

(b) all other inventories – to be measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

5.126 However, recognising that calculating any loss of service potential associated with inventories 

held for distribution could be challenging for smaller not-for-profit entities, the Board intends to 

develop guidance and illustrative examples to assist Tier 3 entities with applying this concept. 

Donated inventory 

5.127 A not-for-profit entity may acquire inventory for free or a nominal amount. Under AASB 102, 

such inventory must be initially measured at its current replacement cost. The Board has 

formed a preliminary view to allow an entity to optionally initially measure such inventory at 

cost, as discussed further in paragraphs 5.145 – 5.153. 

Biological assets  

5.128 If the accounting for biological assets is not scoped out from a Tier 3 Standard, then 

agricultural produce should be recognised and measured according to the inventory 

requirements. Any inventory requirements in the Tier 3 Standard would take precedence over 

the specific requirements and guidance in AASB 141 for agricultural produce, as discussed in 

paragraph 4.18.  

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

 

5.129 Under AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, interests in associates and 

joint ventures are measured using the equity method of accounting in an investor’s financial 

statements, unless the investor presents separate financial statements as the only set of 

financial statements. The equity method is a method of accounting whereby the investment is 

initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the 

investor’s share of the investee’s net assets. The investor’s profit or loss includes its share of 

the investee’s profit or loss, and the investor’s other comprehensive income includes its share 

of the investee’s other comprehensive income. 
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5.130 The Board has not heard any stakeholder concerns with present accounting requirements for 

an entity’s interests in its associates and joint ventures. Consequently, the Board considered it 

may be an appropriate proportionate response for the Board to continue to require the equity 

method in most instances. 

5.131 However, the Board observed that it may be inconsistent to develop a requirement for a 

smaller not-for-profit private sector entity to measure its interests in its associates and joint 

ventures using the equity method of accounting in instances where the entity’s subsidiaries 

are not consolidated. Therefore, the Board has formed a preliminary view to develop a 

requirement for interests in associates and joint ventures to be measured as follows: 

(a) if the not-for-profit private sector entity is a parent that presents consolidated financial 

statements – the not-for-profit private sector entity applies the equity method of 

accounting to its interests in associates and joint ventures;  

(b) if the not-for-profit private sector entity is not a parent – the not-for-profit private sector 

entity applies the equity method of accounting to its interests in associates and joint 

ventures; and  

(c) if the not-for-profit private sector entity is a parent that presents separate financial 

statements as its only financial statements (i.e. does not consolidate its subsidiaries) – 

the not-for-profit private sector entity does not apply the equity method of accounting 

to measure its interests in associates and joint ventures. 

5.132 The Board did not discuss other exemptions and exceptions to applying the equity method as 

it is only consulting on its general approach to accounting for interests in associates and joint 

ventures at this stage of its project. However, in keeping with its objectives for developing 

Tier 3 reporting requirements, the Board is unlikely to require an investor preparing Tier 3 

financial statements to equity account its interest in an associate or joint venture where such 

accounting is not required by an investor preparing financial statements that comply with 

Tier 1 or Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards.  

Separate financial statements of the investor 

5.133 The Board has formed a preliminary view to develop a requirement for an investor that 

presents separate financial statements – whether in addition to consolidated financial 

statements or equity-accounted financial statements, or as its only set of financial statements 

– to measure its interests in associates and joint ventures at either cost or at fair value through 

other comprehensive income. Measurement at cost may be an appropriate accounting policy 

as the entity’s interest in an associate or joint venture could be an avenue to further its not-for-

profit objectives rather than as an investment.  

5.134 However, measuring these interests at cost without accompanying equity-accounting financial 

statements may not provide users of the financial statements with sufficient information about 

the investor’s interest. It would also be consistent with the Board’s preliminary proposals for 

financial instruments for these interests to be measured at fair value, and no different from 

other financial instruments which are held to generate both an income and capital return for 

the entity. Therefore, the Board decided to allow an accounting policy choice.  
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Property, plant and equipment, and investment property  

 

5.135 Smaller not-for-profit private sector entities typically hold non-current non-financial assets; 

primarily, property, plant and equipment. Therefore, the Board considered it necessary to 

develop a requirement for accounting for such assets.  

5.136 Other than for borrowing costs referred to in paragraphs 5.154 – 5.156, the Board has formed 

a preliminary view to require property, plant and equipment and investment property to be 

recognised and measured consistently with Tier 1 and Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards. 

Under the Board’s proposals (refer to paragraphs 5.168 – 5.176), right-of-use assets arising 

from lease are not recognised as assets.  

Initial measurement  

5.137 Accordingly, the Board proposed to develop a requirement for an entity preparing Tier 3 

financial statements to initially measure property, plant and equipment, and investment 

property purchased or constructed by the entity at the asset’s cost. The cost of an asset 

comprises its purchase price after deducting trade discounts and rebates. For property, plant 

and equipment, cost of the asset will also comprise of:  

(a) any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management 

(e.g. legal fees and installation costs); and 

(b) the initial estimate of any related restoration, rehabilitation or other “make good” 

obligation. 

5.138 The Board is not proposing to amend the components that form part of the item’s initial cost as 

the Board has not identified any widespread application difficulties in the initial measurement 

of purchased property, plant and equipment, or investment property. 

Subsequent measurement 

5.139 The Board also proposes to develop a requirement for the asset to be subsequently measured 

for:  

(a) property, plant and equipment – using the cost model or revaluation model; or  

(b) investment property – using the cost model or fair value model.12  

5.140 Under the revaluation model, a revaluation increase or decrease is recognised in other 

comprehensive income, as long as the carrying amount of the property remains above its 

depreciated historical cost. Under the fair value model, changes in fair value are recognised in 

 
12  The Board expects to develop Tier 3 requirements for the cost model. As referenced in paragraphs 4.10– 4.14, the 

Board has not yet formed a decision on whether to specify requirements for the revaluation model and fair value 
model as part of a Tier 3 Accounting Standard, or whether to ‘permit’ election of such accounting policy via an opt 
up to the policy permitted or required by AASB 116 and AASB 140.  
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profit or loss. Noting that some smaller not-for-profit entities may require further guidance for 

the requirement to depreciate buildings measured using the revaluation model, the Board 

intends to develop suitable clarifying guidance or education material. 

5.141 As part of its deliberations when forming its view in paragraph 5.139, the Board considered 

whether it was necessary to continue to require the accounting for land and buildings held for 

use in the conduct of the entity’s operations to be distinguished from an investment property. 

The Board’s research and initial stakeholder feedback suggest that, while less common, some 

smaller not-for-profit private sector entities hold property that would be accounted for under 

AASB 140 Investment Property. The Board considered that it is useful to users without 

imposing significant costs to preparers to maintain this distinction as doing so recognises that 

property may be held for different purposes. The Board expects that identifying property as an 

investment property or otherwise will be straightforward for smaller not-for-profit entities. 

5.142 The Board also observed that some overseas jurisdictions do not permit smaller entities to 

revalue their non-current assets. It discussed whether Tier 3 reporting requirements should 

similarly restrict the accounting for property, plant and equipment, and investment property 

(i.e. require measurement using the cost model only), noting that:  

(a) the cost model is less costly to apply compared to the revaluation model or fair value 

model;  

(b) the cost model is the subsequent measurement approach already adopted by many 

entities;  

(c) specifying only a single accounting policy would enhance comparability between the 

financial statements of entities;  

(d) specifying only a single accounting policy would reduce costs of management 

judgement (selection of an appropriate accounting policy), stakeholder education and 

ongoing maintenance.    

5.143 Ultimately, the Board decided its Tier 3 reporting requirements should continue to permit the 

revaluation of these assets. In forming this view, the Board noted its initial stakeholder 

feedback indicating support for the revaluation and fair value model as an acceptable 

alternative accounting policy to cost and its consideration that:  

(a) fair value measurement – a current value measure – provides more relevant 

information about an entity’s financial position compared to depreciated historical cost;   

(b) it might be seen as a ‘backward step’ to require an entity currently revaluing its assets 

to cease to do so;  

i) and contrary to the Board’s project objectives, it could inadvertently be 

imposing additional costs on subsidiaries of a parent entity that adopts the 

revaluation or fair value model; and 

ii) may impact the usefulness of financial information if management considers 

that fair value measurement better serves the needs of their users.  

5.144 The Board considered whether, rather than a ‘free choice’, it should require investment 

property to be measured at fair value unless the entity cannot do so without undue cost or 

effort. Enhancing the comparability between entities could assist with more consistent 

decision-making on asset-based regulatory reporting tests. However, the Board has rejected 

this accounting approach because the resultant requirement would be more onerous than 

currently available to an entity complying with AASB 140. The Board also considered that 

“undue cost or effort” assessments are likely to be interpreted differently by different entities.     
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Non-financial asset acquired for significantly less than fair value  

 

5.145 The Board recognised that it might be common for not-for-profit private sector entities to 

receive donated non-financial assets. Rather than a choice as currently applicable for 

subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment and other non-financial assets 

noted in paragraphs 5.139, not-for-profit entities are required to initially measure assets 

acquired for significantly less than fair value, such as donated or granted non-financial assets, 

at fair value in accordance with AASB 13.  

Initial measurement  

5.146 The Board acknowledges that smaller entities may have difficulties in applying the principles in 

AASB 13 in determining the fair value. Consequently, the Board’s preliminary view is that an 

entity should be allowed the same accounting policy choice as applicable to subsequent 

measurement, to initially measure assets acquired for significantly less than fair value for:  

(a) inventory – using the cost model or current replacement cost; or 

(b) other non-financial assets – either using the cost model or at fair value model. 

5.147 The Board intends to develop appropriate disclosures to supplement the accounting policy 

choice accorded to the initial measurement of these assets.  

5.148 The Board acknowledged that some stakeholders expressed concerns that the proposal to 

allow an entity to apply the cost model could result in donated assets being recorded at 

minimal or nil value in the statement of financial position. Resultantly, an entity would not 

recognise the associated income of these donated assets. However, the Board considered 

that allowing an accounting policy choice to initially measure donated non-financial assets at 

the cost model or fair value model is in keeping with its objective for developing Tier 3 

reporting requirements as its proposed approach. In particular, the Board noted that it:  

(a) requires appropriate disclosures, discussed in paragraph 6.12, such as the nature and 

description of the donated assets, would provide useful information to the expected 

users and allows the management of smaller entities to determine a measurement 

basis that they consider most appropriately reflects their users’ needs; and   

(b) imposes fewer costs on preparers than the current requirements to measure donated 

assets at fair value.  

Subsequent measurement  

5.149 The Board noted that there could be different accounting outcomes due to the accounting 

policy choice for the initial measurement of donated assets and where an entity subsequently 

elects to revalue those assets. Where an entity chooses to measure donated assets initially at 

cost and subsequently revalue those assets, the revaluation differences are captured as other 

comprehensive income. However, for an entity that elects to initially measure donated assets 
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at fair value and revalue those assets subsequently, the initial measurement at fair value will 

be captured as donation income and form part of the entity's profit.  

5.150 The Board also noted the difference in the carrying amount of the donated asset may differ if 

the revaluation difference is between the asset's fair value or at cost at initial measurement, 

and its fair value at subsequent measurement. The latter approach would appear to 

undervalue the asset on the statement of financial position substantially. It may also be 

impracticable to obtain the fair value of the donated assets retrospectively in determining the 

revaluation difference if an entity elects to measure the asset at cost initially. 

5.151 As such, the Board has formed a preliminary view not to permit an entity to subsequently 

apply the revaluation or fair value model if the donated assets were initially measured at cost.  

5.152 As part of its deliberations when forming its view, the Board considered another alternative to 

only require initial measurement at fair value for assets with useful lives of 12 months or more, 

and where the entity intends to hold those assets for more than 12 months. The Board 

considered that this approach would limit the assets that would be captured, such as land or 

buildings, or motor vehicles that are likely to be held by the entity for a longer term, therefore 

providing cost savings in that regard.  However, the Board reflected that such an approach 

may not offer the desired simplification and subsequently rejected this approach, noting that: 

(a) it may add an unnecessary level of complexity, especially for smaller entities, to 

assess whether an asset has a useful life of 12 months or more; and  

(b) incremental cost savings may be minimal for entities that do not receive many donated 

non-financial assets with useful lives of 12 months or more.  

5.153 Similarly, the Board understands that many not-for-profit private sector entities would rely on 

volunteers to provide their services and some entities may consider that recognising volunteer 

services received at fair value would provide useful information to its users. However, as noted 

in the Basis for Conclusions in AASB 1058, stakeholders opined that recognition of volunteer 

service should be optional for not-for-profit private sector entities, primarily for cost-benefit 

reasons. As such, the Board proposed retaining the option to permit, but not require, a smaller 

not-for-profit private sector to recognise volunteer services received, or a class of volunteer 

services, if the fair value of those services can be measured reliably.  

Borrowing costs 

 

5.154 Under AASB 123 Borrowing Costs, a not-for-profit private sector entity would ordinarily be 

required to capitalise, as part of the cost of the asset, borrowing costs incurred as part of the 

construction or acquisition of a ‘qualifying asset’ (e.g. construction of premises). These 

borrowing costs are ‘directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management’. 

Capitalising such borrowing costs is a more faithful representation of the substance of that 

borrowing cost as a contribution to future income generation, rather than as a sunk cost. 

5.155 The Board is conscious that determining whether borrowing costs are capitalisable– and by 

how much – can be challenging, especially when the borrowing facility is ‘general’ rather than 

specially acquired to build a specific asset. The Board thinks this accounting is not a 

proportionate response for smaller not-for-profit private sector entities since the Board expects  

assets typically held by these entities would not be considered qualifying assets. 



Development of Simplified Accounting Requirements  
 (Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Private Sector Entities) 

DISCUSSION PAPER Page 64 of 122 

Consequently, the Board has formed a preliminary view that Tier 3 reporting requirements 

should simply require all borrowing costs to be expensed in the period incurred.  

5.156 Such accounting is easier to apply as it involves less judgement and fewer processes. The 

result could be more understandable to users that are more focussed on the cash flows and 

how the entity is funded. Borrowing cost is recognised earlier, at a time that is more likely to 

align with the cash outflow, rather than deferred and recognised as part of depreciation on the 

asset.  

Impairment of non-financial assets  

5.157 The Board’s preliminary research suggests that impairment losses for non-financial assets are 

not common for Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities, possibly because of the nature and 

types of non-financial assets. These assets may have been acquired some time ago and are 

recorded at historical amounts. Some stakeholders noted that non-financial assets generally 

held by Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities are impaired only when a significant event 

occurs and it is clear that the asset’s carrying amount is no longer recoverable. 

5.158 Although recognising impairment losses may not be common for Tier 3 entities, the Board 

considers it important for Tier 3 general purpose financial statements to represent an entity’s 

financial position and performance faithfully. Therefore, the Board considers it important to 

develop an impairment model for Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities to ensure that their 

non-financial assets are not carried at too high a value.  

5.159 The Board observed that the existing impairment model in AASB 136 Impairment of Assets 

could be complex to understand and costly to apply for smaller not-for-profit entities. 

Therefore, after considering the types of non-financial assets that Tier 3 not-for-profit private 

sector entities commonly hold, the Board considers that requiring Tier 3 not-for-profit private 

sector entities to comply with the AASB 136 model in full would not be proportionate.  

5.160 The Board’s preliminary view is that the impairment model for Tier 3 not-for-profit private 

sector entities should comprise the following elements: 

(a) scope: only non-financial assets subsequently measured at cost or deemed cost to be 

subject to impairment testing.   

(b) timing: only to consider whether non-financial assets are impaired when the asset has 

been physically damaged or when its service potential might have been adversely 

affected by a change in the entity’s strategy or changes in external demand for the 

entity’s services.   

(c) methodology: a non-financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its 

recoverable amount, where the recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less 

costs of disposal and its value in use. However, Tier 3 reporting requirements would 

include a rebuttable presumption that fair value less costs of disposal is expected to 

be the most appropriate measure of a non-financial asset’s recoverable amount 
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because non-financial assets are generally not held by not-for-profit entities to 

generate cash flows; and 

(d) cash generating units: non-financial assets that do not generate cash flows that are 

largely independent from other assets can be grouped into cash-generating units. 

5.161 The Board does not intend to develop Tier 3 reporting requirements to address the reversal of 

previously recognised impairment losses. The Board has received feedback that when 

impairment losses are recognised, they are typically significant events that will not reverse, 

such as flood damage. Therefore, the Board considered it unnecessary to develop a 

requirement to account for the reversal of impairment losses.  

5.162 In developing the preliminary view summarised in paragraphs 5.160 – 5.161, the Board 

considered a range of alternative approaches, including the arguments for and against each 

alternative: 

(a) scope: requiring all non-financial assets or only non-current non-financial assets to be 

subject to impairment testing. The Board decided non-financial assets subsequently 

carried at fair value are less likely to be impaired given they are regularly revalued to 

fair value and, therefore, should not be subject to impairment testing. The Board also 

considered that having different reporting requirements for current and non-current 

non-financial assets was not warranted. 

(b) timing: considering the types of non-financial assets held by smaller not-for-profit 

private sector entities, the Board did not consider it necessary to consider whether in-

scope assets are impaired annually or even periodically as their recoverable amount is 

less likely to fluctuate from year to year. The Board acknowledged that not prescribing 

when in-scope assets should be assessed for impairment might provide smaller not-

for-profit private sector entities with some flexibility regarding impairment testing. 

However, such an approach would not be helpful for smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities because entities would be required to assess whether or not an 

impairment indicator exists.  

(c) methodology: the Board considered developing an alternative approach for smaller 

not-for-profit private entities to: 

i) calculate the recoverable amount of in-scope assets; or  

ii) allow smaller not-for-profit private sector entities to determine the recoverable 

amount using a methodology they consider most appropriate.  

However, the Board concluded that developing an alternative approach or providing 

too much flexibility may introduce unnecessary complexity for preparers and auditors 

of smaller not-for-profit private sector entities. It may also give rise to inconsistencies 

with the principles applied in other Tier 3 reporting requirements. 

Assets held for sale 

5.163 The Board is not proposing to introduce any specific requirements for property, plant and 

equipment, or other non-current assets that an entity intends to sell rather than hold for its 

continuing use. The Board expects such occurrences to be infrequent; therefore, the treatment 

will be consistent with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

Also, the requirement to write down an asset’s carrying amount to its recoverable amount 

suggests that the carrying amount of such assets is unlikely to be significantly overstated at 

the reporting date.  
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Intangible assets  

 

5.164 Intangible assets do not appear to be common in the financial statements of smaller not-for-

profit private sector entities. The Board has not received preliminary stakeholder feedback 

suggesting concern with accounting for intangible assets, or that smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities would typically acquire or develop any significant intangible assets. 

5.165 It is not clear to the Board whether the absence of intangible assets from balance sheets is 

because recognisable internally generated or externally acquired intangible assets are not 

presently being identified, or whether the entities indeed hold no intangible assets.  

5.166 Consequently, the Board has not yet formed a view of how it should address intangible assets 

as part of its Tier 3 reporting requirements. For example, whether the Board should:  

(a) develop a requirement that only acquired intangible assets (or only intangible assets 

that are purchased, rather than donated) are recognised, and measured on the same 

basis as property, plant and equipment;  

(b) not require any intangible assets to be recognised; or  

(c) omit intangible assets from the scope of a Tier 3 Standard, or require an entity to 

apply AASB 138 Intangible Assets to identify, recognise and measure any intangible 

assets. 

5.167 The Board would welcome feedback that would help the Board assess the extent of existence 

and use of intangible assets by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities, including typical 

types of intangible assets held. 

Leases  

 

5.168 The Board observed that it is common for a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity to be a 

lessee of property, office equipment or motor vehicles. Consequently, the Board determined 

that any resulting Tier 3 pronouncement must specify the accounting for lease arrangements.  

5.169 The Board considered whether it should develop requirements generally consistent with 

AASB 16 Leases, but with some practical amendments to make such an approach easier to 

apply. It observed that:  

(a) leases appear to be a common and possibly material transaction for smaller not-for-

profit private sector entities and, therefore, users might benefit from comprehensive 

information on them to inform their decision making; and 

(b) there may be potential complications from significantly departing from an AASB 16 

model for: 
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i) determination of an entity’s reporting obligations (e.g. whether the financial 

statements are subject to audit or review) where a threshold test is dependent 

on the quantum of the entity’s assets; and 

ii) consolidation of the entity by a parent preparing Tier 1 or Tier 2 general 

purpose financial statements. 

5.170 However, the Board reflected that applying AASB 16 or an amended AASB 16 to accounting 

for leases would likely to impose proportionately greater costs on smaller-sized lessees (e.g. 

the valuation cost of property is unlikely to depend on the size of the entity requesting that 

valuation). The Board was conscious that it might not be possible to identify sufficient 

amendments to AASB 16 to strike an appropriate cost-benefit balance for Tier 3 reporting. It 

also notes the recent IASB decision to defer amending the IFRS for SMEs Accounting 

Standard to incorporate a simplified IFRS 16 Leases model.  

5.171 From its preliminary outreach, the Board is aware that some stakeholders are of the view that 

AASB 16 requirements for a lessee do not provide useful information about a not-for-profit 

private sector entity to users of its financial statements. The Board observed that a user may 

find on-balance sheet information about shorter-term leases less relevant than the benefits of 

recognising assets and liabilities in relation to a lease of an item for substantially all its useful 

life.  

5.172 Consequently, the Board decided to simplify the accounting for leases. The Board has formed 

a preliminary view to develop a requirement to require a lessee to recognise lease payments 

as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is 

more representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit. A corresponding requirement 

would apply to lessors. The Board intends for its proposed accounting to be supplemented by 

disclosure about the entity’s outstanding lease commitments.  

Example – recognition of lease expenses 

XYZ  imited (‘XYZ’) enters into a 5-year lease of office premises. The rental agreement 

provides for an initial rent-free period of 3 months, and a monthly lease payment of $4,000 

thereafter.  

Under the Board’s proposals, the total lease payment of $228,000 ($4,000 x 57 months) is 

recognised across 60 months; (i.e. $3,800 per month). The journal entries for the first year of 

the lease are:  

Months 1-3  

DR Lease expense   $11,400  

 CR Lease liability    $11,400 

(Recognition of lease expense during the rent-free period: $3,800 x 3 months)  

Months 4-12 

DR Lease expense   $34,200 

 CR Lease liability    $34,200 

(Recognition of lease expense: $3,800 x 9 months)  

DR Lease liability   $36,000 

 CR Cash      $36,000 

(Recognition of monthly lease payment: $4,000 x 9 months) 

At the end of the first year of the lease, XYZ will have recognised lease expenses of $45,600 

and has a lease liability of $9,600. 
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5.173 The proposed approach to accounting for leases may provide users with less transparency of 

the entity’s underlying financial position, especially for assets that have been in essence, 

purchased by the entity on a payment plan. However, the Board considers that not requiring 

the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities is in keeping with its objective for 

developing Tier 3 reporting requirements. In particular, its proposed approach would:  

(a) impose fewer costs on preparers compared to an approach based on AASB 16. An 

element of preparer judgement is eliminated, as all leases are treated the same way; 

and 

(b) enhance comparability between entities preparing Tier 3 general purpose financial 

statements; 

5.174 The effect of the Board’s preliminary view is that some entities will be able to continue a 

current special purpose financial statement accounting policy of not recognising lease 

obligations. The Board thinks its proposed approach requires relevant information to be 

provided to users of the financial statements, albeit in a different form to Tier 1 and Tier 2 

general purpose financial statements, as:  

(a) for many assets likely to be leased by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities, and 

considering the ‘net’ financial statement impact of on-balance sheet lease recognition, 

the bottom line result will be similar; and  

(b) fulsome disclosure of an entity’s lease commitments could provide the expected users 

of these financial statements with understandable, and hence useful, information.  

Also, the quality of entity reporting overall will be improved as the AASB project outcomes are 

expected to include more entities being required to apply the same accounting policy to their 

leasing arrangements – improving the comparability of the financial statements of different 

entities.  

5.175 In forming its preliminary view, the Board noted that some might consider not requiring a 

AASB 16 approach as a ‘backward’ step for those entities that have already adopted this 

Standard. The Board was also conscious of the complications noted in paragraph 5.169 of 

departing from AASB 16. The Board observes that:  

(a) an entity is not prevented from preparing Tier 1 or Tier 2 general purpose financial 

statements if it elects to do so; and 

(b) the development of different recognition and measurement criteria is unavoidable in 

the development of a third reporting tier. 

5.176 At this stage of its project, the Board has not yet considered whether to require a different 

treatment for specific types of leases; for example, rights held by a lessee under a licencing 

agreement. Such scoping matters will be considered by the Board only after it determines 

whether to proceed with developing requirements consistent with its preliminary view. 

Similarly, the Board has not determined that there is need to develop specific requirements for 

sale and leaseback arrangements, or for manufacturer or dealer lessors, nor discussed 

transitional provisions that might apply to lessees who currently comply with AASB 16.  

Concessionary lease arrangements  ‘peppercorn’ lease   

5.177 A lessee in a lease that at inception had significantly below-market terms and conditions 

principally to enable the entity to further its objectives accounts for the lease in the same 

manner as other leases. That is, the lessee in a concessionary lease arrangement does not 

recognise a right-of-use asset. The lessee also does not recognise any donation income for 

the difference between the below-market terms of the lease and market terms and conditions. 
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5.178 A not-for-profit private sector lessee that prepares Tier 1 or Tier 2 general purpose financial 

statements is required to initially measure a right-of-use asset in a concessionary lease 

arrangement at its cost or fair value.13 The cost of the right-of-use asset comprises the initial 

measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred and any expected 

dismantling and removal costs, and any lease payments (less lease incentives) made at or 

before lease commencement. Where the asset is measured at cost, the cost of the right-of-

use asset will normally be nil or a nominal amount. There is no significant difference in 

accounting impact of the Board’s preliminary views in these cases compared to AASB 16.  

Income (including Revenue) 

5.179 Not-for-profit private sector entities receive income from different sources. The Board 

understands that common types of income transactions of smaller not-for-profit private sector 

entity consist of grants from governments, donations from donors, fundraising from the public, 

and revenue from sales of goods or services. 

5.180 From its preliminary outreach, the Board identified that many smaller not-for-profit entities find 

the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities challenging to understand. The complexity relates to:  

(a) the two-step approach to applying income recognition requirements, in which a not-

for-profit entity needs to identify when an arrangement falls within the scope of 

revenue recognition requirements of AASB 15 or the income recognition requirements 

of AASB 1058; and 

(b) the immediate recognition of many transfers under AASB 1058 which the entity 

considers it has an obligation to spend or use the transferred assets in future periods 

or where the transfer relates to one or more future periods.  

5.181 To address stakeholder concerns, the Board decided to develop an integrated income 

recognition approach (illustrated in Figure 5.3), including: 

(a) whether a distinction for the accounting for different inflows of resources is required; 

(b) the basis for distinguishing the different inflows of resources; and 

(c) the income recognition requirement applicable for different inflows of resources;   

to remove the need for a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity to consider the two sets of 

criteria for all transfers of resources within the scope of AASB 15 and AASB 1058.  

 
13  AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities amended AASB 16 to require a not-for-profit entity to measure a right-

of-use asset arising in a concessionary lease arrangement to be measured at fair value, rather than cost. In 
December 2018, the AASB amended this requirement, allowing the right-of-use asset to be initially measured at 
cost, rather than at fair value. This amendment was intended to provide interim relief to entities, and be subject to 
review following the development of guidance on fair valuing right-of-use assets and the completion of the Board’s 
Not-for-Profit Financial Reporting Framework project (this project). However, while this work is not yet complete, 
stakeholders have since sought certainty about the accounting policy choice. As such, following its review of the 
accounting policy option the Board decided In November 2021 to retain the modification unchanged for not-for-
profit private sector entities. The Board intends to review the interim relief in the future for not-for-profit public 
sector entities. 
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Figure 5.3: Decision Tree: Income recognition approach for inflows of resources 

5.182 The Board’s preliminary view is to require an entity to assess whether there is a common 

understanding of the manner in which the entity is expected to use the inflows of resources. 

Such a common understanding would need to be evidenced in the transfer by the provider in 

writing or some other customary form. That is, for example, to manage in a particular way or 

act or perform in a particular way that results in outflows of resources, including: 

(a) transferring goods or services; 

(b) performing a specified activity; 

(c) incurring eligible expenditure for a specified purpose; and 

(d) using the inflows of resources in respect of a specified period. 

5.183 For these transactions, the Board proposed that income should be recognised in the manner 

that most faithfully represents the amount and pattern of consumption by the entity of the 

resources received. This would require judgement to be exercised by the entity. The following 

are examples of income recognition patterns that may be used based on the type of resources 

received: 

(a) when goods or services are transferred;  

(b) when activities are performed; 

(c) when eligible expenditure is incurred; and 

(d) on a systematic allocation basis over the specified period. 

5.184 When there are income transactions for which there is not a common understanding of the 

way the entity is expected to use the inflows of resources, income should be recognised at the 

earlier of receiving cash or obtaining a right to receive cash (receivable). 

 

Example – inflows of resources where common understanding is for transfer of goods 

or services  

Entity A sells chocolates in a fundraising drive to raise money with no donation element. Entity 

A considers there is a common understanding that the customer would receive chocolate in 

return. Income is recognised when the chocolate is sold to the customer.  
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Example – inflows of resources when common understanding is for donations for 

general purpose that must be spent in the next two years 

Entity B received $120,000 from a donor that specifies the donation must be used in the next 

two years. The entity would record deferred income of $120,000 on initial receipt of the 

donation and income is recognised on a systematic allocation basis for the following two years 

(i.e. $60,000 income recognised at the end of Year 1 and Year 2).  

If the donor did not specify when the donation must be used by the entity, income is 

recognised at the earlier of receiving cash or the right to cash (receivable).  

5.185 In developing its preliminary views discussed in paragraphs 5.182 – 5.184, the Board noted 

that the post-implementation review (PIR) of AASB 1058 and the not-for-profit guidance to 

AASB 15 may provide further information to improve accounting for income by not-for-profit 

entities in general. The Board considered that it could wait and decide its preferred view on 

Tier 3 income accounting requirements only when the PIR further progresses with feedback 

from its consultation expected to be discussed by the Board in quarter three of 2023. 

However, the Board reflected that awaiting outcomes of the PIR may further delay the 

completion of Tier 3 requirements. The Board noted that the simplification of income 

recognition requirements is made within the Tier 3 developing principle and is not directly 

applicable for Tier 1 or Tier 2 general purpose financial statement preparers. 

5.186 The Board also considered alternative approaches when developing the Tier 3 income 

recognition requirements including:  

(a) not requiring the distinction for the accounting of inflows of resources. The Board 

considered this approach would remove a degree of judgement by not requiring a not-

for-profit entity to consider the nature of the transaction or whether there are 

conditions to perform activities or incur expenditure attached to the use of the 

resources. However, the Board recognised this approach may not reflect the financial 

reporting outcomes of smaller not-for-profit entities for transferred resources that are 

expected to be spent or used in a future period should be accounted for differently 

from other donations; 

(b) the distinction for the accounting of inflows of resources based on the nature of 

transactions, or based on the existence of documented explicit stipulations given by a 

transfer provider. The Board did not prefer any of these approaches. The distinction by 

the nature of the transaction would appear to be a similar two-step process as applied 

in AASB 15 and AASB 1058, rather than a simplification. Requiring a distinction based 

on documented explicit stipulations may be challenging to understand for smaller not-

for-profit entities that lack financial knowledge. The Board also considered many 

inflows of resources that smaller not-for-profit entities receive will not be documented 

in a formal agreement with explicitly stipulated conditions which may result in many 

transfers not meeting the criteria for income to be deferred even though the not-for-

profit entity is expected to spend or use the resources in the future; 

(c) requiring a not-for-profit entity to assess whether the common understanding between 

the entity and the transfer provider is sufficiently specific based on the criteria in 

AASB 15 with simplification. While the assessment of sufficiently specific criteria helps 

an entity to identify when an obligation is satisfied, many smaller not-for-profit entities 

consider assessing the sufficiently specific criteria complex and, in many cases, 

requiring judgement leading to inconsistency in the application. Therefore, the Board 

decided to remove the need for the assessment of sufficiently specific criteria in its 

preliminary view on the income recognition model for Tier 3 reporting requirements; 

and 
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(d) require deferral for income recognition only where there are conditions attached to the 

inflows of resources enforceable by the transferor, such as a ‘use or return’ condition 

or by other means. The Board considered this approach would limit the resources 

required by a smaller not-for-profit entity to assess deferral of income only where 

enforceable conditions are present. However, the Board recognised that determining 

whether enforceable conditions are present does not reduce the complexity of the 

application for smaller not-for-profit entities. This approach may also result in fewer 

income deferrals which would not address stakeholder feedback. That is, the financial 

reporting outcomes of smaller not-for-profit entities should reflect that the transferred 

resources are expected to be spent or used in a future period regardless of whether 

there were enforceable conditions.  

5.187 The Board is aware that some legislative threshold determinations are based on an entity’s 

revenue. Accordingly, the Board proposes to include the definition of revenue as income 

arising in the course of an entity’s ordinary activities as defined in AASB 15.  

5.188 The effect of the Board’s preliminary view is that any proposed changes to revenue and other 

income accounting may impact the determination of the size thresholds for financial reporting 

requirements and may impact whether an entity qualifies for a particular financial reporting tier. 

As such, the Board intends to work with legislative authorities and regulators to try to provide 

entities with better clarity on how having two sets of recognition and measurement criteria 

might impact the determination of their reporting obligations, as noted in paragraph 1.7.  

Employee benefits  

 

5.189 In addition to services provided by volunteers, it is expected that many not-for-profit Tier 3 

entities have one or more paid employees. Consequently, the Board considered it necessary 

to develop Tier 3 reporting requirements concerning the accounting for outstanding employee 

benefit obligations. Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in 

exchange for service rendered by employees or for the termination of employment.  

5.190 From its preliminary outreach, the Board noted that some stakeholders find the AASB 119 

Employee Benefits requirements regarding short-term paid absences and other long-term 

employee benefits likely to be challenging to understand and apply by Tier 3 entities, such as:  

(a) measurement of the employee benefits liability – including determining expected costs 

and understanding which obligations are discounted to determine present value of the 

liability; and 

(b) classification of the employee benefits liability – for example, understanding the 

interaction between the AASB 119 short-term and other long-term employee benefits 

categorisation and the current/non-current classification required by AASB 1060. 

Some short-term employee benefits (e.g. annual leave) may not be expected to be 

settled wholly before twelve months after the end of reporting period. In such a 

situation, even though Tier 3 entities do not need to reclassify the related employee 

benefit, they would need still to consider whether related employee benefit liability 

should be measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows of the 

employer for the employee services provided up to the reporting date. 

5.191 Employee benefits may be one of the common types of expense incurred by smaller not-for-

profit private sector entities and of interest to users. However, smaller not-for-profit private 
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sector entities are expected to have simple employee remuneration arrangements typically. As 

such, the Board is sympathetic to concerns that applying AASB 119 does not necessarily 

strike the right cost-benefit balance. Accordingly, the Board considered whether it should 

develop simpler requirements. 

5.192 The Board considered whether the requirement to treat all paid absences as non-

accumulating benefits and recognise expenses when the absences occur would address the 

concerns. Such a requirement may be easier to understand and apply as the entity’s 

obligation for outstanding employee benefits is not recognised as a liability. However, the 

Board rejected doing so as this departs from the accrual principle and because the Board was 

concerned that the resultant reported financial position would not provide users with a 

complete picture of the entity’s commitments and solvency given the relative significance and 

prevalence of employee benefit liabilities.    

5.193 Consequently, to strike an appropriate balance between reducing the complexities and 

preparation cost for Tier 3 entities and maintaining information usefulness and relevance to 

users, the Board has formed a preliminary view to develop the following recognition and 

measurement requirements for Tier 3 reporting of employee benefits:  

(a) non-accumulating paid absences and termination benefits would be recognised when 

the event occurs; and 

(b) all other employee benefits, regardless of whether the entitlement is vesting (i.e. 

employees are entitled to a cash payment for unused entitlement on leaving the entity) 

or non-vesting (i.e. employees are not entitled to a cash payment for unused 

entitlement on leaving the entity) would be recognised when an employee has 

rendered the services which entitles the employee to consideration; where 

(i) an expense (unless capitalised) is measured at the undiscounted amount of the 

obligation to the employee; and 

(ii) a liability (provision) is: 

(1) recognised at the reporting date for the outstanding obligation owed as a 

result of these services to the employee. Changes in the liability reflecting 

changes in the entity’s expectations of the future amounts payable would 

be recognised as part of the employee benefit expense in the period of 

the change. 

(2) measured at the undiscounted future outflow expected to be required to 

settle the present obligation (e.g. cash salary at the time leave is 

expected to be taken).14 The Board observed that not requiring the 

liability to be measured at the present value of the obligation eliminates 

the need for categorisation of employee benefits related provisions as 

either short or long-term employee benefits for measurement purpose, 

and consequently addresses the complexity arising from the interaction 

between AASB 119 and AASB 1060; 

(3) presented as current or non-current depending on whether the service 

conditions are met or expected to be met wholly before twelve months 

after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 

render the related service.15 

 
14  Similarly, under AASB 112 Income Taxes, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not discounted, even 

though part of the temporary difference may not reverse in the next reporting period. 
15  As discussed in paragraphs 5.20-5.24, the Board has formed a preliminary view to develop requirements for 

presentation on the face of the financial statements consistent with AASB 1060.  
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Example – personal leave  

An accumulating personal leave obligation for an employee is calculated as:  

Personal leave balance (days) x Weekly salary at the time leave is expected to be taken x 

probability of the employee will take the accrued personal leave in the future 

The probability should be assessed on a group basis, rather than based on individual 

employees. 

The liability is classified as a current liability regardless if the associated employee benefits are 

expected to be settled before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period. 

 

Example – long service leave  

The long service leave (LSL) obligation for an employee is calculated as:  

LSL accrual to date (weeks) x Weekly salary at the time leave is expected to be taken x 

Probability employee will meet the LSL vesting conditions. 

The liability is classified as current if the employee has met the service conditions (e.g. met 

certain years of services to qualify for LSL) for long service leave, or will meet these within 12 

months of the reporting date. Otherwise, the liability is classified as a non-current liability. 

Long-term employee benefits should reflect the probability that payment will be required and 

be measured on an undiscounted basis. 

 

Example – annual leave  

The annual leave obligation for an employee is calculated as:  

Annual leave balance (weeks) x Weekly salary at the time leave is expected to be taken 

The liability is classified as a current liability regardless of when the employee is expected to 

take the leave as the employee has met the service conditions for annual leave at the 

reporting date.  

 

5.194 The costs of calculating the present value of estimated future cash outflow include acquiring 

an appropriate discount rate, identifying when each entitlement is likely to be taken, and 

accounting for the unwind of the discount. The Board considered that the ability to provide 

relevant information to users is unlikely to be significantly impacted by not discounting the 

obligation for a range of reasons, including:  

(a) many obligations could be expected to be settled within a short-to-medium term 

timeframe; 

(b) the discount for the time value of money may largely negate any future pay rises such 

that the present value of the obligation and its undiscounted amount are not 

significantly different; and  

(c) the Board’s expectation that entities preparing Tier 3 financial statements are likely to 

have few paid employees means that the quantum of any difference is unlikely to 

misrepresent the obligation to users materially. 

5.195 Consequently, the Board decided that users would not be inappropriately disadvantaged by its 

proposal in paragraph 5.193(b)(ii)(2). 
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5.196 The Board’s proposed liability measurement requires an entity to consider future pay 

increases and the likelihood that an outflow would be required to settle the obligation.16 The 

Board recognises that this imposes costs on the entity to make supportable assumptions. The 

Board is not of a mind to completely eliminate these costs, for example, by requiring the 

liability to be measured based on current salary and ignoring the uncertainty of achieving the 

entitling event, because this would not be a faithful representation of the obligation.17  

5.197 However, the Board is conscious that calculating employee benefit liabilities can be time-

consuming and may be frequently actioned by a volunteer or another preparer who may 

struggle to make the necessary determinations. To assist preparers and introduce consistency 

amongst smaller not-for-profit private sector entities, the Board plans to develop the 

requirements further, if possible, to support the assessment of the likelihood that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, for example in a form of practical 

expedient or a rebuttable presumption. These further developments should reduce preparer 

costs and improve comparability between entities.  

5.198 One of the forms such a practical expedient or rebuttable presumption identified by the Board 

is the specified probability or probabilities representing deemed likelihood of employees 

becoming entitled to an employee benefit (e.g. long service leave). However, the Board 

observes that, following further investigation, it may determine that it is not feasible to develop 

such guidance. Identifying a ‘standard’ or common set of probabilities may not be possible, or 

research may suggest that the future Board commitment to maintaining such a set will be 

more than minimal. 

5.199 The Board does not intend to constrain the probability assessment to a “most likely” or an 

“expected value” approach. Such probability assessment remains a judgement that the entity 

must make. The number of employees may impact an entity’s decisions.  

Example – probability assessment for long service leave calculations 

Entity XYZ assesses that 4 out of every 10 employees who have worked for 5 years by the 

reporting date will qualify for long service leave.  

Assume Entity XYZ has 10 such employees, all on the same salary. Before considering the 

likelihood a payment will be required, Entity XYZ estimates its maximum future outflow for the 

5 years of services rendered to date to be $130,000. The liability depends on which of the two 

approaches below Entity XYZ adopts. If an entity adopts the: 

(a) most likely approach (entity considers whether it is it is probable employees will meet 

the service condition): the liability recognised will be $nil [$130,000 x 0]; or 

(b) expected value approach: the liability recognised will be $52,000 [$130,000 x 0.4].  

Termination benefits and defined benefit plans 

5.200 The Board observed that its intended preparers of Tier 3 general purpose financial statements 

are typically unlikely to incur termination benefits or have defined benefit plans. Consequently, 

the Board has not developed any other special accounting requirements for such employee 

benefits.  

 
16  For example, an outflow will always be required for annual leave obligations, because the entity must pay the 

employee for the leave when it is taken or when the employment ceases. However, an outflow may not be required 
for an unvested long service leave entitlement, because the entity expects the employee to cease working for the 
entity before the entitlement becomes due. 

17  Per the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, a faithful representation is neutral in depiction. Neutrality is 
supported by the exercise of prudence. The exercise of prudence does not allow for the overstatement of liabilities 
or expenses. 
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Other topics to be included in Tier 3 reporting requirements 

5.201 The Board also envisaged that the possible future Tier 3 reporting requirements would include 

accounting guidance for transactions that may be common for Tier 3 entities listed in 

paragraph 5.202. The Board has not identified these topics to date as of significant interest 

beyond simplification to terminology. 

5.202 The Board considered the principles in developing the Tier 3 reporting requirements and 

considered the accounting requirements in the pronouncements developed for smaller entities 

in other jurisdictions. The Board has formed a preliminary view to proposing Tier 3 reporting 

requirements primarily based on the New Zealand Tier 3 reporting requirements for the 

following topics discussed in paragraph 5.203 – 5.219:18  

(a) commitments (disclosed in the notes to the financial statements); 

(b) events after reporting period; 

(c) expenses; 

(d) foreign currency translations; 

(e) income taxes; 

(f) going concern; 

(g) offsetting; and 

(h) provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets. 

Commitments (disclosed in the notes to the financial statements)  

5.203 Commitments would be considered legal obligations to make payments in the future. Although 

commitments (operating or capital) are not yet recognised as liabilities, an entity would 

consider whether reporting commitments is useful for users of financial statements to properly 

understand the entity’s future viability.  

Events after reporting period  

5.204 Events after the reporting period are favourable and unfavourable events that occur between 

the end of the reporting period and when the financial statements are finalised. The end of the 

reporting period is the last day of the financial year to which the statements relate. The date of 

finalisation is the date on which the statements have received approval from the individual or 

body with the authority to authorise those statements for issue.  

5.205 An entity would be required to adjust the amounts recorded in its financial statements and 

revise the related disclosures to reflect events after the reporting period that provide evidence 

of conditions that existed after the reporting period.  

5.206 An entity would not be required to adjust the amounts recorded in its financial statements to 

reflect events after the reporting period that are indicative of conditions that arose after the 

reporting period. 

 
18  This view was formed considering the similarity of the current Tier 1 and Tier 2 reporting requirements for most of 

the other topics to New Zealand Tier 3 reporting requirements, the similar targeted size of the not-for-profit sector 
entities and the AASB’s policy on harmonisation of Trans-Tasman standard-setting. 
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Expenses 

5.207 Expenses would be recognised on the occurrence of a recognition event, where there is a 

legal obligation to pay cash either now or at some future time (normally referred to as the point 

at which an expense is “incurred”).  

Foreign currency translations  

5.208 Any foreign currency transactions would be required to be translated using the rate at the 

transaction date, or at the end of the reporting period for monetary assets and liabilities.  

Income tax 

5.209 Tax expenses (where relevant) would be based on income tax payable without any allowance 

for deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. 

Going concern 

5.210 The financial statements are typically prepared assuming that the entity will continue its 

operation for the foreseeable future (normally considered to be a minimum of 12 months from 

the end of the reporting period). This assumption may not be appropriate in some 

circumstances. For example, in may not be appropriate if the governing body determines after 

the balance date either that (a) there is an intention to liquidate the entity or to cease 

operating; or (b) that there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  

5.211 If the assumption of continuity is not appropriate, the relevant alternative assumption would 

need to be disclosed in the accounting policies in the notes to the financial statements 

(additional disclosure are also required in the notes to the financial statements as referred in 

paragraph 5.212). The entity would consider whether different specific accounting policies are 

more appropriate in these circumstances, for example valuing assets on a liquidation or non-

going concern basis.  

5.212 The impact of such changes will depend upon the entity's particular circumstances. For 

example, the effect on the recorded amounts of assets will depend upon whether operations 

are to be transferred to another entity, sold, or liquidated. Judgement will be required in 

determining whether a change in the carrying amount of assets and liabilities would be 

required. It will also be necessary to consider whether the change in circumstances leads to 

additional liabilities or triggers clauses in debt contracts which will lead to reclassifying those 

debts as current liabilities.  

Offsetting  

5.213 The offsetting of assets and liabilities, and revenues and expenses, can lead to a lack of 

relevant information for users of the financial statements. Therefore, the entity would be 

required to report gross amounts for transactions, and not offset (net-off) any associated 

transactions or balances. This means that: 

(a) assets and liabilities would not offset against each other; and 

(b) revenue/income and expenses shall not be offset against each other.  

5.214 Revaluation adjustments such as write-downs of inventory or property, plant and equipment 

provide for the change in value of an entity’s assets. Measuring assets net of revaluation 

adjustments is not considered offsetting. Accounting for the net amount of GST owing to or 

from the taxation authority would be permitted. 
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Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

5.215 A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. For example, an entity’s office premises 

lease may contain conditions requiring the premises to be renovated at the end of the lease, 

resulting in establishing a provision.  

5.216 A provision would be recognised as a liability when:  

(a) the entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events; 

(b) it is probable that the entity will have to settle the obligation; and 

(c) the entity can make a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation. 

5.217 The use of estimates is an essential part of the preparation of financial statements and does 

not undermine their reliability, especially in the case of provisions, which by their nature are 

typically more uncertain than other liabilities. Except in extremely rare cases, an entity should 

be able to make an estimate of the obligation that is sufficiently reliable to use in recognising a 

provision.  

5.218 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events that is contingent 

(dependent) on some future event. For example, a court case not yet settled, or a guarantee 

issued. Contingent liabilities would not be recognised in the statement of financial position but 

would be reported in the notes to the financial statements. 

5.219 The New Zealand Tier 3 reporting requirements do not contain guidance on the reporting 

requirements for contingent assets. As such, the Board does not propose any simplifications 

beyond what is currently required in AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets. An entity would not be required to recognise a contingent asset unless the 

realisation of income is virtually certain, then the recognition of an asset is appropriate. 
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Questions for respondents  

Primary financial statements 

Question 14 

Paragraphs 5.10 to 5.16 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that Tier 3 general purpose financial 

statements comprise a statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 

financial position, statement of cash flows and explanatory notes.  

(a) Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, which financial 

statements do you think should not form part of the Tier 3 general purpose financial 

statements? 

As noted in the paragraphs 5.17 - 5.19, the Board has not yet formed a view whether a statement of 

changes in equity should also form part of the Tier 3 general purpose financial statements.  

(b) Do you think the statement of changes in equity should also form part of the Tier 3 general 

purpose financial statements? If you support including a statement of changes in equity, do you 

think the information presented should be required as a separate statement or as part of the 

notes to the financial statements? 

 

Question 15 

Paragraphs 5.20 to 5.24 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that the information to be presented on 

the face of the statement of the financial position and statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income should be consistent with those specified by AASB 1060 supplemented by 

explanatory guidance and education materials to help entities present information on the face of the 

financial statements.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer the alternative 

approaches to presenting information on the face of the financial statements as specified in paragraph 

5.21(a) or 5.21 (b)? If not, do you have other suggestions on how information should be presented on 

the face of the financial statements? 

 

Question 16  

Paragraph 5.25 to 5.33 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to require the statement of cash flows to 

present:  

(a) cash flows from operating activities separately from other cash flows;  

(b) cash flows from operating activities using the direct method; and 

(c) cash and cash equivalent as specified by AASB 1060. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, which presentation 

requirements from (a) to (c) or the statement of cash flows concern you the most? Do you prefer other 

simplification(s) to the statement of cash flows? Please explain why. 

Consolidated financial statements  

Question 17 

Paragraph 5.34 to 5.47 discusses the Board’s preliminary view to allow an entity to present either:  

(a) separate financial statements as its only financial statements, even if it has subsidiaries, 

however, require information on the parent’s significant relationships; or 

(b) consolidated financial statements consolidating all its controlled entities.  
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Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer any other 

alternative requirements, for example Tier 3 accounting requirements should require an entity with 

subsidiaries to prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with AASB 10? Please specify 

and explain why. 

Separate financial statements of the parent  

Question 18 

Paragraph 5.48 to 5.54 discuss the Board’s preliminary view on the accounting requirements for a 

parent that presents separate financial statements to measure its interest in subsidiaries either:  

(a) at cost; 

(b) at fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

(c) using the equity method of accounting. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, which of the requirement(s) in 

(a) – (c) concerns you the most? Please specify and explain why.  

Changes in accounting policies and correction of accounting errors 

Question 19 

Paragraph 5.55 to 5.60 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to develop a requirement for a modified 

retrospective approach to apply to changes in accounting policies and correction of accounting errors.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other alternative 

requirements for changes in accounting policies and correction of accounting errors; for example, 

should Tier 3 accounting requirements continue to require the accounting treatment specified by 

AASB 108 to retrospectively reflect voluntary changes in accounting policies and correction of 

accounting errors? Please explain your answer.  

Changes in accounting estimates  

Question 20 

Paragraph 5.61 discusses the Board’s proposal to develop a requirement for changes in accounting 

estimates to be accounted for prospectively, consistent with AASB 108.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why.  

Financial instruments 

Question 21 

Paragraphs 5.62 to 5.76 discuss the Board’s preliminary views with respect to the accounting for 

financial instruments, in particular to develop simpler reporting requirements only for the identified 

‘basic’ financial instruments.  

The Board intends to require certain ‘more complex’ financial instruments to be accounted for in 

accordance with AASB 9 (or other Australian Accounting Standard, as appropriate) if the financial 

instrument is not otherwise addressed by a topic-based Tier 3 requirement. In addition, the Board 

intends not to specifically highlight or address particular financial instruments or transactions 

considered in AASB 9, AASB 132 and AASB 139 where these items and transactions are not common 

to not-for-profit private sector entities.  
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Do you agree with the Board’s approach to the identified ‘basic’ financial instruments? Why or why 

not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other alternatives? Please specify and 

explain why.  

 

Question 22  

Paragraphs 5.77 to 5.80 discuss the accounting for embedded derivatives. The Board has formed a 

preliminary view that a proportionate response for Tier 3 reporting requirements is not to require an 

entity to separately recognise certain derivative financial instruments that are not readily identifiable 

and measurable, including any embedded derivatives.  

The Board is seeking to understand the extent to which a smaller not-for-profit private sector entity is 

likely to have derivatives embedded within its contracts, or enter into arrangements or contracts that 

may result in a derivative financial instrument. This will help inform the Board how it should approach 

these instruments in a future Tier 3 Standard.  

Are you aware of any clauses in contracts of smaller not-for-profit private sector entities that would 

give rise to a derivative? Have you provided an arrangement with another party or entered into a net-

settled contract that would meet the definition of a derivative? Please explain. 

 

Question 23 

Paragraphs 5.81 to 5.82 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that an entity preparing Tier 3-compliant 

financial statements will not have access to hedge accounting.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? Please specify and explain why. Are you aware if smaller not-for-

profit private sector entities use hedge accounting?  

 

Question 24 

Paragraphs 5.83 to 5.85 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to develop a requirement for basic 

financial assets and financial liabilities to be initially measured at their fair value. Transaction costs and 

fees incurred by the entity to acquire a financial asset or assume a financial liability are to be 

immediately expensed. 

Do you agree? Why or why not?  If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why.  

 

Question 25 

Paragraphs 5.86 to 5.104 discuss the Board’s preliminary develop a requirement for basic financial 

assets and financial liabilities to be subsequently measured as follows:   

(a) basic financial assets that are held to generate both income and a capital return – at fair value 

through other comprehensive income; and 

(b) other basic financial assets and financial liabilities – at cost. Interest income and interest 

expense on these instruments are to be recognised as amounts accrue or are incurred, 

calculated by reference to the contractual interest rate. Any initial premium or discount on 

acquisition of the basic financial asset or financial liability is to be amortised on a straight-line 

basis over the life of the instrument, unless another systematic basis or shorter period is more 

reflective of the period to which the premiums or discounts relate. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why.  
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Question 26 

Paragraphs 5.105 to 5.108 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to develop a requirement for 

impairment of basic financial assets measured at cost to be recognised when it is probable that some 

or all of the amount owed will not be collectible. The impairment loss is to be measured at the 

anticipated uncollectible amount.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why. 

 

Question 27 

Paragraphs 5.109 to 5.114 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to develop a requirement that a 

financial asset is derecognised only when either the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

financial asset expire or are settled, or the entity otherwise loses control of the asset.  

The Board also formed a preliminary view not to address instances of debt instrument exchanges or 

modification of the terms of a financial liability as part of its Tier 3 Standard. An entity treats a 

modification of the terms of a financial liability or an exchange of a debt instrument for a different debt 

instrument as an extinguishment of the original financial liability. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why.  

Fair value measurement 

Question 28 

Paragraphs 5.115 to 5.119 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to not depart from the principles of 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement when developing reporting requirements for Tier 3 not-for-profit 

private sector entities as it thinks maintaining a consistent understanding of ‘fair value’ across the 

different reporting tiers is important. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer any other 

alternative requirements Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities? Please specify and explain why. 

 

Question 29 

Paragraphs 5.120 to 5.121 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that cost may be an appropriate 

estimate for fair value when cost represents the best estimate of fair value within a wide range of 

possible fair value measurements for instances described in paragraph 5.120.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why.  

Inventory 

Question 30 

Paragraphs 5.125 to 5.126 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to develop Tier 3 reporting 

requirements that are consistent with the requirements in AASB 102 Inventories. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why. 
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Biological assets 

Question 31 

Paragraph 5.128 discusses the accounting for biological assets if not scoped out from a Tier 3 

Standard. The Board’s preliminary view is not to include biological assets and agricultural produce at 

the point of harvest in a Tier 3 Standard as discussed in paragraphs 4.20.    

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer the accounting 

for biological asset should be included in a Tier 3 Standard and accounted for in accordance with the 

requirements for inventory? Please specify and explain why. 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

Question 32 

Paragraphs 5.129 to 5.132 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to develop a requirement for interests 

in associates and joint ventures to be measured:  

for a Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entity that is: 

(a) a parent entity that presents consolidated financial statements or it is not a parent entity, the 

entity applies the equity method of accounting consistent with the requirements in AASB 128 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures to its interests in associates and joint ventures; and 

(b) a parent entity that presents separate financial statements as its only financial statements, the 

entity does not apply the equity method of accounting to measure its interest in associates and 

joint ventures. 

The Board has not yet discussed other exemptions and exceptions to applying the equity method as it 

is only consulting on its general approach to accounting for interests in associates and joint ventures 

at this stage of its project.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why. 

Separate financial statements of the investor  

Question 33 

Paragraphs 5.133 to 5.134 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to allow an accounting policy choice 

to require an investor that presents separate financial statements, whether in addition to consolidated 

financial statements or equity-accounted financial statements, to measure its interest in associates 

and joint ventures as either:  

(a) at cost; or  

(b) at fair value through other comprehensive income.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why. 

Property, plant and equipment, and investment property 

Question 34 

Paragraphs 5.135 to 5.144 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to require property, plant and 

equipment and investment property, other than with respect to borrowing costs, to be recognised and 

measured in a consistent manner to Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other alternative 

requirements such as not to allow smaller not-for-profit private sector entities to revalue their non-

current assets? Please specify and explain why. 
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Non-financial assets acquired for significantly less than fair value  

Question 35 

Paragraphs 5.145 to 5.152 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to allow an entity the following 

accounting policy choice for initial measurement of non-financial assets acquired for significantly less 

than fair value: 

(a) inventory to be measured at cost or at current replacement cost; and  

(b) other non-financial assets to be measured at cost or at fair value.  

The Board also decided not to permit an entity to subsequent apply the revaluation or fair value model 

if the donated non-financial asset were initially measured at cost.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other alternative 

requirements discussed in paragraph 5.152? Please specify and explain why. 

Volunteer Services  

Question 36 

Paragraph 5.153 discusses the Board’s preliminary view to propose retaining the option to permit, but 

not require, a smaller not-for-profit entity to recognise volunteer services received, or a class of 

volunteer services, if the fair value of those services can be measured reliably. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other alternative 

requirements? Please specify and explain why. 

Borrowing costs 

Question 37 

Paragraphs 5.154 to 5.156 discuss the Board’s preliminary view to require all borrowing costs to be 

expensed in the period incurred for Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other alternatives 

requirements? Please specify and explain why. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Question 38 

Paragraphs 5.157 to 5.162 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that the impairment model for non-

financial assets of Tier 3 entities should: 

(a) only require non-financial assets subsequently measured at cost or deemed cost to be subject 

to impairment testing; 

(b) only require entities to consider whether non-financial assets are impaired when the asset has 

been physically damaged or when its service potential might have been adversely affected by 

a change in the entity’s strategy or changes in external demand for the entity’s services;   

(c) require impairment of a non-financial asset to be recognised if its carrying amount exceeds its 

recoverable amount being the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in 

use. Tier 3 reporting requirements will include a rebuttable presumption that fair value less 

costs of disposal is expected to be the most appropriate measure of a non-financial asset’s 

recoverable amount because non-financial assets are generally not held by not-for-profit 

private sector entities to generate cash flows; and 

(d) allow entities to group non-financial assets that do not generate cash flows that are largely 

independent from other assets into cash-generating units for impairment purposes. 



Development of Simplified Accounting Requirements  
 (Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Private Sector Entities) 

DISCUSSION PAPER Page 85 of 122 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other alternative 

requirements discussed in paragraph 5.162? Please specify and explain why. 

Assets held for sale 

Question 39 

Paragraph 5.163 discusses the Board’s preliminary view not to propose introducing any specific 

requirements for property, plant and equipment or other non-current assets that a smaller not-for-profit 

private sector entity intends to sell rather than hold for its continuing use.   

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why. 

Intangible assets 

Question 40 

Paragraphs 5.164 to 5.167 discuss that the Board has not yet formed a view to develop requirements 

for accounting of intangible assets in a Tier 3 Standard. The Board is seeking to understand the extent 

of use of intangible assets by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities including the typical forms of 

any intangible assets held. This will help inform the Board’s deliberations on intangible assets in a 

future Tier 3 Standard.  

Are you aware of any intangible assets and their type, either internally generated or externally 

acquired, commonly held and recognised by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities? If so, please 

provide details of these assets.  

Leases 

Question 41 

Paragraphs 5.168 to 5.178 discuss the Board’s preliminary view on accounting requirements for 

leases, including:  

(a) requiring a lessee to recognise lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the 

user’s benefit.  A similar requirement would apply for lessors;  

(b) concessionary lease arrangements (‘peppercorn’ leases) would be accounted for in the same 

manner as other leases; and 

(c) not including specific requirements for sale and lease back transactions, or for manufacturer or 

dealer lessors. 

Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s 

view, which of the requirement(s) in (a) – (c) concerns you the most? Do you prefer that Tier 3 

accounting requirements should be consistent with AASB 16 Leases? Please explain why.  

To the best of your knowledge, are sale and lease back transactions common for smaller not-for-profit 

private sector entities?   

Income (including Revenue) 

Question 42  

Paragraphs 5.179 to 5.188 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that income recognition for Tier 3 

entities should require an entity to assess whether a transaction is based on a common 

understanding, evidenced by the transfer provider in writing or some other form, that the entity is 

expected to use the inflows of resources in a particular way or act or perform in a particular way that 

results in outflows of resources, including: 
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(a) transferring goods or services;  

(b) performing a specified activity; 

(c) incurring eligible expenditure for a specified purpose; and  

(d) using the inflows of resources in respect of a specified period.  

Income is recognised in the manner that most faithfully represents the amount and pattern of 

consumption by the entity of the resources received. For all other income transactions, income is 

recognised at the earlier of receiving cash or obtaining a right to receive cash (receivable).  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree, do you prefer any other alternative approach as 

discussed in paragraph 5.186? Please specify and explain why. 

Employee benefits 

Question 43  

Paragraphs 5.189 to 5.199 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that employee benefits expense is 

measured at the undiscounted amount of the obligation to the employee for: 

(a) non-accumulation paid absences and termination benefits when the event occurs; and 

(b) all other employee benefits when an employee has rendered the services that entitles the 

employee to consideration. 

A provision for employee benefits is measured at the undiscounted future outflow expected to be 

required (including consideration of future pay increases) to settle the present obligation. 

The Board has not yet determined the form of guidance to be developed to support preparers in 

determining the likelihood that an outflow of economic benefits that will be required to settle these 

obligations. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives, for example Tier 3 requirements should require future outflows of employee benefits 

expenses to be discounted? Please specify and explain why.  

Are you aware of any industry-specific probability guidance that relates to employee benefits such as 

a long service leave? Please specify the source of that guidance.  

 

Question 44 

Paragraph 5.200 discusses that the Board has not developed any other special requirements for 

accounting for termination benefits and defined benefit plans.  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why. 

Other topics to be included in Tier 3 reporting requirements 

Question 45  

Paragraphs 5.201 to 5.219 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that Tier 3 reporting requirements 

would be similar to those specified in the New Zealand Tier 3 reporting requirements for the following 

topics: 

(a) commitments (disclosed in the notes to the financial statements); 

(b) events after reporting period; 

(c) expenses; 

(d) foreign currency transactions; 
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(e) income taxes; 

(f) going concern; 

(g) offsetting; and 

(h) provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets. 

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree with the Board’s view, do you prefer other 

alternatives? Please specify and explain why.  
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Section 6: Disclosure approach 

 

6.1 Disclosure requirements play a complementary role to the recognition and measurement 

requirements, which are fundamental to providing useful financial information about the 

entity’s operations. An item that possesses the essential characteristics of the element of a 

financial statement but fails to meet the criteria for recognition may nonetheless warrant 

disclosure in the notes or other explanatory material. Such a consideration is appropriate 

when knowledge of the item is relevant to the users’ evaluation of primary financial 

statements. 

6.2 The Board also considered its approach to simplification in Appendix B, including the principle 

that consistency with Tier 2 accounting principles is desirable but might not always be 

warranted. This principle considers that Tier 3 requirements are being developed as a 

proportionate response to the costs incurred by certain entities whilst meeting the needs of 

users of the financial statements of smaller not-for-profit entities. For example, the Board 

noted that opportunities for deviation from Tier 2 accounting principles that could give a similar 

outcome to users while reflecting an appropriate cost-benefit balance could include disclosure 

requirements instead of a Tier 2 measurement requirement or an approach of specifying 

minimum ‘prescriptive’ disclosures. 

6.3 Currently, not-for-profit entities are required to comply with Tier 2 reporting requirements, as a 

minimum, when preparing their general purpose financial statements. Tier 2 disclosure 

requirements are set out in AASB 1060, which was developed using a ‘bottom up’ approach 

based on the IFRS for SMEs Standard and adjusted as necessary based on the premise to 

align to IFRS for SMEs disclosures where the recognition and measurement requirements are 

the same or similar to full IFRS Standards. If the recognition and measurement principles in 

full IFRS Standards differ significantly from those in the IFRS for SMEs Standard, disclosures 

were either removed or added.  

6.4 Consequently, the Board considered the need to propose an approach to developing 

disclosure requirements that appropriately complement the Board’s preliminary views on 

Tier 3 recognition, measurement and presentation requirements. The Board also had regard to 

the objective of the project being to develop a differential reporting framework that is simple, 

proportionate, transparent, and easy to understand and apply.  

6.5 Accordingly, the Board proposes to adopt the following disclosure approach to determine 

disclosure requirements for topics covered in Tier 3 requirements:  

(a) for transactions and other events where there is a recognition and measurement 

difference between Tier 3 and Tier 1/Tier 2 reporting requirements, Tier 3 reporting 

requirements will:  

i) adopt appropriate disclosure requirements from other jurisdictions/frameworks 

with comparable recognition and measurement requirements; or  
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ii) develop fit-for-purpose disclosure requirements (e.g. using the existing disclosure 

requirements for topics whose requirements could be analogised to the Tier 3 

topics as the base to develop fit-for-purpose Tier 3 disclosures) if there are no 

comparable recognition and measurement requirements in other 

jurisdictions/frameworks.  

(b) for transactions where the recognition and measurement requirements for Tier 3 

reporting requirements are the same or similar to the corresponding Tier 2 recognition 

and measurement requirements – the disclosure requirements in AASB 1060 will be 

used as a starting point with further consideration of simplifications that may be 

appropriate.  

6.6 The Board has not yet formed a view on whether simplifications to AASB 1060 disclosure 

requirements are needed for transactions where there are no differences in recognition and 

measurement requirements between Tier 2 general purpose financial statements or for topics 

covered in the Tier 3 reporting requirements but not discussed as part of this Discussion 

Paper, such as related party disclosures. The Board would be interested to understand 

stakeholders' views on what disclosure requirements required in AASB 1060 can be further 

simplified, if any, and be required for Tier 3 reporting.  

6.7 As part of its deliberations when forming its view on developing the disclosure approach, the 

Board considered developing principles for Tier 3 reporting requirements as referenced in 

Appendix B. The Board considered that disclosure requirements in AASB 1060 should act as 

‘the cap’ for possible Tier 3 disclosure requirements, except as necessary to acknowledge 

differences from Tier 2 recognition and measurement requirements, to ensure internal integrity 

and consistency of Tier 3 requirements. When considering its views, the Board noted: 

(a) stakeholder feedback from its preliminary targeted outreach suggests that the 

proposed disclosure approach would enable appropriate disclosure requirements to 

be developed for Tier 3 reporting requirements; and  

(b) the proposed approach complements the proposed Tier 3 recognition and 

measurement requirements. It provides the Board with the flexibility to develop fit-for-

purpose disclosure requirements based on comparable international pronouncements 

or frameworks with comparable recognition and measurement requirements.  

6.8 The Board acknowledged that its proposed approach would inevitably lead to some departure 

from the disclosure requirements of Tier 1 and Tier 2 general purpose financial statements. 

However, the Board notes that its decisions will be made within the boundaries of the agreed 

Tier 3 objectives and will result in consistent Tier 3 requirements. The Board noted that its 

further deliberations on any final Tier 3 requirements, including simplifications to the Tier 2 

disclosure requirements will be informed by common users’ needs. These needs will be 

balanced with consideration for the cost to preparers. The Board seeks to obtain further 

information on these considerations through comments on this Discussion Paper and related 

outreach activities.  

6.9 The Board also considered an alternative approach adopting the ‘bottom up’ approach 

similarly used to develop AASB 1060 as noted in paragraph 6.3. This would require the Board 

to identify the appropriate reporting framework as the base that is proportionate for entities 

within the size and nature of the Tier 3 reporting requirements. The Board did not pursue this 

approach, noting that:  

(a) challenges in identifying an appropriate base from which to build the Tier 3 disclosure 

requirements given the proposed recognition and measurement of the Tier 3 reporting 

requirement were developed considering pronouncements of different jurisdictions; 

and 
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(b) it may present unnecessary complexity to apply disclosure requirements where 

practitioners may be unfamiliar with the reporting framework that the Board might use 

as its base (such as from international pronouncements). 

6.10 Figure 6.1 presents the approach to developing Tier 3 disclosure requirements as described in 

paragraphs 6.5 – 6.6. 

Figure 6.1: Approach to developing Tier 3 disclosure requirements  

 

6.11 The following section presents the proposed disclosure approach applied to some of the Tier 3 

reporting requirements, including property, plant and equipment, and investment property 

(referred to in paragraphs 5.135 – 5.144), leases (referred to in paragraphs 5.168 – 5.178) and 

changes in accounting policies and accounting errors (referred to in paragraphs 5.55 – 5.61). 

The disclosures examples are only for illustrative purpose on which the Tier 3 disclosures may 

be developed.  

Example of disclosures for property, plant and equipment, and investment 
property  

6.12 Table 6.1 summarises the application of the Board’s preliminary view on the disclosure 

approach to property, plant and equipment, and investment property. The example following 

Table 6.1 illustrates disclosure requirements resulting from the respective approaches 

identified in Table 6.1. 

Table 6.1: Evaluation of the proposed disclosures for property, plant and equipment, and investment property 

 Is there any 

recognition and 

measurement 

difference between 

Tier 3 and upper tiers?  

Is there a jurisdiction or 

framework with 

comparable recognition 

or measurement 

requirements? 

Approach to developing 

disclosure requirements 

Initial measurement 

of non-financial 

assets acquired for 

Yes – Tier 3 reporting 

requirements allow 

entities an accounting 

policy choice to apply 

Unique to Tier 3, however, 

similar to the current 

requirement measuring 

right-of-use (ROU) assets 

Develop fit-for-purpose 

disclosures using the current 

disclosure requirements in 

AASB 1060 for ROU assets 
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 Is there any 

recognition and 

measurement 

difference between 

Tier 3 and upper tiers?  

Is there a jurisdiction or 

framework with 

comparable recognition 

or measurement 

requirements? 

Approach to developing 

disclosure requirements 

significantly less 

than fair value 

either the cost model or 

the fair value model in 

accordance with 

AASB 13. 

arising under 

concessionary leases at 

cost in AASB 16.  

arising under concessionary 

leases as the base. 

Subsequent 

measurement 

requirements for 

investment 

property and 

property, plant and 

equipment other 

than the initial 

measurement of 

non-financial 

assets acquired for 

significantly less 

than fair value 

No recognition or 

measurement difference 

between Tier 3 and 

current requirements in 

AASB 140 and 

AASB 116. 

Not applicable  Adopt disclosure requirements in 

AASB 1060 as a starting point 

with minor tailoring to align terms 

and language with Tier 3 

reporting requirements and 

update cross-references with 

applicable paragraphs in the 

Tier 3 Standard.  

The Board will consider whether 

further simplification is required.   

Borrowing costs Yes – Tier 3 reporting 

requirements require all 

borrowing costs to be 

expensed in the period 

incurred.  

Yes – IFRS for SMEs 

Standard 

Adopting the approach in IFRS 

for SMEs Standard, which is not 

to have any specific disclosure 

requirements for borrowing costs.  

 

Example – disclosure requirements for property, plant and equipment, and investment property 

Non-financial assets acquired for significantly less than fair value 

1 When a not-for-profit entity elects to measure a class or classes of non-financial assets acquired 

for significantly less than fair value to further its objective at initial recognition at cost in accordance 

with paragraphs [X], the entity shall disclose information that helps users of financial statements to 

assess the entity’s dependence on non-financial assets acquired for significantly less than fair 

value principally to enable the entity to further its objectives. 

2 The disclosures provided by a not-for-profit entity in accordance with paragraph [X] shall be 

provided individually for each material non-financial assets acquired for significantly less than fair 

value principally to enable the entity to further its objectives or in aggregate for non-financial assets 

of a similar nature. An entity shall consider the level of detail necessary to satisfy the disclosure 

objective and how much emphasis to place on each of the various requirements. An entity shall 

aggregate or disaggregate disclosures so that useful information is not obscured by either the 

inclusion of a large amount of insignificant detail or the aggregation of items that have substantially 

different characteristics. 

[Based on AASB 1060 paragraphs 151–152] 

Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property  

1 An entity shall disclose the following for each class of property, plant and equipment determined in 

accordance with paragraph [X] and separately for investment property carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment: 

(a) the measurement bases used for determining the gross carrying amount; 

(b) the depreciation methods used; 

(c) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used; 

(d) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with 

accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the reporting period; and 

(e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the reporting period, 

showing separately: 

(i) additions; 
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(ii) assets classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group classified as held 

for sale in accordance with paragraph [X] and other disposals; 

(iii) acquisitions through business combinations; 

(iv) increases or decreases resulting from revaluations under paragraph XX and from 

impairment losses recognised or reversed in other comprehensive income in 

accordance with paragraph [X] Impairment of Assets; 

(v) transfers to and from investment property carried at fair value through profit or 

loss (see paragraph [X] Investment Property); 

(vi) impairment losses recognised or reversed in profit or loss in accordance with 

paragraph [X] Impairment of Assets; 

(vii) depreciation; and 

(viii) other changes. 

This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods. 

[Based on AASB 1060 paragraph 134] 

2 An entity shall also disclose the following: 

(a) the existence and carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment to which the entity has 

restricted title or that is pledged as security for liabilities; 

(b) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment; 

and 

(c) if an entity has investment property whose fair value cannot be measured reliably, it shall 

disclose that fact and the reasons why fair value cannot be measured reliably for those items 

of investment property. 

[Based on AASB 1060 paragraph 135] 

3 If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, an entity shall disclose 

the following: 

(a) the effective date of the revaluation; 

(b) whether an independent valuer was involved; 

(c) the methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating the items’ fair values; and 

(d) the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions on the 

distribution of the balance to owners/members (if any). 

[Based on AASB 1060 paragraph 136] 

Example of disclosures for leases  

6.13 Table 6.2 summarises the application of the Board’s preliminary view on the disclosure 

approach to the leases. The example following Table 6.2 illustrates disclosure requirements 

resulting from the respective approaches identified in Table 6.2.  

Table 6.2: Evaluation of the proposed disclosures for leases 

 Is there any recognition 

and measurement 

difference between 

Tier 3 and Tier 1 or 

Tier 2?  

Is there a jurisdiction or 

framework with 

comparable recognition 

or measurement 

requirements  

Approach to developing 

disclosure requirements 

Lessee Yes – Proposed Tier 3 

R&M requirements are 

similar to reporting 

requirements for operating 

leases in the superseded 

AASB 117 Leases and 

lessees are not required to 

recognise ROU assets. 

Recognition: NZ PBE 

SFR-A (NFP), where all 

leases are treated in the 

same way. 

Measurement: similar to 

accounting for operating 

leases in UK FRS 102, UK 

FRS 105, UK Charities 

SORP, Singapore CAS, 

HK SME-FRF & SME-

FRS, Canada ASNPFO. 

Adopt the disclosure 

requirements for operating leases 

in IFRS for SMEs Standard, 

which is same as the disclosure 

requirements in AASB 117 for 

operating leases.  

The Board considered that Tier 3 

entities would be familiar with 

these pre-AASB 16 disclosure 

requirements, making the 

transition easier.   
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 Is there any recognition 

and measurement 

difference between 

Tier 3 and Tier 1 or 

Tier 2?  

Is there a jurisdiction or 

framework with 

comparable recognition 

or measurement 

requirements  

Approach to developing 

disclosure requirements 

Lessor All leases are treated in a 

similar manner to that 

currently required for 

leases classified as an 

‘operating lease’. No 

further classification (i.e. 

operating versus finance 

leases) is required.  

There is no R&M 

difference between Tier 3 

and current operating 

lease requirements in 

AASB 16 for lessors. 

N/A Adopt the current disclosure 

requirements in AASB 1060 for 

operating leases and tailor to 

align terms and language with 

Tier 3 reporting requirements.  

No further simplification for 

disclosures from current AASB 

1060 requirements intended at 

this stage.  

Example – disclosure requirements for leases 

Leases – Lessees 

1 Lessees shall make the following disclosures for leases:  

(a) the total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases for each of the 
following periods: 

(i) not later than one year; 

(ii) later than one year and not later than five years; 

(iii) later than five years 

(b) lease payments recognised as an expense; and  

(c) a general description of the lessee’s significant leasing arrangements including, for 
example, information about contingent rent, renewal or purchase options and escalation 
clauses, subleases, and restrictions imposed by lease arrangements. 

[Based on the IFRS for SMEs Standard paragraph 20.16] 

Leases – Lessors  

1 A lessor shall disclose the following for operating leases: 

(a) the future lease payments under non-cancellable leases for each of the following periods: 

(i) not later than one year; 

(ii) later than one year and not later than five years; and 

(iii) later than five years; 

(b) total variable lease payments that do not depend on an index, or a rate, recognised as 
income; and 

(c) a general description of the lessor’s significant leasing arrangements, including, for 
example, information about variable lease payments, renewal or purchase options and 
escalation clauses and restrictions imposed by lease arrangements. 

[Based on AASB 1060 paragraph 148] 

2 In addition, the requirements for disclosure about assets in accordance with the sections covering 
of Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property at Cost, Intangible Assets other than 
Goodwill, and Impairment of Assets apply to lessors for assets provided under leases.  

[Based on AASB 1060 paragraph 149] 
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Example of disclosures for changes in accounting policies and correction of 
errors  

6.14 Table 6.3 summarises the application of the Board’s preliminary view on the disclosure 

approach to changes in accounting policies and correction of errors, and the example 

following Table 6.3 presents an illustration of disclosure requirements resulting from the 

respective approaches identified in Table 6.3.  

Table 6.3: Evaluation of the proposed disclosures for changes in accounting policies and correction of errors 

 Is there any recognition 

and measurement 

difference between 

Tier 3 and upper tiers?  

Is there a jurisdiction or 

framework with 

comparable recognition 

or measurement 

requirements  

Approach to developing 

disclosure requirements 

Changes in 

Accounting 

policies 

Yes – simplification 

provided to Tier 3.  

However, the 

simplification is similar to 

the impracticability 

exception from restating 

comparatives in AASB 

108 Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors. 

None Develop fit-for-purpose 

disclosure requirements starting 

with the current Tier 2 

requirements in AASB 1060 and 

removing non-applicable 

disclosure requirements.  

The Board will consider 

disclosures related to transitional 

provisions, to be developed after 

considering stakeholder feedback 

of its preliminary views. 

Correction of 

errors 

Yes – simplification 

provided to Tier 3.  

 

NZ PBE SFR-A(NFP) Adopt the applicable disclosure 

requirements in NZ PBE SFR-

A(NFP) (paragraph 212) and 

adjust for Australian Tier 3-

specific circumstances.  

Example – disclosure requirements for changes in accounting policies and correction of errors 

Disclosure of a change in accounting policy 

1 When a voluntary change in accounting policy has an effect on the current period or any prior 
period, an entity shall disclose the following: 

(a) the nature of the change in accounting policy; 

(b) the reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides reliable and more relevant 
information; 

(c) to the extent practicable, the amount of the adjustment for each financial statement line item 
affected, shown separately: 

(i) for the current period; and 

(ii) in the aggregate for all affected prior periods.  

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 

[Based on AASB 1060 paragraph 108] 

Disclosure of prior period errors 

1 An entity shall disclose the following about prior period errors: 

(a) a description of the error, including how the error occurred, and how it was corrected; and 

(b) the line items and amounts that have been corrected. 

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 

[Based on NZ PBE SFR-A (NFP) paragraph 212 and AASB 1060 paragraph 110] 
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Questions for respondents  

Question 46  

Paragraphs 6.1 to 6.11 discuss the Board’s preliminary view that disclosure requirements for Tier 3 

not-for-profit private sector entities should be developed based on the following principle:  

(a) for transactions where there is a recognition and measurement difference between Tier 3 

reporting requirements and Tier 2 general purpose financial statements, Tier 3 reporting 

requirements will:  

 (i) adopt appropriate disclosure requirements from comparable jurisdictions, 

pronouncements or frameworks, if available; or  

 (ii) develop fit-for-purpose disclosure requirements if there are no comparable recognition 

and measurement requirements from other jurisdictions, pronouncements or 

frameworks. Fit-for-purpose disclosure requirements could be developed based on the 

disclosure requirements in AASB 1060 where the recognition and measurement 

requirements could be analogised to the Tier 3 reporting requirements. 

(b) for transactions where the recognition and measurement requirements for Tier 3 reporting 

requirements are the same as, or similar to, the corresponding recognition and measurement 

requirements for Tier 2 general purpose financial statements, the disclosure requirements in 

AASB 1060 will be used as a starting point with further consideration of simplifications that 

may be appropriate  

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you disagree, what alternative approach do you suggest? Please 

specify and explain why.  

 

Question 47 

Paragraph 6.12 discusses the Board’s preliminary view on the disclosure requirements for property, 

plant and equipment, and investment property would be for: 

(a) initial measurement of non-financial assets acquired at significantly less than fair value – 

develop fit-for-purpose disclosures based on AASB 1060 as required for concessionary 

leases; and 

(b) subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment – adopt AASB 1060 disclosures 

with simplification of the language. No specific disclosures required for borrowing cost. 

Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view? Why or why not? If you disagree, do you prefer 

alternative disclosure requirements? Please specify and explain why.  

 

Question 48 

Paragraph 6.13 discusses the Board’s preliminary view on the disclosure requirements for leases 

would be for: 

(a) lessee – adopt IFRS for SMEs Standard disclosures for operating leases; and  

(b) lessor – adopt AASB 1060 disclosures for operating leases with simplification of the language. 

Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view? Why or why not? If you disagree, do you prefer 

alternative disclosure requirements? Please specify and explain why.  
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Question 49 

Paragraph 6.14 discusses the Board’s preliminary view on the disclosure requirements for changes in 

accounting policies and correction of errors would be for: 

(a) changes in accounting polices – develop fit-for-purpose disclosures based on AASB 1060 and 

removing non-applicable disclosures; and 

(b) correction of errors – adopt New Zealand Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting – 

Accrual (Not-for-Profit) . 

Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view? Why or why not? If you disagree, do you prefer 

alternative disclosure requirements? Please specify and explain why.  
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Appendix A: Comparison of the Board’s preliminary views against Tier 2 
reporting requirements 

Appendix A provides an overview of the Board’s preliminary views for Tier 3 general purpose financial 

statements compared to the corresponding Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures 

requirements. 

Topic AASB Tier 3 preliminary views AASB Tier 2 requirement 

Hierarchy 

approach to the 

accounting 

requirements 

for topics 

specifically 

scoped out 

from Tier 3 

Standard (i.e. 

omitted topics) 

The following hierarchy applies to developing an 

accounting policy for transactions and other events 

and conditions specifically scoped out of Tier 3 

Standard to:  

• first apply accounting specified by Tier 2: 

Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified 

Disclosures.  

• otherwise, in descending order  

o by reference to the Tier 3 accounting 

applicable to similar and related 

transactions or events; and 

o consistency with the Australian 

Conceptual Framework to the extent it 

does not conflict with Tier 3 reporting 

requirements. 

In forming an appropriate accounting policy, an 

entity may also consider Tier 1 or Tier 2 

requirements or the most recent 

pronouncements of other standard-setting 

bodies that use a similar conceptual 

framework, other accounting literature and 

accepted industry practices, to the extent these 

do not conflict with Australian Accounting 

Standards. 

The following hierarchy applies to developing an 

accounting policy, in descending order:  

• by reference to the [Tier 2] accounting 

applicable to similar and related issues; and 

• consistency with the Australian Conceptual 

Framework.  

An entity may also consider the most recent 

pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that 

use a similar conceptual framework, other accounting 

literature and accepted industry practices, to the 

extent these do not conflict with Australian 

Accounting Standards. 

Ability to “opt 

up” to an 

alternative 

accounting 

policy  

The Board has not yet formed a view whether to 

develop a requirement that would allow entities to 

“opt up” on a policy-by-policy basis to an 

accounting policy permitted or required by Tier 1 or 

Tier 2 Australian Accounting Standards for topics 

addressed in Tier 3 reporting requirements 

Not applicable 

Primary 

financial 

statements  

The following financial statements form part of the 

general purpose financial statements:  

• statement of financial position  

• statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income  

• statement of cash flows.  

• notes to the financial statements 

The Board has not yet formed a view on whether to 

require a statement of changes in equity to be 

presented.  

 

The following financial statements form part of the 

general purpose financial statements:  

• statement of financial position  

• statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income  

• statement of changes in equity  

• statement of cash flows  

• notes to the financial statements 

A statement of retained earnings and income may be 

presented instead of a separate statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income and statement 

of changes in equity (conditions apply).  

Presentation of 

statement of 

cash flows  

Cash flows from operating activities are presented:  

• using the direct method 

• separately from other cash flows 

Investing cash flows do not need to be separately 

distinguished from financing cash flows.  

The statement of cash flows is otherwise consistent 

with AASB 1060 requirements for this statement.  

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash 

flows classified as either operating, investing or 

financing cash flows.  

Cash flows from operating activities may be 

presented using either the direct method or the 

indirect method (reconciliation from net profit). 

Presentation of 

the statement 

As per Tier 2 presentation requirements with 

accompanying guidance.  

Tier 2 specifies minimum financial information to be 

presented on the face of the statement of financial 
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Topic AASB Tier 3 preliminary views AASB Tier 2 requirement 

of financial 

position and 

statement of 

profit or loss 

and other 

comprehensive 

income  

 position and statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income with flexibility to present 

further information (either in the notes or on the face 

of the financial statements) 

Consolidation 

of subsidiaries 

An entity can choose whether to prepare only 

separate financial statements (no subsidiaries are 

consolidated) or consolidated financial statements 

(all subsidiaries are consolidated – except if the 

parent entity is controlled by another Australian 

entity or an investment entity). Disclosures will be 

required for entities preparing separate financial 

statements that would provide users of the financial 

statements with information about the parent 

entity’s significant relationships. 

Consolidated financial statements must be 

presented. All subsidiaries must be consolidated – 

except if the parent entity is controlled by another 

Australian entity (ultimate or any intermediate parent 

entity) or an investment entity.  

Separate 

financial 

statements  

A parent entity that presents separate financial 

statements can measure its interest in subsidiaries 

at either:  

• cost; or 

• at fair value through other comprehensive 

income (FVTOCI); or 

• using the equity method of accounting 

An entity can measure its interest in subsidiaries, 

joint ventures and associates at either:  

• cost, 

• in accordance with IFRS 9 (at fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL) unless it makes an 

irrevocable election to measure at FVTOCI); or  

• using the equity method of accounting. 

Voluntary 

changes in 

accounting 

policies  

Voluntary changes in accounting policies are 

applied following a modified retrospective approach 

by adjusting the opening balances of the current 

reporting period for the cumulative effect of the 

change without amending comparative information.  

Voluntary changes in accounting policies are applied 

retrospectively by adjusting the opening balances of 

the earliest reporting period unless impracticable, and 

the comparative period(s), presented in the financial 

statements for the cumulative effect of the change. 

Accounting 

errors  

Material prior period errors are corrected in the 

period in which they are identified by adjusting 

opening balances of the financial year without 

amending comparative information 

Material prior period errors are corrected for 

retrospectively by adjusting the opening balances of 

the earliest reporting period when the error occurred 

if practicable, and the comparative period(s), 

presented in the financial statements. 

Basic financial 

instruments  

Initial measurement  

Basic financial instruments are initially measured at 

fair value. 

Transaction costs are expensed immediately. 

Basic financial assets – subsequent measurement 

Basic financial assets are measured at cost except 

for financial assets that are held to generate both 

income and capital return for the entity. These are 

measured at FVTOCI.  

Basic financial liabilities – subsequent 

measurement  

Basic financial liabilities are measured at cost. 

Interest income/expense  

Interest income and interest expense is calculated 

by reference to the instrument’s contractual interest 

rate.  

Any initial premium or discount is amortised over 

the expected life of the instrument.  

Impairment 

Impairment is recognised when it is probable that 

the carrying amount will not be collectible.  

Derecognition 

For basic financial assets – when either the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

financial asset expire or the entity otherwise loss 

control of the asset. 

Initial measurement  

Under AASB 9 all financial instruments are initially 

measured at fair value adjusted for, in the case of a 

financial asset or financial liability not at FVTPL, 

transaction cost.  

Classification 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified 

into specified categories.  

Some financial instruments that meet the definition of 

a financial liability are classified as equity. The 

component parts of a compound financial instrument 

are separately recognised and measured.  

Financial assets – subsequent measurement  

Financial assets meeting both a business model test 

and solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’) 

test are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.  

A financial asset that meets both a business model 

test (including selling financial assets) and SPPI test 

or is a qualifying equity instrument may be measured 

at FVTOCI.  

Other financial assets, including derivatives, are 

measured at FVTPL.  

Financial liabilities – subsequent measurement  

Financial liabilities that are held for trading (including 

derivatives), or are designated into the category, are 

measured at FVTPL. In general, other financial 
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Topic AASB Tier 3 preliminary views AASB Tier 2 requirement 

For basic financial liabilities – when the obligation is 

discharged. A modification of the terms of a 

financial liability or an exchange of financial 

liabilities is treated as an extinguishment of the 

original financial liability and recognition of a new 

financial liability.  

 

liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. 

Specific requirements apply to financial instruments 

such as financial guarantee contracts. Financial 

guarantee contracts are measured at higher of the 

expected credit loss allowance and the instrument’s 

fair value less any income subsequently recognised.  

Interest income/expense  

Interest income and expenses are calculated based 

on the effective interest method. 

Impairment 

Impairment is recognised and measured based on 

calculating a probability-weighted estimate of credit 

losses over the expected life of the financial 

instrument. 

Derecognition  

A financial asset is derecognised when either the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

asset expire or the financial asset is transferred. 

Criteria apply to determining when a financial asset is 

transferred in a manner that qualifies for 

derecognition; including whether the entity has any 

continuing involvement in the transferred financial 

asset.  

A financial liability is derecognised when the 

obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. Some 

modifications or exchanges of financial liabilities are 

not treated as a derecognition of the original financial 

liability.  

Hedge accounting  

Hedge accounting is permitted. Conditions apply. 

Embedded derivative 

Certain embedded derivatives must be separately 

recognised and measured.  

Other financial 

instruments  

In general, an entity is required to apply AASB 9 to 

other (more complex) financial instruments.  

Hedge accounting  

Hedge accounting is not permitted.  

Embedded derivatives 

An embedded derivative is not separately 

recognised.  

 

Fair value 

measurement 

As per Tier 2  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date. AASB 13 establishes a fair value 

hierarchy categorising into three levels the inputs to 

valuation techniques to allow an entity to measure 

fair value that is appropriate in the circumstances by 

maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 

minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

Inventory As per the AASB Tier 2 requirement except Tier 3 

will not address how to account for the reversal of 

any previously recognised write-downs of 

inventories to net-realisable value or for a loss of 

service potential. 

Inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value and inventories held for distribution is 

measured at cost, adjusted for impairment where 

applicable for any loss of service potential. 

An entity is required to assess whether there is any 

indication an impairment loss no longer exists. A 

reversal of impairment loss is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a 

revalued amount in accordance with another 

Standard in which the reversal is treated as a 

revaluation increase. 

Investment in 

associates and 

joint ventures  

A parent entity that presents consolidated financial 

statements or an entity that is not a parent applies 

the equity method of accounting as per Tier 2 

recognition and measurement requirements.  

An entity that is a parent entity that presents 

separate financial statements as its only financial 

statements does not apply the equity method of 

accounting to measure its associates and joint 

Unless the investor presents separate financial 

statements as its only set of financial statements, 

then interests in associates and joint ventures are 

measured using the equity method of accounting in 

an investor’s financial statements. Investor. An 

Investor that presents separate financial statements 

as its only set of financial statements may apply the 
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Topic AASB Tier 3 preliminary views AASB Tier 2 requirement 

ventures.  The parent entity can only apply cost or 

FVTOCI for the accounting for interest in 

associates and joint ventures.  

An investor is required to measure its investment in 

associates or joint ventures at cost or fair value 

through other comprehensive income, in addition to 

preparing equity accounted financial statements to 

measure its interest in associates and joint 

ventures. 

accounting policy described under Separate Financial 

Statements 

Property, plant 

and equipment 

 

 

Same as Tier 2 recognition and measurement 

requirements, however the directly attributable 

costs of acquiring or constructing property, plant 

and equipment do not include any borrowing costs. 

Borrowing costs that are a directly attributable cost 

of a qualifying asset are expensed as incurred.  

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost or 

on the revaluation basis, less any accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment (discussed 

later in this table).  

‘Cost’ includes the directly attributable costs of 

bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 

manner intended by management. 

Investment 

property 

Same as Tier 2 recognition and measurement 

requirements, however the directly attributable 

costs of acquiring or constructing investment 

property do not include any borrowing costs. 

Borrowing costs that are a directly attributable cost 

of a qualifying asset are expensed as incurred.  

Investment property is measured at cost (less any 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment) or on the fair value basis.  

 

Borrowing 

costs  

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period 

incurred. 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 

asset are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. 

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period 

incurred.  

Non-financial 

assets acquired 

at significantly 

less than fair 

value (donated 

non-financial 

assets)  

An entity can choose to initially measure:  

• inventory at cost or current replacement cost; 

and  

• other non-financial assets at cost or at fair 

value in accordance with AASB 13  

Income is recognised based on =amount the asset 

was initially measured (i.e. either at cost or fair 

value of the asset)  

Non-financial assets acquired at significantly less 

than fair value is initially measured at fair value in 

accordance with AASB 13. 

Income is recognised at the amount the asset was 

initially measured (i.e. at fair value of the asset). 

Impairment of 

non-financial 

assets  

Same as AASB 136 requirement regarding the 

impairment of inventory.  

For other non-financial assets - only assets 

subsequently measured at cost or deemed cost are 

subject to impairment testing. Assets are only 

impaired when: 

1) physically damaged; or  

2) service potential might have been adversely 

affected by a change in the entity’s strategy or 

changes in external demands of the entity’s 

services. 

Measurement of impairment as per AASB 136 

except Tier 3 reporting requirements will include a 

rebuttable presumption that fair value less costs of 

disposal is expected to be the most appropriate 

measure of an asset’s recoverable amount. 

Tier 3 will not address how to account for the 

reversal of any previously recognised impairment 

losses. 

An entity is required to determine whether there is an 

indication that an asset is impaired, or the asset is 

one that is required to be tested for impairment 

annually. The asset is impaired if its carrying amount 

exceeds the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of its 

fair value less cost of disposals and its value in use), 

with the difference recognised as an impairment loss.  

If the impairment loss no longer exists, a reversal of 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount 

in accordance with another Standard in which the 

reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

Leases  A lessee (lessor) recognises the lease payments 

(receipts) associated with the leasing arrangement 

as an expense (income) on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the agreement, unless another 

systematic basis is representative of the time 

A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset and lease 

liability for leases other than for short-term leases 

and leases of low-value assets. For short-term leases 

and leases of low-value assets, the lease payments 

associated with the leasing arrangement are 

recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
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Topic AASB Tier 3 preliminary views AASB Tier 2 requirement 

pattern of the consumption by the entity of the 

asset’s benefit. 

 

over the lease term (or another systematic basis – 

conditions apply). 

A lessor classifies a lease as either a finance lease or 

operating lease. The lessor in a finance lease 

derecognises the underlying asset and recognises in 

its place a lease receivable measured at its net 

investment in the lease. The lessor in an operating 

lease recognises lease payments as income on a 

straight-line basis (or another systematic basis – 

conditions apply).  

Revenue/ 

Income 

Income is deferred when there is a common 

understanding, evidenced by the transfer provider 

in writing or some other form, that the entity is 

expected to use the inflows of resources in a 

particular way or act or perform in a particular way 

that results in outflows of resources. 

Income is recognised in a manner that most 

faithfully represents the amount and pattern of 

consumption by the entity of the resources 

received.  

For all other income transactions, income is to be 

recognised at the earlier of receiving cash or cash 

receivable.  

Not-for-profit entities are required to comply with 

AASB 15 and AASB 1058 when accounting for 

revenue and income. An entity is required to identify 

and assess the performance obligation for the goods 

or services promised to transfer to the customer, and 

recognises revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies 

the performance obligation when the promised goods 

or services is transferred. For transactions where the 

consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less 

than fair value, principally to enable an entity to 

further its objects, income (except for those scoped 

out of AASB 1058 such as share-based payments) 

would be recognised immediately upon recognising 

an inflow of an asset except to the extent that the 

entity has an enforceable obligation to use a 

transferred financial asset to acquire or construct a 

recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by 

the entity.  

Volunteer 

services  

Same as Tier 2 requirement An entity can elect to recognise volunteer services, or 

a class therefore of, at fair value provided that fair 

value of those services can be measured reliably  

Employee 

benefits 

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense 

when the employee has rendered the services 

entitling them to compensation.  

Outstanding employee benefit obligations are 

recognised as a liability, measured at the 

undiscounted amount of the expected future 

outflow required to settle the obligation. The liability 

is presented as current or non-current depending 

on whether the service conditions are met or 

expected to be met wholly before twelve months 

after the end of the annual reporting period  

Employee benefits are categorised as short-term, 

post-employment, other long-term and termination 

benefits. They may also be share-based payments. 

Different accounting requirements apply to each 

category. However, in general:  

• an expense is recognised when the employee 

has rendered the services entitling them to 

compensation; 

• amounts not expected to be settled within 12 

months are discounted, even if the obligation is 

classified as a current liability; and 

• the probability that an outflow of economic 

resources is required must be considered in 

measuring an employee benefit liability. 

Approach to 

disclosure 

requirements  

For transactions with the same or similar 

recognition and measurement requirements to 

Tier 2, disclosure requirements to be based on the 

corresponding requirements in AASB 1060.  

For transactions with different recognition and 

measurement requirements to Tier 2, disclosure 

requirements will adopt appropriate disclosure 

requirements from other jurisdictions that are 

comparable to Tier 3 recognition and measurement 

requirements or develop specific disclosure 

requirements in the absence of appropriate 

international precedents  

Disclosure requirements were developed based on a 

bottom-up approach starting from the IFRS for SMEs 

Standard where disclosures in IFRS for SMEs 

Standards are retained for transactions with the same 

or similar recognition and measurement requirements 

to IFRS Standards. Disclosures in IFRS for SMEs 

Standards were removed where the recognition and 

measurement requirements or options in the IFRS for 

SMEs Standard are not available in full IFRS 

Standards. Where the recognition and measurement 

in full IFRS Standards were significantly different 

from those in IFRS for SMEs Standards or certain 

topics are not addressed in the IFRS for SMEs 

Standards, disclosure may be added. 
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Appendix B: Framework for developing Tier 3 reporting requirements  

Principles for the Board’s decision making 

B1 In developing AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards (which introduced 

Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements), the Board applied 

‘user needs’ and ‘cost/benefit’ considerations to identify the extent to which disclosure requirements 

applicable to Tier 1 entities should be relaxed for Tier 2. ‘User needs’ and ‘cost/benefit’ 

considerations were also implicit in the development of the simplified disclosures in AASB 1060 

General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 

2 Entities. Similarly, such considerations were also applied by the IASB to determine the less 

onerous recognition and measurement requirements of the IASB’s IFRS for SMEs. Accordingly, the 

Board similarly decided its proposals on Tier 3 accounting requirements should be developed, 

considering ‘user needs’ and ‘cost/benefit’ as overarching principles.  

B2 The Board observed that developing reporting requirements considering a set of principles helps to 

provide robustness to its decision making on this project. As part of its consideration of user needs 

and cost/benefit considerations, the Board decided to consider the following principles: 

(a) the development of Tier 3 reporting requirements is subject to the AASB’s Not-for-Profit 

Entity Standard-Setting Framework; 

(b) Tier 3 financial statements are general purpose financial statements. As such, Tier 3 

financial statements need to provide useful financial information to users of the financial 

statements; 

(c) consistency with the accounting principles specified by Tier 2: Australian Accounting 

Standards – Simplified Disclosures is desirable, but might not always be warranted, since 

Tier 3 requirements are being developed as a proportionate response to the costs incurred 

by certain entities whilst still meeting the needs of users of the financial statements for this 

cohort of entities. For example, for some topics reduced disclosures compared with 

opportunities for deviation from Tier 2 accounting principles that could give a similar outcome 

to users while reflecting an appropriate cost/benefit balance; could include disclosure 

requirements instead of a Tier 2 measurement requirement or an approach of specifying 

minimum ‘prescriptive’ disclosures;  

(d) where possible, leverage the information management uses to make decisions about the 

entity's operations. The ability to leverage informaiton management uses is made within the 

context of its Not-for-Profit Conceptual Framework and user needs and cost/benefit 

considerations, and the aim for comparablity within Tier 3 reporting requirements; and 

(e) the accounting requirement does not impose disproportionate costs to preparers, when 

compared to benefits of that information.  

B3 The Board has also formed a preliminary view that its work on the extent of Tier 3 reporting 

requirements will consider balances and transactions commonly undertaken by not-for-profit private 

sector entities with revenues between $500,000 and $3 million. Such size indication is adopted only 

for practicality reasons and, on consideration of the wide breadth in possible boundaries, provides 

the Board with an indicative boundary for identifying common transactions and forming views on 

requirements applying to Tier 3 financial statements. Consistent with the Board’s preliminary view 

described in Section 1, it is not intended that the Board will seek to identify or limit the entities that 

might prepare Tier 3 general purpose financial statements in the future.  

AASB Not-for-Profit Entity Standard-Setting Framework  

B4 The AASB Not-for-Profit Entity Standard-Setting Framework is predicated on two assumptions:  

(a) that IFRS Standards are appropriate as a base for developing Australian Accounting 

Standards; and  
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(b) that like transactions and events should be accounted for in a like manner by all types of 

entities, reflecting their economic substance, unless there is a justifiable reason not to do so.  

B5 Consequently, the Not-for-Profit Entity Standard-Setting Framework states that modifications to IFRS 

Standards requirements are justified only where necessary to address:  

(a) Australian-specific legislation, user needs or public interest issues relevant to financial 

reporting or other external reporting;  

(b) issues specific to the not-for-profit sector of such prevalence and magnitude that dealing with 

them is necessary to meet the objectives and qualitative characteristics of financial reporting 

as set out in the Australian Conceptual Framework would not be met; or  

(c) undue cost or effort considerations.  

B6 The Board considers that its preliminary views resulting in modifications to IFRS Standards 

requirements set out in this Discussion Paper are consistent with its Not-for-Profit Entity Standard-

Setting Framework because: 

(a) existing requirements impose costs or require effort by preparers that might not be 

proportionate to the entity’s significance and extent of operation;  

(b) the user needs of unsophisticated users may be better met by accounting requirements that 

may not depict economic reality as closely as Tier 1 accounting requirements, but still 

provide a relevant and faithfully representative depiction of the entity that is easier for these 

users to understand; and/or  

(c) the Board’s actions are consistent with other government red tape reduction initiatives to 

lessen the financial reporting burden for entities.  

Tier 3 general purpose financial statements 

B7 The decision that the financial statements presented in accordance with Tier 3 reporting 

requirements are general purpose financial statements has the following implications:  

(a) as the role of general purpose financial statements is to provide both information about an 

entity’s past performance as well as information that allows users to assess the entity’s 

prospects for future cash flows, Tier 3 general purpose financial statements should provide 

information to users beyond that offered by a strict historical cost/cash bookkeeping 

exercise. That is, an entity preparing financial statements that comply with Tier 3 reporting 

requirements will be required to present financial information that goes beyond a simple 

record of transactions offered by, for example, a statement of cash flows or listing of 

payables and receivables;  

(b) information that is arguably necessary to demonstrate discharge of management’s 

stewardship of an entity may be excluded from Tier 3 general purpose financial statements 

where such information is not used by users for making resource allocation decisions. Such 

information may be regarded as not being useful financial information, as the Conceptual 

Framework links useful information about management’s stewardship of the entity to its 

ability to help users in making decisions relating to providing resources to the entity.  

Consistency with Tier 2 accounting principles  

B8 The Board decided to maximise consistency with Tier 2 accounting principles where possible, 

bearing in mind its objectives in developing a third reporting tier. Minimising the extent of any 

differences across reporting tiers of classification, recognition and measurement requirements to the 

extent feasible, while also meeting the objectives of Tier 3 reporting, is important:  

(a) because various articles of legislation classify entities into groupings based on financial 

thresholds calculated in accordance with accounting standards. The Board observed it would 

be undesirable if the requirements resulted in an outcome where an entity would be 
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classified into a grouping (e.g. ‘large’) based on compliance with Tier 1 reporting 

requirements, but a different grouping (e.g. ‘small’) based on compliance with Tier 3 

reporting requirements, as this introduces uncertainty for preparers, auditors and regulators;  

(b) to facilitate the preparation of financial statements of mixed groups (e.g. not-for-profit groups 

where which the parent entity prepares consolidated Tier 1 or Tier 2 financial statements or 

for-profit consolidated entities that include a not-for-profit private sector entity subsidiary); 

and 

(c) to limit education and knowledge transfer costs.  
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Appendix C: Alternative accounting policies considered and rejected 

The table below summarises accounting policies considered and rejected by the Board, and the Board’s 

rationale for doing so. 

Topic  Accounting policy considered 

but rejected 

Rationale 

Primary financial 

statements  

The Board considered whether to 

require an entity to only present a 

statement of profit or loss instead 

of also requiring information about 

other comprehensive income.  

The Board observed entities preparing Tier 3 financial 

statements may not have items of other comprehensive 

income and that this information can be presented as part of 

another financial statement (e.g. statement of changes in 

equity) or in the notes to the financial statements. The Board 

also recognised from its initial stakeholder feedback that some 

users may not understand that other comprehensive income 

items are, in general, unrealised gains or losses. 

However, the Board considered some governing legislation 

already requires the provision of other comprehensive income 

information. Therefore, not requiring the presentation of the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

may cause confusion for preparers due to the misalignment of 

the specified financial statements and the information required 

for regulatory purposes. Requiring a statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income continues to benefit users 

who may be educated to understand what an entity's other 

comprehensive income represents.   

Presentation of 

statement of cash 

flows   

The Board considered whether to 

limit the statement of cash flows to 

the reporting of solely cash and 

overdrafts.  

The Board heard there may be diversity in practice when 

reporting cash and cash equivalents, including possible 

confusion where some entities may not associate highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash as available for use by the entity that should be included 

in the statement of cash flows.  

However, the Board considered that cash equivalents are 

largely similar to cash and should be equally reflected in the 

statement of cash flows. Transactions of cash equivalent do 

not occur regularly occur and should not be difficult to identify. 

The exclusion of cash equivalents from the statement of cash 

flows potentially misrepresents the solvency of the entity to 

users. The Board decided that the cost of departing from other 

reporting tiers would exceed the benefits.  

Presentation of 

statement of 

financial position 

and statement of 

profit or loss and 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

The Board considered whether to 

require a "checklist approach" or 

"tailoring approach" to the 

presentation of information on the 

face of the statement of financial 

position and statement of other 

comprehensive income. 

The Board considered that some smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities may benefit from more specificity of the line 

items to those required by the Tier 2 reporting requirements to 

improve consistency and comparability of the face of the 

primary financial statements. While the "checklist approach" 

and "tailoring approach" may be expected to facilitate 

consistency and comparability between entities, these 

approaches may impose more requirements and possibly 

require more information to be presented about the entity 

compared to Tier 2 reporting requirement.  

Ultimately the Board considered that entities should continue 

to be given flexibility in presenting the information on the face 

of the financial statements which better invites the entity 'tell 

their story' to communicate and discharge accountability to its 

users.  

Consolidation of 

subsidiaries 

The Board considered whether an 

entity should be permitted to 

consolidate some, but not all, its 

subsidiaries.  

The Board recognised that part of the hesitation to consolidate 

is because some not-for-profit entities consider they do not 

have ‘real’ control over another entity. Consequently, the 

parent entity is concerned that the resultant consolidated 

financial statements may provide a “misleading” view of its 

performance and financial position.  

However, the Board considered that it is conceptually 

inappropriate for an entity to be able to ‘pick and choose’ 

subsidiaries to consolidate. The Board was also not inclined to 

depart from the concept of control as widely understood under 

existing Australian Accounting Standards.  
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Topic  Accounting policy considered 

but rejected 

Rationale 

The Board observed that the concerns expressed by 

stakeholders are common across the not-for-profit sector. 

Consequently, the Board noted that the avenue for raising, and 

any address of, these concerns is as part of its Post-

Implementation Review of Appendix E of AASB 10 

Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Separate financial 

statements  

The Board considered to specify a 

single measurement rather than to 

provide an accounting policy 

choice for a parent entity that 

presents separate financial 

statements to measure its interest 

in subsidiaries at either:  

(a) cost; or 

(b) fair value through other 

comprehensive income; or 

(c) applying the equity method of 

accounting 

The Board expects that smaller not-for-profit private sector 

entities presenting separate financial statements will likely 

measure any interests in subsidiaries at cost. While specifying 

a single accounting policy for subsequent measurement of 

such interest provides clarity to preparers, the Board 

considered that restricting the accounting policy choice may 

impose a stricter requirement than currently required under 

Tier 2 reporting requirements which allow a free choice for a 

parent entity to select the measurement basis to measure its 

interest in subsidiaries.  

 

Accounting policies  The Board considered whether to 

require a voluntary change in 

accounting policies to be 

accounted for prospectively.  

The Board acknowledged that accounting for a voluntary 

change in accounting policy on a prospective basis is likely to 

more closely reflect that users and preparers may not “use” 

adjusted prior year amounts for their resource allocation 

decisions.  

However, the Board was concerned that accounting for a 

change in accounting policy prospectively would misrepresent 

the current period’s results. This could impact financing, or 

inadvertently change the extent of the entity’s reporting 

obligations through a once-off change to the entity’s revenues 

or expenses.  

Accounting errors  The Board considered whether to 

require an entity to account for an 

accounting error prospectively.  

The Board acknowledged that accounting for the error 

retrospectively may hide the error from users of the financial 

statements. However, the Board was concerned that 

accounting for the error prospectively could misrepresent the 

current period’s results, in addition to the misrepresentation in 

the period of the error.  

Financial 

instruments  

The Board considered whether to 

develop simpler Tier 3 reporting 

requirements to address all 

financial instruments.  

The Board considered that a Tier 3 stand-alone Standard 

should limit the need for an entity to consider Tier 2 reporting 

requirements as much as possible. As such, the Board 

considered it could develop Tier 3 reporting requirements to 

address all financial instruments. However, the Board 

observed the limited variety and basic nature of the financial 

instruments within the scope of AASB 9 that are expected to 

be commonly held by smaller not-for-profit private sector 

entities. Consistent with the objective of a stand-alone Tier 3 

Standard, the Board decided to only develop simpler 

requirements for basic financial instruments. Similarly, the 

Board considered that an entity that holds 'more complex' 

financial instruments should be able to apply the more complex 

accounting specified by the existing Australian Accounting 

Standards for those financial instruments. For these reasons, 

the Board decided to direct entities to apply AASB 9 for 'more 

complex' financial instruments.   

Fair value 

measurement  

The Board considered whether to 

allow other valuation bases as a 

proxy for the fair value of non-

financial assets.  

The Board considered whether to permit other current value 

measurement bases as an appropriate estimate of fair value 

such as allowing an entity to use a rateable or other 

government valuation or the recent market selling price of 

similar asset as an appropriate estimate of the fair value of 

non-financial assets.  

However, the Board decided these other valuation bases may 

not faithfully represent the assets held for financial reporting 

purposes. For example, different real estate platforms may 

have differing prices for similar property and rateable value 

may be calculated differently between states and territories. 
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Topic  Accounting policy considered 

but rejected 

Rationale 

The Board considered that ultimately an entity is not required 

to apply the revaluation model to measure non-financial 

assets.  

Investment in 

associates and 

joint ventures 

The Board considered whether to 

allow a parent entity that prepares 

only separate financial statements 

to measure interest in associates 

and joint ventures using the equity 

method of accounting. 

The Board has not heard any stakeholder concerning the 

accounting requirements for an entity's interest in its 

associates and joint ventures. Consequently, the Board 

considered it may be an appropriate proportionate response 

for the Board to continue to require the equity method in most 

instances.  

However, the Board observed it would be inconsistent to 

develop a specific requirement for a smaller not-for-profit 

private sector entity to measure its associates and joint 

ventures using the equity method of accounting in instances 

where the entity's subsidiaries are not consolidated.  

Property, plant and 

equipment and 

investment 

property  

The Board considered whether to 

not require the accounting for land 

and buildings held for use in the 

conduct of the entity's operations 

to be distinguished from an 

investment property. The Board 

also considered whether to restrict 

the subsequent measurement of 

property, plant and equipment and 

investment property using the cost 

model only.  

The Board's research and initial stakeholder feedback suggest 

that it may be less common for smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities to hold investment property. However, the Board 

considered maintaining the distinction continues to benefit 

users without the imposing significant costs to preparers.  

The Board also recognised that some overseas jurisdictions do 

not permit smaller entities to revalue their non-current assets 

and restricting the subsequent measurement approach to the 

cost model only, which is already adopted by many entities, 

may enhance comparability between entities. However, the 

Board decided to continue to permit the revaluation of these 

assets as it would appear to be a backward step for some 

smaller not-for-profit private sector entities that may already be 

revaluing their assets where fair value measurement provides 

more relevant information about the entity's financial position 

compared to depreciated historical cost.  

Non-financial 

assets acquired at 

significantly less 

than fair value 

(donated non-

financial assets) 

The Board considered whether to 

only require assets with useful 

lives of 12 months or more, and 

where the entity intends to hold 

those assets for more than 12 

months, to be initially measured at 

fair value.  

The Board considered this approach would limit the asset that 

would be captured, such as land or buildings, or motor vehicles 

that are likely to be held by the entity for a longer term. 

Therefore, limiting to those assets to be initially measured at 

fair value may provide some cost savings to preparers.  

However, such an approach may add unnecessary complexity, 

especially for smaller not-for-profit private sector entities, to 

assess whether an asset has a useful life of 12 months or 

more and the incremental cost savings may be minimal 

especially for entities that do not receive donated non-financial 

assets with useful lives of 12 months or more.  

Volunteer services The Board considered whether to 

not permit the recognition of 

volunteer services  

The Board recognised that many not-for-profit private sector 

entities may rely on volunteers to provide their services, as 

such the Board proposed retaining the optionality for Tier 3 

not-for-profit private sector entities to continue to recognise, 

but not required, volunteer services received.  

Borrowing costs The Board considered whether to 

continue to require borrowing 

costs to be capitalised for 

qualifying assets.  

Capitalising borrowing costs that are directly attributable to 

brining the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 

to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management is a more faithful representation of the substance 

of the borrowing cost as a contribution to future income 

generation.  

However, the Board is conscious that determining which 

borrowing costs to capitalise can be challenging especially 

when the borrowing facility is 'general' rather than specifically 

acquired to build a specific asset. ,The Board expects that 

most assets held by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities 

will not be regarded as a qualifying asset, the Board decided to 

instead require all borrowing costs to be expensed in the 

period incurred.  

Impairment of non-

financial assets 

The Board considered whether to: 

(a) require all non-financial 

assets or only non-current 

(a) The Board decided non-financial assets subsequently 

carried at fair value are less likely to be impaired given 

they are regularly revalued to fair value and, therefore, 
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Topic  Accounting policy considered 

but rejected 

Rationale 

non-financial assets to be 

subject to impairment testing. 

(b) require Tier 3 not-for-profit 

private sector entities to 

consider if an in-scope asset 

is impaired annually or 

periodically 

(c) develop an alternative 

approach to calculate 

recoverable amount or use a 

methodology that Tier 3 not-

for-profit private sector 

entities would consider most 

appropriate   

should not be subject to impairment testing. Having two 

different reporting requirements for current and non-

current non-financial assets may further add to 

complexity.  

(b) The Board considered the types of non-financial assets 

held by Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector entities are less 

likely to fluctuate from year to year, and therefore did not 

consider it necessary for in-scope assets to be assessed 

for impairment annually or periodically. The Board instead 

considered it to be useful to require a Tier 3 not-for-profit 

private sector entity to assess for impairment when the 

asset is damaged or a substantial change to the asset's 

service potential instead.  

(c) The Board concluded that developing an alternative 

approach or providing Tier 3 not-for-profit private sector 

entities too much flexibility may introduce unnecessary 

complexity for preparers and auditors and give rise to 

inconsistencies with the principles applied in other Tier 3 

reporting requirements.  

Leases The Board considered whether to 

require a lessee and lessor to 

measure the lease expense or 

lease income at the amount of the 

periodic payment made. 

The Board observed that this approach is straightforward to 

apply, and arguably provides users with relevant information 

as the benefits of a rental holiday or other lease incentive is 

reflected in the period the benefit is provided. However, lease 

incentives and variable lease payments are unlikely to be 

common in shorter term lease arrangements, and 

consequently, the result is likely to be the same as 

measurement on a straight-line basis.  

Noting the above, the Board thinks that the cost saving 

between the two approaches considered is unlikely to be of 

such significance that it should adopt an approach where the 

timing of lease payments may not necessarily represent the 

time pattern of the lessee’s consumption of the value of the 

leased asset. 

 

Revenue/income  The Board considered whether to:  

(a) not require the distinction for 

the accounting of inflows of 

resources;  

(b) base the distinction for the 

accounting of inflows of 

resources on the nature of 

transactions or the existence 

of documented explicit 

stipulations given by a 

transfer provider; 

(c) require a Tier 3 not-for-profit 

private sector entity to assess 

whether the common 

understanding between the 

entity and the transfer 

provider is sufficiently specific 

based on the criteria in 

AASB 15 with simplifications;  

(d) require deferral for income 

recognition only where there 

are conditions attached to the 

inflows of resources 

enforceable by the transferor.  

(a) Not requiring a distinction for the accounting of inflows of 

resources would effectively remove the need to consider 

the nature of the transaction or whether there are 

conditions attached requiring an entity to perform activities 

or incur expenditure to use the resources and removing a 

degree for judgement. However, this approach may not 

reflect that the financial reporting outcomes for the 

transferred resources are expected to be spent or use in a 

future period and accounted for differently to general 

purpose donations; 

(b) The Board considered the distinction by the nature of the 

transaction would be similar to the current approach 

applying AASB 15 and AASB 1058 which appears to be a 

two-step process. Requiring a distinction based on 

documented explicit stipulation may be complex for 

smaller not-for-profit private sector entities that lack the 

financial knowledge to apply. In addition, not many inflows 

of resources will be documented in formal agreements 

with explicitly stipulated conditions even if the entity is 

expected to spend or use the resources in the future.  

(c) While the assessment of sufficiently specific criteria helps 

an entity to identify when an obligation is satisfied, many 

smaller not-for-profit entities consider assessing the 

sufficiently specific criteria complex and challenging to 

apply. 

(d) Limiting deferral of income recognition where there are 

enforceable conditions would limit the resources required 

by smaller not-for-profit private sector entities to asses 

when to defer income. However, the Board recognised 

that determining whether enforceable conditions exist 
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Topic  Accounting policy considered 

but rejected 

Rationale 

does not reduce complexity of application. This approach 

may also result in less deferral of income which would not 

address the initial stakeholder feedback that the financial 

reporting outcomes should reflect the expectation that 

those resources will be spent or used in a future period 

regardless of whether conditions are enforceable.  

 

Employee benefits  The Board considered whether to 

treat all paid absences as non-

accumulating benefits and to 

recognise expenses when the 

absences occur. 

Such a requirement would be easier to understand and apply 

as the entity's obligations for outstanding employee benefits is 

not recognised as a liability. However, the Board considered 

that this approach would depart from the accrual principle and 

the resultant reported financial position would not provide 

users with a complete picture of the entity's commitments and 

solvency given the relative significance and occurrence of 

employee benefit balances.  
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Appendix D: Interaction with other AASB and international projects  

Efforts to reduce the reporting burden for certain Australian not-for-profit entities  

D1 In November 2021, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulations 2013 

were amended in response to recommendations from the Australian Charities and Not-for-

profits Commission Legislation Review 2018. The amendments:  

(a) raise the revenue thresholds for classifying charities as ‘small’, ‘medium’ and ‘large’. 

This impacts the entity’s reporting obligations to the ACNC; and  

(b) require charities to report information about their related party transactions. The extent 

of information required varies depending on the entity size and other circumstances.  

D2 In its discussions about the form and accounting requirements of its proposed further 

differential reporting tier, the Board considered the revised ACNC revenue thresholds. The 

ACNC ‘medium’ size band (entities with revenue of $500,000 or more and less than $3 million) 

provided the Board with a reference point for identifying transactions and balances that might 

commonly be undertaken by entities that may, in the future, be able to prepare general 

purpose financial statements that comply with its Tier 3 reporting proposals. The Board notes 

that this reference was made to help it identify matters for inclusion in an accounting standard. 

The size band does not identify the entities that are able to access the requirements or for 

whom the reporting tier might be appropriate.  

D3 The Board expects to consider the specific applicable disclosures that may form part of Tier 3 

general purpose financial statements, including information about an entity’s transactions and 

balances with related parties, only as part of a future stage of this project. The Board expects 

relevant disclosure to be informed by stakeholder feedback on its preliminary views on 

recognition and measurement. However, the Board has formed a preliminary view as to the 

disclosure approach it intends to adopt for its Tier 3 reporting requirements (see Section 6). 

Subsidiaries without public accountability  

D4 The Board noted the current IASB project considering disclosures in the financial statements 

of a subsidiary when forming its preliminary view as to its approach to developing disclosures 

in its proposed further reporting tier. That IASB project, when finalised, is expected to 

introduce requirements to permit eligible subsidiaries to apply IFRS Standards with reduced 

disclosure requirements in their financial statements.  

D5 Considering the Board’s proposed disclosure approach (refer Section 6), the IASB project is 

not expected to significantly impact this project unless it results in amendments to AASB 1060. 

Second comprehensive review of the IFRS for SMEs Accounting Standard 

D6 The IASB is presently conducting a review of the IFRS for SMEs Accounting Standard, and 

published the Exposure Draft Third edition of the IFRS for SMEs Accounting Standard in 

September 2022 as part of its second comprehensive review of the Standard. The proposals 

include amendments to align certain requirements and principles in the IFRS for SMEs with 

some, but not all, recently issued IFRS Standards.  

D7 The Board was informed by developments in the IASB project when forming its preliminary 

views set out in this Discussion Paper. The Board expects this and other AASB projects will be 

informed in the future by the amendments to the IFRS for SMEs, when finalised (for example, 

regarding estimating fair value – see Section 5). 
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International Financial Reporting for Non Profit Organisations Consultation Paper 

D8 The Board observed that the International Financial Reporting for Non Profit Organisations 

(IFR4NPO) is seeking to issue guidance for not-for-profit entity financial reporting that will be 

“relevant in different contexts and useful for a variety of readers”. While the focus of the 

IFR NPO’s work is not described as being specific to an entity’s size or the complexity of its 

transactions, but rather, on financial reporting matters relevant to not-for-profit private sector 

entities in general, the IFR4NPO guidance was initially targeted at addressing the needs of 

those not-for-profit entities with more complex operations and transactions. Nevertheless, as 

part of the development of this Discussion Paper, the Board considered issues highlighted in 

the IFR4NPO Consultation Paper.19  

D9 The Board expects this and other AASB projects will be informed in the future by continuing 

developments in the IFR4NPO project.  

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

D10 The Board has an active project on its work program for the post-implementation review of 

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities. The public consultation period of the Board’s 

post-implementation review of AASB 1058 coincides with the consultation period on this 

Discussion Paper. 

D11 A post-implementation review's purpose is to evaluate a Standard's overall effectiveness and 

efficiency in meeting its original objectives, including whether a pronouncement remains 

appropriate. It is not a reconsideration of the entire Standard. The stakeholder feedback 

gathered during 2021 on the operability of the Standard informed the Board’s post-

implementation review of AASB 1058.  

D12 The Board expects that its work on the projects may inform its decisions on Tier 3 revenue 

recognition requirements in future stages of this current Board project. However, the Board’s 

preliminary views in this Discussion Paper may not necessarily change as a consequence of 

work on the projects. 

Service performance reporting  

D13 Following its recent agenda consultation, the Board intends to restart a project on reporting 

service performance information in the second half of 2023. Considering the likely timing of 

completion of a separate project on service performance reporting, any outcomes of that 

project are unlikely to impact this current project.  

Sustainability reporting  

D14 Following its recent agenda consultation, the Board decided to add a standard-setting project 

on sustainability reporting to its 2022 – 2026 work program. Outcomes of that separate project 

are unlikely to impact this current project, but could have future implications for the extent of 

reporting required in a not-for-profit private sector entity’s general purpose financial report.  

Differential reporting framework for public sector entities  

D15 The Board’s review of the Australian financial reporting framework is being conducted in 

phases. Consequently, a project considering the appropriateness of the existing reporting 

framework for public sector entities is being conducted separately on a different timeline to the 

timeline for not-for-profit private sector entities.  

 
19  IFR4NPO (International Financial Reporting for Non-Profit Organisations) (2021), Consultation Paper, the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy, accessed January 2021.  
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D16 The Board’s deliberations contained in this Discussion Paper relate to not-for-profit private 

sector entities only. Any feedback received on this Discussion Paper relevant to the public 

sector financial reporting framework will be considered as part of the public sector project.  
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Appendix E: More information about each section of the Discussion 

Paper 

E1 Appendix E provides more information including the Board's rationale to the contents in the 

Summary and invitation to comment and Sections 1 to 5.  

Summary and Invitation to comment  

Why is the Board publishing this discussion paper? 

E2 The reporting entity concept in SAC 1 Definition of the Reporting Entity has, in certain cases, 

resulted in some inappropriate reporting outcomes, including limited comparability between 

not-for-profit private sector entities with similar economic circumstances. Alongside its other 

work, the Board is researching the pervasiveness of this concern and considering how to 

improve comparability. The International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) decision to use 

the term ‘reporting entity’ to identify the boundary of the entity for which financial statements 

are prepared in its revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting has provided the 

Board with renewed impetus to address this concern. The Board considers it necessary, for 

clarity, to have only one use of the term in Australian Accounting Standards and, therefore, it 

is necessary to stop using ‘reporting entity’ as a means of identifying which entities should 

prepare general purpose or special purpose financial statements.  

E3 In 2018, the Board published Invitation to Comment ITC 39 Applying the IASB’s Revised 

Conceptual Framework and Solving the Reporting Entity and Special Purpose Financial 

Statement Problems (May 2018). ITC 39 was intended to be a step to improving the quality of 

financial statements of both for-profit and not-for-profit entities through Board actions to extend 

the population of entities preparing general purpose financial statements. However, following 

the feedback received, the Board became aware that it might need to make different decisions 

for not-for-profit private sector entities, for-profit private sector entities and public sector 

entities. In particular, the Board was conscious that it might be necessary to develop one or 

more further reporting tiers (sets of accounting requirements) for use by not-for-profit private 

sector entities. The Board recognises that there is likely to be a larger population of smaller 

not-for-profit private sector entities that are required to prepare general purpose financial 

statements, compared to for-profit private sector entities,   

E4 This Discussion Paper is the Board’s first step in revising its differential reporting framework 

for use by not-for-profit private sector entities to improve comparability between entities. The 

primary objective of this Discussion Paper is to set out the Board’s preliminary views on key 

features of the form and content of a proposed third tier of general purpose financial 

statements, and communicate its views on the limits of its project scope.  

E5 The Discussion Paper also responds to stakeholder concerns that the existing available tiers 

of general purpose financial statements are unsuitable for some smaller entities if the Board 

removes the ability to claim compliance with Australian Accounting Standards by preparing 

special purpose financial statements. If implemented, the Board expects its preliminary views 

would improve the quality of reporting by not-for-profit private sector entities through greater 

standardisation of accounting policies and disclosures, thereby improving comparability and 

reporting transparency by these entities. The financial statements are expected to be more 

useful to their users.  

Who will be affected if the preliminary views in this Discussion Paper are implemented? 

E6 Subject to any future changes in reporting requirements by regulators, entities impacted by the 

Board’s proposals, if developed consistent with the Board’s preliminary views, include:  
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(a) ‘medium’ and some ‘large’ charities that currently lodge special purpose financial 

statements with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission to satisfy their 

regulatory reporting obligations; and 

(b) incorporated associations, co-operatives and not-for-profit companies limited by 

guarantee that are required to prepare financial statements that comply with Australian 

Accounting Standards for lodgement with the relevant federal, state or territory 

authority and which currently prepare special purpose financial statements. 

E7 The Board’s proposals may also impact some not-for-profit private sector entities preparing 

general purpose financial statements and those that gather financial information or prepare 

various financial statements in accordance with the recognition and measurement criteria 

specified by Australian Accounting Standards. These entities could be impacted because the 

proposals would introduce a further set of accounting requirements that the entity might be 

able to apply to meet its reporting obligations. 

E8 The Board’s proposals are not expected to impact entities that are not required to prepare 

financial statements that comply with Australian Accounting Standards. These entities may 

continue to prepare special purpose financial statements, for example, to acquit a specific 

regulatory requirement or acquit the application of a specific source of funds.  

How did the Board reached its preliminary views? 

E9 In reaching its preliminary views, the Board considered:  

(a) its project objectives to develop a differential reporting framework that is simple, 

proportionate, transparent and easy to understand and apply;  

(b) the views of its Not-for-Profit Project Advisory Panel members and other targeted 

stakeholders consulted during the Discussion Paper's development. These 

stakeholders include regulators of not-for-profit private sector entities, preparers, 

users, academics and audit firms; 

(c) the purpose for which the financial statements are prepared, and the users who might 

rely on those financial statements;  

(d) the extent to which ‘like’ transactions should be accounted for in the same manner 

(described as ‘transaction neutrality’); 

(e) whether, for smaller not-for-profit private sector entities, the costs of implementing Tier 

1 recognition and measurement requirements outweigh the benefits of that 

information;  

(f) whether its decisions might impose a disproportionate cost burden on not-for-profit 

private sector entities; and 

(g) whether its decisions disadvantage not-for-profit private sector entities compared to 

their international counterparts.  

E10 In reaching its preliminary views, the Board also considered relevant academic research listed 

in Appendix E and AASB research and feedback from consultations conducted during this and 

previous related Board projects, including its broader Australian Financial Reporting 

Framework project. These included:  

(a) AASB Research Report No.1 Application of the Reporting Entity Concept and 

Lodgement of Special Purpose Financial Statements (June 2014) 

(b) AASB Research Report No.5 Financial Reporting Requirements Applicable to 

Charities (October 2017); 

(c) AASB Discussion Paper Improving Financial Reporting for Australian Charities 

(November 2017) 
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(d) AASB Consultation Paper ITC 39 Applying the IASB’s Revised Conceptual 

Framework and Solving the Reporting Entity and Special Purpose Financial Statement 

Problems (May 2018) 

(e) AASB Research Report No.11 Review of Special Purpose Financial Statements: 

Large and Medium-Sized Australian Charities (September 2019); and 

(f) AASB Research Report No.16 Financial Reporting by Non-Corporate or Small Entities 

(April 2021). 

E11 When identifying the relevant matters for inclusion in this Discussion Paper, the Board 

considered what might be routine transactions, events and balances for a smaller not-for-profit 

private sector entity. In addition to feedback it hopes to receive during the public consultation 

process, the Board is presently conducting research to determine whether it has adequately 

identified the common transactions, events and balances of smaller not-for-profit private sector 

entities for specific simplified accounting requirements that may need to be developed.  

Section 1: Introduction  

Background 

E12 AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards (June 2010) is the 

Australian Accounting Standard that establishes the differential reporting framework for 

Australian reporters (described as ‘Tiers’ of reporting requirements). At the time of its issue in 

June 2010, the Board regarded it as a pragmatic and substantive response to the need to 

reduce the financial reporting burden of Australian reporting entities, but acknowledged that it 

was not a complete or final answer to that need.20  

E13 Since the issue of AASB 1053, the Board has continued to monitor developments, progress 

research and engage with stakeholders concerning various aspects of the reporting 

framework, either as part of work of its Research Centre or as part of the Board’s Australian 

Financial Reporting Framework standard-setting project. In 2016, the Board observed that 

many stakeholders providing feedback on the Board’s work program for the period 2017 – 

2019 (as part of ITC 34 AASB Agenda Consultation 2017 – 2019) recommended the Board 

continue its Australian Financial Reporting Framework project as a high priority project, and 

the project scope should consider not-for-profit entities and small-to-medium sized private 

sector entities. This feedback included suggesting the Board consider the possibility of a third 

differential reporting tier and reconsidering the criteria for classifying entities as subject to Tier 

1 or Tier 2 reporting requirements. Stakeholders also encouraged the Board to continue its 

work on reviewing the suitability of the reporting entity concept and the prevalence of special 

purpose financial statements.  

E14 Considering resource limitations and noting that recommendations arising from the 2017-2018 

review of Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC) legislation were likely to 

inform the Board’s work on the not-for-profit private sector, the Board in 2018 elected to 

progress its project in stages, beginning first with the review and revision of the Australian 

reporting framework for for-profit private sector entities. The work on for-profit private sector 

entities is now complete with the issue of AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – 

Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities (March 2020) and AASB 

2020-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Special Purpose 

Financial Statements for Certain For-Profit Private Sector Entities (March 2020). The outcome 

of that stage of the Board’s project was to require many for-profit entities required by 

legislation or their constituting document or another document to prepare financial statements 

that comply with Australian Accounting Standards to prepare general purpose financial 

statements.  

 
20  Paragraph BC20 of the Basis for Conclusions to AASB 1053. 
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E15 The current stage of the Board’s Australian Financial Reporting Framework project explores 

possible revisions to the Australian differential reporting framework for not-for-profit private 

sector entities. This is to address a concern that its existing forms of general purpose financial 

statements21 might impose, for certain not-for-profit private sector entities, disproportionate 

costs when regarded against the benefits of that information.22 The following factors 

persuaded the Board that a project is necessary to respond to that concern: 

(a) work of the Board’s Research Centre over the last decade,  

(b) developments in financial reporting, the changing reporting landscape for not-for-profit 

private sector entities; and  

(c) preliminary feedback from targeted consultation with stakeholders over several years, 

including initial feedback received during the Board’s public consultation on AASB 

Invitation to Comment ITC 39 Applying the IASB’s Revised Conceptual Framework 

and Solving the Reporting Entity and Special Purpose Financial Statement Problems 

(May 2018).  

E16 The Board observed that an outcome of its undertaking a project could be to improve the 

quality of reporting by such entities currently preparing special purpose financial statements 

through measures to facilitate the adoption of consistent accounting policies supported by the 

Australian Conceptual Framework. At the very least, the Board observed that it must consider 

and address the implications of a proposed decision to have the term ‘reporting entity’ 

consistently understood within the body of its pronouncements.23  

Objective and scope of the project  

E17 In preliminary discussions, the Board initially envisaged that this project might be broad 

ranging, leading to the development of a simple, proportionate, consistent and transparent 

reporting framework for all not-for-profit private sector entities in Australia that would include 

the following features: 

(a) a single set of reporting thresholds for all Australian not-for-profit private sector 

entities, backed by simple and objective criteria and developed in collaboration with 

the relevant regulators; 

(b) simplified recognition and measurement accounting framework(s) that are capable of 

being audited and enforced; 

(c) development of standards addressing service performance and other information 

integral to financial reporting in the not-for-profit sector on matters such as 

remuneration, fundraising, volunteer services and related parties, to the extent justified 

by evidence. 

E18 In consultation prior to deciding to progress the project, stakeholders were generally 

supportive of the Board revisiting its existing reporting framework applying to not-for-profit 

private sector entities. Stakeholders indicated a desire for: 

(a) there to be more streamlining of financial reporting obligations;  

 
21  Australian Accounting Standards presently consist of two Tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general 

purpose financial statements: Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards; and Tier 2: Australian Accounting 
Standards – Simplified Disclosures. 

22  Possible revisions to the framework for public sector entities will be considered as part of a parallel stage of the 
Australian Financial Reporting Framework project. 

23  The term ‘reporting entity’ is used in the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting in a general manner, to 
identify the boundary of the entity for which financial statements are prepared. This differs to the specific manner in 
which ‘reporting entity’ is used and understood in Australia, within the context of SAC 1 Definition of the Reporting 
Entity which adopts a concept of the reporting entity that is tied to the information needs of users and the nature of 
general purpose financial statements. A ‘SAC 1 reporting entity’ is an entity in respect of which it is reasonable to 
expect the existence of users dependent on general purpose financial reports for information which will be useful to 
them for making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of scarce resources.  
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(b) better alignment of accounting standard requirements with existing reporting 

obligations imposed by Australian regulators; 

(c) no significant incremental costs to entities; and 

(d) a reporting framework that is proportionate, simple and easy to understand, and cost 

effective.  

E19 The Board has refined the objective of its project considering regulatory developments since 

the time of the Board’s initial discussions, feedback received from its initial discussions with 

stakeholders and the Board’s consideration of its role and its views on the urgency of 

developing a revised differential reporting framework. The Board’s objective remains the 

development of a simple, proportionate, consistent and transparent financial reporting 

framework for not-for-profit private sector entities, but the scope of the project is narrower than 

initially envisaged.  

Establishing reporting thresholds 

E20 In a differential reporting environment, one of the areas creating complexity for not-for-profit 

entities is understanding their reporting obligations including identifying an appropriate form of 

financial statements to prepare. Consequently, the Board’s proposal to develop a further form 

of general purpose financial statements (Tier 3 reporting requirements) but not to develop a 

set of reporting thresholds for all Australian not-for-profit private sector entities will not resolve 

this complexity.  

E21 The Board acknowledges that some stakeholders might contend that its planned approach to 

not-for-profit private sector entities is inconsistent with the approach the Board has taken with 

respect to for-profit private sector entities (see AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian 

Accounting Standards), and does not reduce ‘red tape’ complexity for Australian reporters. 

However, in contrast to for-profit private sector entities, the Board observed that without 

coordinated timely corresponding amendment to multiple articles of legislation involving 

different regulatory bodies, the Board introducing thresholds could result in more complexity 

for the sector. The additional complexity could arise because an entity may already need to 

navigate other existing criteria to establish its reporting obligations (specified by other 

legislation), which may be different from any obligations specified by the Board. The Board is 

of the view that effort in establishing consistent reporting criteria should be led in the first 

instance by other bodies, similar to the recent efforts made to align the different state reporting 

thresholds for incorporated associations.  

E22 In forming its view not to develop a set of reporting thresholds for all Australian not-for-profit 

private sector entities, the Board also observed that identifying appropriate objective criteria, 

whether quantitative or qualitative, for separating Australian entities into three ‘tiers’ in a 

meaningful manner is likely to be challenging considering the broad range of activities 

undertaken by the sector and the economic disparity in different parts of Australia. As such, 

extending the project scope would further delay the finalisation of proposals that are expected 

to improve the quality of reporting by the sector. Regarding feedback received on as part of its 

2022 – 2026 agenda consultation, the Board directed its attention to improving accounting in 

other areas.  

E23 When the Board commenced its research into understanding the reporting environment for 

not-for-profit entities, it identified that one area in which reporting could be made simpler for 

entities is by providing a clear specification of their reporting requirements. The Board 

observed that various actions have subsequently been taken, with further efforts underway, to 

reduce the reporting burden and complexity for various not-for-profit entities, including 

removing some of the duplication in requirements to prepare financial statements.  

E24 Presently, not-for-profit private sector entities have access to two Tiers of reporting 

requirements for general purpose financial statements. AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of 
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Australian Accounting Standards specifies that a not-for-profit private sector entity preparing 

general purpose financial statements must comply with Tier 2 reporting requirements at a 

minimum, which has reduced disclosure requirements compared with Tier 1. As part of 

revising its differential reporting framework, the Board considered whether and how it should 

amend such requirements. The Board’s preliminary view is to develop a third reporting tier that 

would specify certain recognition and measurement departures from Tier 1 and Tier 2 

reporting requirements.  

E25 The Board considered various approaches it could take, including: 

(a) being silent as to the reporting Tier an entity preparing general purpose financial 

statements complies with;  

(b) specifying a default reporting Tier for all not-for-profit private sector entities; allowing 

entities to comply with a different reporting Tier only as permitted or required by a 

relevant regulatory body or by members; and 

(c) specifying the reporting tier that a not-for-profit private sector entity must, at a 

minimum, comply with, if the entity is preparing financial statements that are held out 

to be general purpose financial statements. 

E26 The last approach (specification of reporting tiers) is the most consistent with the Board’s past 

practice, whereby the Board has in effect specified the minimum reporting Tier for types of 

entities. This approach is consistent with the view that, as the differential information needs of 

the users of different types of entities are relevant to identifying ‘useful information’ in each 

reporting tier, it appears reasonable for the Board to also identify which entities it intends the 

reporting requirements of a particular tier to, at a minimum, apply to. By so doing, this could be 

expected to minimise situations where an entity’s prepared general purpose financial 

statements do not meet the needs of users of those financial statements.  

E27 In contrast, the other identified approaches put the onus on the respective legislation, 

legislative authority and regulator, or members and those charged with governance, to 

determine the extent of reporting required, rather than the AASB. These approaches reflect 

the view that the body requiring the preparation of financial statements should be the body 

specifying the extent of information required. In its deliberations, the Board observed that, to 

the extent duplicated financial reporting obligations have not yet been removed, and a not-for-

profit private sector entity has reporting obligations to more than one regulatory body, taking 

one of these approaches could arguably add another layer of reporting complexity for the 

entity. Also, the second approach described above (specifying a default reporting tier), beyond 

creating ‘red tape’ for entities, may result in ‘similar’ entities applying different reporting 

requirements (either within or across jurisdictions), reducing the comparability of the financial 

statements those entities prepare.  

E28 As described in paragraph 1.4, the Board ultimately formed a view that the project scope 

would not include specifying reporting thresholds for the application of general purpose 

financial statements by not-for-profit private sector entities (i.e. to adopt the first approach 

(being silent)).  

Service Performance Information  

E29 In reaching its preliminary view, the Board considered whether simplified financial statements 

could be viewed as providing adequate information to users of the financial statements for 

decision making in the absence of accompanying information about the entity’s service 

performance. The Board is strongly of the view that information about a not-for-profit entity’s 

service performance is critical to understanding how efficiently and effectively a not-for-profit 

private sector entity’s management has discharged its responsibilities to use the entity’s 

economic resources. Hence, the Board intends to continue to progress a separate project on 

developing requirements on service performance reporting for application by not-for-profit 
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entities preparing general purpose financial statements that follow Australian Accounting 

Standards. The Board intends to continue to consider the role of performance reporting in 

meeting the needs of users of not-for-profit general purpose financial statements, and the 

Board may develop further proposals in the future. The outcome of that project may be that 

different service performance information is needed for each reporting tier. 

Section 2: Extending the differential reporting framework for not-for-profit private 

sector entities 

Main concerns with existing reporting requirements 

E30 The Board observed that it specifically considered whether to develop further reporting 

requirements for not-for-profit entities as part of developing AASB 1053, to acknowledge the 

large not-for-profit entity population required to prepare financial statements. Paragraphs 

BC22 to BC2  from the Basis of Conclusions to AASB 1053 summarised the Board’s 

conclusions:  

 “BC22 The Board considered whether a third tier of reporting requirements for general purpose 

financial statements should be introduced to provide simpler financial reporting 

requirements for smaller not-for-profit entities since those entities might find the 

adoption of Tier 2 requirements overly burdensome on cost-benefit grounds. The Board 

noted that many [not-for-profit] entities in the private sector are established as 

companies limited by guarantee under the Corporations Act or as associations under 

relevant Incorporated Associations Acts in each State and Territory. Moreover, many 

non-trading cooperatives are regulated by State or Territory Acts. Considering this 

legislation, the Board noted that a reason for contemplating the need for a third tier was 

that there is generally no [not-for-profit] equivalent to the outright exemption from 

reporting that exists for small proprietary companies … 

 BC23 The Board noted that while there is some support from constituents for creating a third 

tier, there are different views about the requirements of such a tier and the way entities 

applying those requirements should be identified. The Board also considered the 

proposals for reporting relief in the Discussion Paper published by the Australian 

Government in June 2007 titled Financial Reporting by Unlisted Public Companies in 

relation to the creation of a third tier of reporting requirements for companies limited by 

guarantee. 

 BC24 The Board decided not to introduce a third tier of reporting requirements on the basis 

that: 

 (a)  the Government intended to alleviate the reporting burden of small companies 

limited by guarantee through amendments to the Corporations Act; and 

 (b)  Tier 2 requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements would help 

reduce the disclosure burden of [not-for-profit] entities significantly.” 

E31 However, various developments, and further research conducted by the AASB, following the 

issue of AASB 1053 have since caused the Board to revisit its conclusions as to whether there 

is a need for further differential reporting for not-for-profit private sector entities. These 

developments include:  

(a) the Board’s desire to resolve the inconsistency between use of ‘reporting entity’ in the 

IASB’s Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (revised 2018) and SAC 1 

Definition of the Reporting Entity (refer paragraph 1.14(a)), which may require the 

Board to ‘fill the gap’ if it were to act to limit the ability of entities to prepare special 

purpose financial statements. Without further Board intervention, the consequential 

impact of such Board action is that more not-for-profit entities would be required to 

prepare general purpose financial statements that comply with Tier 2 reporting 

requirements; 
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(b) the issue of several accounting standards since 2010, including AASB 9 Financial 

Instruments, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 16 Leases;  

(c) the Australian and New Zealand governments announced their commitment to explore 

a long-term vision for a seamless trans-Tasman business environment of a Single 

Economic Market, including, that as a medium-term goal, not-for-profit entities would 

be able to use a single set of accounting standards and prepare only one set of 

financial statements to satisfy reporting requirements in both jurisdictions; and 

(d) the introduction by the New Zealand External Reporting Board of a four-tier differential 

reporting framework for New Zealand not-for-profit public benefit entities.  

E32 Further, the Board observed that a sizable percentage of not-for-profit private sector entities 

continue to lodge special purpose financial statements with the Australian Charities and Not-

for-profits Commission rather than Tier 2 general purpose financial statements. This finding 

suggests to the Board that Tier 2 reporting requirements either do not currently meet the 

needs of users or are too complex to apply. The Board considered that developing proposals 

that simplify existing AASB accounting requirements for smaller entities may facilitate entities 

in preparing general purpose financial statements in the future, thereby improving public 

regard for the overall quality of financial reporting in this sector.  

Section 5: Accounting requirements 

E33 The Board considered the accounting requirements applying to smaller not-for-profit private 

sector entities in several other jurisdictions. The selected other jurisdictions were considered 

on the basis of the international pronouncements compared in the AASB Staff Paper: 

Comparison of Standards for Smaller Entities and requirements in other jurisdictions that were 

reviewed in the AASB Research Report 5 Financial Reporting Requirements Applicable to 

Charities in consideration of the different approaches that already exist for particular areas of 

financial reporting for the purpose of developing the Tier 3 reporting requirements. The 

selected jurisdictions include: the IFRS for SMEs, United Kingdom FRS 102 The Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, United Kingdom FRS 105 

The Financial Reporting Standard applicable to the Micro-entities Regime, United Kingdom 

Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting for Charities, Hong Kong 

Small and Medium-sized Entity Financial Reporting Framework and Financial Reporting 

Standard, New Zealand Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-

Profit) (New Zealand Tier 3 reporting requirements) and Canadian Accounting Standards for 

Not-for-Profit Organisations in Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook, Singapore (Charities 

Accounting Standard), United States Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 

Standards Codification Topic 958. 
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